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PART I
 
Item 1.        Business

Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company,” “Cooper Standard,” “we,” “our” or “us”) is a leading
manufacturer of sealing, fuel and brake delivery, fluid transfer and anti-vibration systems. Our products are primarily for use in passenger vehicles and light
trucks that are manufactured by global automotive original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and replacement markets. We conduct substantially all of our
activities through our subsidiaries.

Cooper Standard is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “CPS.” The Company has approximately 32,000
employees, including over 5,000 contingent workers, with 124 facilities in 20 countries. The Company is dedicated to four product lines. Based on this
focused approach, we believe we are the largest global producer of sealing systems, the second largest global producer of the types of fuel and brake delivery
products that we manufacture, the third largest global producer of fluid transfer systems, and one of the largest North American producers of anti-vibration
systems. We design and manufacture our products in each major region of the world through a disciplined and sustained approach to engineering and
operational excellence. We operate in 92 manufacturing locations and 32 design, engineering, administrative and logistics locations.

The Company has four operating segments: North America, Europe, Asia Pacific and South America. This operating structure allows us to offer our
full portfolio of products and support our regional and global customers with complete engineering and manufacturing expertise in all major regions of the
world. We have ongoing operational restructuring and expansion initiatives to improve competitiveness, primarily related to footprint optimization in
Europe and expansion in Asia. See “Segment Results of Operations” under Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and Note 22. “Business Segments” to our consolidated financial statements included under Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) for further information on our segments.

Approximately 85% of our sales in 2017 were to OEMs, including Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), General Motors Company (“GM”), Fiat Chrysler
Automobiles (“FCA”), PSA Peugeot Citroën, Volkswagen Group, Daimler, Renault-Nissan, BMW, Toyota, Volvo, Jaguar/Land Rover, Honda and various
other OEMs based in India and China. The remaining 15% of our 2017 sales were primarily to Tier I and Tier II automotive suppliers, non-automotive
manufacturers, and replacement market distributors. The Company’s products can be found on over 450 nameplates globally.

Corporate History and Business Developments

Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. was established in 2004 as a Delaware corporation and began operating on December 23, 2004 when it acquired the
automotive segment of Cooper Tire & Rubber Company (the “2004 Acquisition”). Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. operates the business primarily through its
principal operating subsidiary, Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. (“CSA U.S.”). Since the 2004 Acquisition, the Company has expanded and diversified its
customer base through a combination of organic growth and strategic acquisitions.

In August 2009, following the onset of the financial crisis and economic downturn that severely impacted the global automotive industry, Cooper-
Standard Holdings Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the United States and Canada commenced reorganization proceedings in the United States (the
“Chapter 11 proceedings”) and Canada. In May 2010, the Company consummated its reorganization pursuant to a court-confirmed plan of reorganization
and emerged from the Chapter 11 proceedings and the Canadian proceedings.

From 2006 to 2013, the Company accelerated its growth through a number of strategic acquisitions including the Fluid Handling Systems Operations
in North America, Europe and China (collectively, “FHS”) from ITT Industries, Inc.; Metzeler Automotive Profile Systems; a hose manufacturing operation in
Mexico from the Gates Corporation; USi, Inc.; the sealing business of Sigit S.p.A.; a joint venture with Fonds de Modernisation des Equipementiers
Automobiles (“FMEA”); and Jyco Sealing Technology.

We continued strategic acquisitions and partnerships in 2014 and 2015 with the acquisition of Cikautxo Borja, S.L.U. in Spain, a manufacturer of
heating and cooling hoses; the purchase of an additional 47.5% of Huayu-Cooper Standard Sealing Systems Co. (“Shenya”), increasing our equity ownership
to 95% and positioning the Company as a leader in sealing systems in the Chinese automotive market; the formation of a joint venture with Polyrub
Extrusions (India) Private Limited to grow the Company’s fluid transfer systems business in Asia; and a joint venture with INOAC Corporation of Japan
accelerating our fluid transfer systems strategy in Asia. In 2016, we acquired the North American fuel and brake business of AMI Industries to expand
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the Company’s fuel and brake business. We also gained control of our China-based joint venture, Shenya Sealing (Guangzhou) Company Limited. In 2017,
the Company agreed to purchase the China fuel and brake business of AMI Industries, which was finalized in the first quarter of 2018.

In 2014 and 2015, the Company divested its thermal and emissions product line and hard coat plastic exterior trim business, respectively, to focus on
the product lines where Cooper Standard holds leading market positions.

Business Strategy

In 2013, we set a clear vision for achieving profitable growth with a mission to become a Top 30 automotive supplier in terms of sales and Top 5 in
ROIC (return on invested capital).

In 2016, the leadership team refined this vision: Driving Value Through Culture, Innovation and Results to more closely represent the evolution of
the Company’s culture and to provide the basis for delivering even greater value. The global leadership team also reshaped the supporting pillars in 2016 to
align with the progress of the Company. These pillars are:

Voice of the Customer:
We design and develop our products to meet the current and future needs of our customers. We listen
intently and adjust to customer feedback to ensure we are consistently providing customer-focused
products while meeting their evolving needs. Cooper Standard is dedicated to serving its global
customers and the automotive industry as a whole.

  

Superior Products:
With a focus on core products, we provide customers with market-leading solutions with predicable
quality that meet or exceed expectations in sealing, fuel and brake delivery, fluid transfer and anti-
vibration systems.

  

World-Class Operations:
We are committed to sustained excellence through the Cooper Standard Operating System (“CSOS”),
the Company’s playbook of global best practice tools designed for optimization that are driving
Cooper Standard’s global success.

  

Engaged Employees:
Our employees are the foundation of the Company and the key driver of our success. Committed to
excellence and driven to succeed, our employees never lose sight of the Company’s overall vision and
strategy.

Cooper Standard’s global alignment around these strategic pillars continues to drive further value in many areas of the business, including:

Operational and Strategic Initiatives

As part of Cooper Standard’s world-class operations, the Company implemented the CSOS to fully position the Company for growth and ensure
global consistency in engineering design, program management, manufacturing process, purchasing and IT systems. Standardization across all regions is
especially critical in support of customers’ global platforms that require the same design, quality and delivery standards everywhere across the world.

CSOS consists of the following areas, with a strategic focus that aligns with the Company’s growth strategy:

CSOS Function Strategic Focus
World-Class Safety Implement globally consistent measurement system with zero incidents goal.
World-Class Operations Optimize global performance by implementing best business practices across the organization.
Continuous Improvement Implement lean manufacturing tools across all facilities to achieve cost savings and increased performance.
Global Purchasing Develop strategic supply base to effectively leverage scale and optimize supplier quality.
Innovation Management Focused innovation processes to create breakthrough technologies for market differentiation.
Global Program Management Ensure consistent and flawless product launch process across all regions.
Product Engineering Ensure global best practice tools are utilized to design optimized products and processes.
IT Systems Implement common systems to effectively communicate information throughout the business.
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As part of its world-class operations, Cooper Standard operates Global Councils focused on information technology, engineering, innovation,
commercial and manufacturing initiatives. These councils allow Cooper Standard to better leverage the scale of the Company while also identifying best
practices and transferring them around the world.

Leverage Technology and Material Science for Innovative Solutions 

We utilize our technical and material science expertise to provide customers with innovative solutions. Our engineers combine product design with a
broad understanding of material science for enhanced vehicle performance. We believe our reputation for successful innovation in product design and
materials is the reason our customers consult us early in their vehicle development and design process of their next generation vehicles.

Cooper Standard has evolved and further energized its approach to innovation with its i3 Innovation Process (Imagine, Initiate, Innovate). This
approach is used as a mechanism to capture ideas from across our Company and supply partners while promoting a culture of innovation. Ideas are carefully
evaluated by a global technology council and those that are selected are put on an accelerated development cycle with a dedicated innovation team focused
on breakthrough ideas. This team is developing game-changing technologies based on materials expertise, process know-how, and application vision, which
may drive future product direction. In fact, our culture of innovation enables Cooper Standard to innovate in areas of the vehicle that haven’t been touched in
decades. These breakthrough innovations have resulted in over $450 million in booked sales in the last two years. With a continuous stream of new ideas
flowing through our pipeline, we see our ability to bring breakthrough innovations to market as a clear and sustainable advantage and a value driver for our
stakeholders.

Among recently announced technologies is Fortrex™, a revolutionary material that provides higher performance and lower weight to weather seals.
Fortrex™ was named a 2018 PACE finalist with final judging expected to conclude in April of 2018. Several other significant technologies, especially
related to advanced materials, processing and weight reduction, have recently been realized. These include: MagAlloy™, a new processing technology for
brake lines that increases long term durability through superior corrosion resistance; and ArmorHose™, a breakthrough technology which results in
significantly more durable coolant hoses and eliminates the need for separate abrasion sleeves on under-hood hose assemblies.

Pursue Acquisitions and Alliances to Enhance Capabilities and Accelerate Growth

We intend to continue to selectively pursue complementary acquisitions and joint ventures to enhance our customer base, geographic penetration,
scale and technology. Consolidation is an industry trend and is encouraged by the OEM’s desire for global automotive suppliers. We believe we have a
strong platform for growth through acquisitions based on our past integration successes, experienced management team, global presence and operational
excellence. Further, our operations currently include several successful joint ventures.

Industry

The automotive industry is one of the world’s largest and most competitive. Consumer demand for new vehicles largely determines sales and
production volumes of global OEMs. The business and industrial environment in each region also plays a role in vehicle demand as it relates to fleet vehicle
sales and industrial use vehicles such as light and heavy trucks.

OEMs compete for market share in a variety of ways including pricing and incentives, the development of new, more attractive models, branding and
advertising, and the ability to customize vehicle features and options to meet specific customer needs or demands. They rely heavily on thousands of
specialized suppliers to provide the many distinct components and systems that comprise the modern vehicle. They also rely on these automotive suppliers
to develop technological innovations that will help them meet consumer demands as well as regulatory requirements.

The automotive supplier industry is generally characterized by high barriers to entry, significant start-up costs and long-standing customer
relationships. But it is also a highly competitive industry. The criteria by which OEMs judge automotive suppliers include quality, price, service,
performance, design and engineering capabilities, innovation, timely delivery, financial stability and global footprint. Over the last decade, suppliers that
have been able to achieve manufacturing scale globally, reduce structural costs, diversify their customer base and provide innovative, value-added
technologies have been the most successful.

The technology of today’s vehicles is evolving rapidly. The evolution is being driven by many factors including consumer values and social
behaviors, a competitive drive for differentiation, regulatory requirements and safety. Adapting new non-automotive technologies for automotive
applications is also an important factor. Examples include but are not limited to wireless communications and connectivity, computers and data mining,
artificial intelligence, autonomy and mobility, among others. While these types of technical innovations are garnering a lot of attention, and deservedly so,
there are opportunities to add value through innovation in virtually all categories of automotive components and systems. Cooper Standard is continuing to
focus on innovations for our customers that reduce weight, increase life-cycle and durability, reduce interior noise, enhance
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exterior appearance and simplify the manufacturing and assembly process. These are innovations that can be applicable and valuable to virtually any vehicle
or vehicle manufacturer.

Markets Served

Our core business is focused on the passenger car and light truck market, up to and including Class 3 full-size, full-frame trucks, better known as the
light vehicle market. This is our largest market and accounts for approximately 97% of our global sales.

Adjacent Markets

In addition to the global light vehicle market, we also have dedicated sales and engineering teams in North America and Europe to leverage core
product technology into near adjacent markets to profitably grow Cooper Standard through our Industrial and Specialty Group and in non-automotive
markets.

With a focus on industry segments such as commercial trucks, agricultural equipment and construction, we see an addressable market of over $2
billion and an opportunity to further diversify our revenue and profit base. Some of our traditional products, as well as our innovative technologies are very
well suited to these markets. We believe these market segments represent near-term opportunities for high margin growth.

Further, we have implemented a strategy to leverage some of our material science in adjacent non-automotive markets through licensing agreements
or the sale of material compounds. The initial focus of this business model is our Fortrex™ material technology. Fortrex™ is highly adaptable and we believe
it has the potential to add significant value in many product categories and industries beyond the automotive industry. This adjacent market business is new.
In 2017 we signed one license agreement with a partner in Japan. Sales under this agreement are expected to begin in the third quarter of 2018. We expect to
make further investments in this business in 2018 to accelerate its roll-out and development. We also expect to conclude negotiations with a number of
potential new licensee/partners in 2018.

Customers

We are a leading supplier to the following OEMs and are increasing our presence with major OEMs throughout the world. The following charts show
the approximate percentage of sales to our top customers for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Our other customers include OEMs such as Daimler, Renault-Nissan, BMW, Toyota, Volvo, Jaguar/Land Rover, Honda and various other OEMs based
in India and China. Our business with any given customer is typically split among several contracts for different parts on a number of platforms.

Segment Information

See Note 22. “Business Segments” to the consolidated financial statements for segment information.
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Products

We have four distinct product lines. These products are produced and supplied globally to a broad range of customers in multiple markets. In addition
to these product lines, we also have sales to other adjacent markets. The percentage of sales by product line and other markets for the years ended December
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
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Product Lines        Market Position
SEALING SYSTEMS

 
Protect vehicle interiors from weather, dust and noise intrusion for improved driving experience;
provide aesthetic and functional class-A exterior surface treatment  

Global leader

  Products:     
  – Fortrex™ – Stainless steel trim   
  – Dynamic seals – Flush glass systems   
  – Static seals – Variable extrusion   
  – Encapsulated glass – Specialty sealing products   
      
FUEL & BRAKE
DELIVERY SYSTEMS

 Sense, deliver and control fluids to fuel and brake systems  Top 2 globally
 Products:     

  
– Chassis and tank fuel lines and bundles (fuel

lines, vapor lines and bundles)
– Direct injection & port fuel rails (fuel rails

and fuel charging assemblies)   

  
– Metallic brake lines and bundles – MagAlloy tube coatings

  

  
– Quick connects – Gen III Posi-Lock Quick Connects

  
      
FLUID TRANSFER
SYSTEMS  

Sense, deliver and control fluid and vapors for optimal powertrain & HVAC operation
 

Top 3 globally

  Products:     
  – Heater/coolant hoses – Turbo charger hoses   
  – Quick connects – Secondary air hoses   
  – DPF and SCR emission lines – Brake and clutch hoses   
  – Degas tanks – ArmorHose™   
  – Air intake and charge – ArmorHose™ TPV   
  – Transmission Oil Cooling Hoses     
      
Product Lines        Market Position
ANTI-VIBRATION
SYSTEMS  

Control and isolate vibration and noise in the vehicle to improve ride and
handling  

North America Leader

  Products:     

  

– Powertrain Mount Systems: Multi-state Vacuum Switchable Hydraulic Engine Mounts, Bi-
state Electric Switchable Hydraulic Engine Mounts, Conventional Hydraulic Mounts,
Elastomeric Mount   

  

– Chassis Suspension Components: Conventional & Hydraulic  Body Mounts & Bushings,
Strut Mounts, Spring Seats & Bumpers, Mass Dampers, Dual Durometer (Bi-compound)
Bushings

  

Competition

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our industry are quality, price, service, performance, design and engineering capabilities,
innovation, timely delivery, financial stability and global footprint. We believe that our capabilities in these core competencies are integral to our position as
a market leader in each of our product lines. Our sealing systems products compete with Toyoda Gosei, Hutchinson, Henniges and Standard Profil, among
others. Our fuel and brake delivery products compete with TI Automotive, Sanoh, Martinrea and Maruyasu. Our fluid transfer products compete with Conti-
Tech, Hutchinson, Teklas, Tristone and MGI Coutier (including Avon Automotive). Our anti-vibration systems compete with Vibracoustic, Hutchinson,
Tokai Rubber, Bridgestone and ContiTech.



Joint Ventures and Strategic Alliances

Joint ventures represent an important part of our business, both operationally and strategically. We have utilized joint ventures to enter into and
expand in geographic markets such as China, India and Thailand, to acquire new customers and to develop new technologies. When entering new geographic
markets, teaming with a local partner can reduce capital investment by leveraging pre-existing infrastructure. In addition, local partners in these markets can
provide knowledge and insight into local practices and access to local suppliers of raw materials and components.

The following table shows our significant unconsolidated joint ventures:

Country   Name   Ownership Percentage  
India   Sujan Cooper Standard AVS Private Limited   50%
United States   Nishikawa Cooper LLC   40%
India  Polyrub Cooper Standard FTS Private Limited  35%
Thailand   Nishikawa Tachaplalert Cooper Ltd.   20%

Research and Development

We have a dedicated team of technical and engineering resources in each region, some of which are located at our customers’ facilities. We utilize
Design for Six Sigma and other methodologies that emphasize manufacturability and quality. Our development teams work closely with our customers to
design and deliver innovative solutions. We continue to add technical resources throughout the world as required to support our customers, including new or
updated facilities in Qingpu, China; Torreon, Mexico; and Livonia, Michigan in 2017. We spent $128.0 million, $117.8 million, and $108.8 million in
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, on engineering, research and development.

Intellectual Property

We believe that one of our key competitive advantages is our ability to translate customer needs and our game-changing ideas into innovation
through the development of intellectual property. We hold a significant number of patents and trademarks worldwide.

Our patents are grouped into two major categories: (1) specific product invention claims and (2) specific manufacturing processes that are used for
producing products. The vast majority of our patents fall within the product invention category. We consider these patents to be of value and seek to protect
our rights throughout the world against infringement. While in the aggregate these patents are important to our business, we do not believe that the loss or
expiration of any one patent would materially affect our Company. We continue to seek patent protection for our new products and have an incentive
program to recognize employees whose inventions are patented. Additionally, we develop significant technologies that we treat as trade
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secrets and choose not to disclose to the public through the patent process, but which nonetheless provide significant competitive advantages and contribute
to our global leadership position in various markets. We believe that our trademarks, including ArmorHose™, Ultra Pro Coat™, MagAlloy™ and Fortrex™,
help differentiate us and lead customers to seek our partnership.

We also have technology sharing and licensing agreements with various third parties, including Nishikawa Rubber Company, one of our joint
venture partners in sealing products. We have mutual agreements with Nishikawa Rubber Company for sales, marketing and engineering services on certain
sealing products. Under those agreements, each party pays for services provided by the other and royalties on certain products for which the other party
provides design or development services.

Supplies and Raw Materials
Cooper Standard is committed to building strong relationships with our supply partners. We recognize the importance of engaging with suppliers to

create value for our customers.

The principal raw materials for our business include synthetic and natural rubber, components manufactured from carbon steel, plastic resins and
components, carbon black, process oils and components manufactured from aluminum. We manage the procurement of our raw materials to assure supply and
to obtain the most favorable total cost. Procurement arrangements include short-term and long-term supply agreements that may contain formula-based
pricing based on commodity indices. These arrangements provide quantities needed to satisfy normal manufacturing demands. We believe we have adequate
sources for the supply of raw materials and components for our products with suppliers located around the world. We often use offshore suppliers for
machined components, die castings and other labor-intensive, economically freighted products in our North American and European facilities.

Raw material prices are subject to fluctuations and we have implemented strategies with both our suppliers and our customers to help manage these
fluctuations. These actions include material substitutions and leveraging global purchases. Global supply chain optimization includes using benchmarks and
selective sourcing from strategic suppliers. We have also made process improvements to ensure the efficient use of materials through scrap reduction, as well
as standardization of material specifications to maximize leverage over higher volume purchases. With some customers, on certain raw materials, we have
implemented indices that allow price changes as underlying material costs fluctuate.

Geographic Information
See Note 22. “Business Segments” to the consolidated financial statements for geographic information.

Seasonality
Our principal operations are directly related to the automotive industry. Sales to OEMs are lowest during the months prior to model changeovers or

during assembly plant shutdowns. Automotive production is traditionally reduced during July, August and year-end holidays and our quarterly results may
reflect these trends. However, economic conditions and consumer demand may change the traditional seasonality of the industry.

Backlog
Our OEM sales are generally based upon purchase orders issued by the OEMs, with updated releases for volume adjustments. As such, we typically do

not have a backlog of orders at any point in time. Once selected to supply products for a particular platform, we typically supply those products for the
platform life, which is normally three to five years, although there is no guarantee that this will occur. In addition, when we are the incumbent supplier to a
given platform, we believe we have a competitive advantage in winning the redesign or replacement platform, although there is no guarantee that this will
occur.

Employees
As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 32,000 employees, including over 5,000 contingent workers. We maintain good relations with both

our union and non-union employees, and, in the past ten years, have not experienced any major work stoppages. We have renegotiated some of our domestic
and non-domestic union agreements in 2017, and have several contracts set to expire in the next twelve months.

Community Involvement
Supported by the Cooper Standard Foundation, our employees are highly engaged in their local communities. The Foundation’s mission is to

strengthen the communities in which Cooper Standard employees work and live through the passionate support of children’s charities, education, health and
wellness, and community revitalization. The Cooper Standard Foundation is a 501(c)(3) organization with oversight by our Philanthropic Committee and
Board of Trustees. For more
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information on the Company’s community involvement, please visit our Corporate Responsibility Report located on the Cooper Standard website.

Environmental
Cooper Standard considers itself a steward of the environment and we monitor the environmental impact of our business and products. We prioritize

our environmental management as a means of driving and sustaining excellence. We are subject to a broad range of federal, state, and local environmental
and occupational safety and health laws and regulations in the United States and other countries, including regulations governing: emissions to air,
discharges to water, noise and odor emissions; the generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment, reclamation and disposal of chemicals and waste
materials; the cleanup of contaminated properties; and human health and safety. We have made, and will continue to make, expenditures to comply with
environmental requirements. While our costs to defend and settle known claims arising under environmental laws are not currently estimated to be material,
such costs may be material in the future. Further details regarding our commitments and contingencies are provided in Note 21. “Contingent Liabilities.”

Market Data
Some market data and other statistical information used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K is based on data from independent firms such as

IHS Automotive and Boston Consulting Group. Other data is based on good faith estimates, which are derived from our review of internal analyses, as well as
third party sources. Although we believe these third party sources are reliable, we have not independently verified the information and cannot guarantee its
accuracy and completeness. To the extent that we have been unable to obtain information from third party sources, we have expressed our belief on the basis
of our own internal analyses of our products and capabilities in comparison to our competitors.

Available Information
We make available free of charge on our website (www.cooperstandard.com) our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,

Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our reports filed with the SEC also may be found on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Neither the information on our
website nor the information on the SEC’s website is incorporated by reference into this Report unless expressly noted.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of U.S. federal securities laws, and we intend that such
forward-looking statements be subject to the safe harbor created thereby. Our use of words “estimate,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,”
“believe,” “forecast,” or future or conditional verbs, such as “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” or “may,” and variations of such words or similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are based upon our current expectations and various assumptions. Our
expectations, beliefs, and projections are expressed in good faith and we believe there is a reasonable basis for them. However, we cannot assure you that
these expectations, beliefs and projections will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to
significant risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or achievements to be materially different from the future results or
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Among other items, such factors may include: prolonged or material contractions in
automotive sales and production volumes; our inability to realize sales represented by awarded business; escalating pricing pressures; loss of large customers
or significant platforms; our ability to successfully compete in the automotive parts industry; availability and increasing volatility in costs of manufactured
components and raw materials; disruption in our supply base; possible variability of our working capital requirements; risks associated with our international
operations; foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; our ability to control the operations of our joint ventures for our sole benefit; our substantial amount
of indebtedness; our ability to obtain adequate financing sources in the future; operating and financial restrictions imposed on us under our debt instruments;
the underfunding of our pension plans; significant changes in discount rates and the actual return on pension assets; effectiveness of continuous
improvement programs and other cost savings plans; manufacturing facility closings or consolidation; our ability to execute new program launches; our
ability to meet customers’ needs for new and improved products; the possibility that our acquisitions and divestitures may not be successful; product
liability, warranty and recall claims brought against us; laws and regulations, including environmental, health and safety laws and regulations; legal
proceedings, claims or investigations against us; work stoppages or other labor disruptions; the ability of our intellectual property to withstand legal
challenges; cyber-attacks or other disruptions in our information technology systems; the possible volatility of our annual effective tax rate; changes in our
assumptions used for evaluation of deemed repatriation tax and the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, including as a result of IRS
issuing guidance on Tax Cuts and Jobs Act that may change our
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assumptions; the possibility of future impairment charges to our goodwill and long-lived assets; and our dependence on our subsidiaries for cash to satisfy
our obligations.

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or otherwise revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except where we are expressly required to do so by law.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains estimates and other information that is based on industry publications, surveys and forecasts. This
information involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of the information.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors
We have listed below (not necessarily in order of importance or probability of occurrence) the most significant risk factors that could cause our

actual results to vary materially from recent or anticipated results and could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

We are highly dependent on the automotive industry. A prolonged or material contraction in automotive sales and production volumes could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Automotive sales and production are cyclical and depend on, among other things, general economic conditions and consumer spending, vehicle
demand and preferences (which can be affected by a number of factors, including fuel costs, employment levels and the availability of consumer financing).
As the volume of automotive production fluctuates, the demand for our products also fluctuates. Prolonged or material contraction in automotive sales and
production volumes could cause our customers to reduce orders of our products, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We may not realize sales represented by awarded business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

The realization of future sales from awarded business is subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in the cyclicality of vehicle production. In addition,
our customers generally have the right to resource awarded business without penalty. Therefore, the ultimate amount of our sales are not guaranteed. If actual
production orders from our customers are not consistent with the projections we use in calculating the amount of awarded business, we could realize
substantially less sales and profit over the life of these awards than currently projected.

Escalating pricing pressures may adversely affect our business.
Pricing pressure in the automotive supply industry has been substantial and is likely to continue. Nearly all vehicle manufacturers seek price

reductions in both the initial bidding process and during the term of the contract. Price reductions have adversely impacted our sales and profit margins and
are expected to do so in the future. If we are not able to offset continued price reductions through improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures,
those price reductions may have a negative impact on our financial condition.

Our business could be adversely affected if we lose any of our largest customers or significant platforms.
While we provide parts to virtually every major global OEM for use on a wide range of different platforms, sales to our three largest customers, Ford,

GM and FCA, on a worldwide basis represented approximately 58% of our sales for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our ability to reduce the risks
inherent in certain concentrations of business will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to diversify our sales on a customer, product, platform and
geographic basis. Although business with each customer is typically split among numerous contracts, the loss of a major customer, significant reduction in
purchases of our products by such customer, or any discontinuance or resourcing of a significant platform could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

We operate in a highly competitive industry and efforts by our competitors to gain market share could adversely affect our financial performance.
The automotive parts industry is highly competitive. We face numerous competitors in each of our product lines. In general, there are three or more

significant competitors and numerous smaller competitors for most of the products we offer. We also face competition for certain of our products from
suppliers producing in lower-cost regions such as Asia and Eastern
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Europe. Our competitors’ efforts to grow market share could exert downward pressure on the pricing of our products and our margins.

Increases in the costs, or reduced availability, of raw materials and manufactured components may adversely affect our profitability.
Raw material costs can be volatile. The principal raw materials we purchase include synthetic rubber, components manufactured from carbon steel,

plastic resins and components, carbon black, process oils, components manufactured from aluminum and natural rubber. Raw materials are the largest
component of our costs, representing approximately 51% of our total cost of products sold in 2017. The availability of raw materials and manufactured
components can fluctuate due to factors beyond our control. A significant increase in the price of these items, or a restriction in their availability, could
materially increase our operating costs and adversely affect our profitability because it is generally difficult to pass through these increased costs to our
customers.

Disruptions in the supply chain could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We obtain components and other products and services from numerous suppliers and other vendors throughout the world. We are responsible for

managing our supply chain, including suppliers that may be the sole sources of products that we require, that our customers direct us to use or that have
unique capabilities that would make it difficult and/or expensive to re-source. In certain instances, entire industries may experience short-term capacity
constraints. Any significant disruption in supply could adversely affect our financial performance. Furthermore, unfavorable economic or industry conditions
could result in financial distress within our supply base, thereby increasing the risk of supply disruption. Although market conditions generally have
improved in recent years, uncertainty remains, and another economic downturn or other unfavorable industry conditions in one or more of the regions in
which we operate could cause a supply disruption and thereby adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

If a customer experiences a material supply shortage, either directly or as a result of a supply shortage at another supplier, that customer may halt or
limit the purchase of our products, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Entering new markets poses new competitive threats and commercial risks.  
We have commenced an implementation of our strategy to leverage our core products in adjacent markets and license our innovation technology in

non-automotive markets. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in leveraging our existing products and technology into new markets and thus, in
meeting the needs of these new customers and competing favorably in these new markets.

Our working capital requirements may negatively affect our liquidity and capital resources.
Our working capital requirements can vary significantly, depending in part on the level, variability and timing of our customers’ worldwide vehicle

production and the payment terms with our customers and suppliers. If our working capital needs exceed our cash provided by operating activities, we would
look to our cash balances and availability under our borrowing arrangements to satisfy those needs, as well as potential sources of additional capital, which
may not be available on satisfactory terms and in adequate amounts, if at all.

We are subject to other risks associated with our international operations.
We have significant manufacturing operations outside the United States, including joint ventures and other alliances. Our operations are located in

20 countries, and we export to several other countries. In 2017, approximately 76% of our sales were attributable to products manufactured outside the
United States. Risks inherent in our international operations include:

• currency exchange rate fluctuations, currency controls and restrictions, and the ability to hedge currencies;
• changes in local economic conditions;
• repatriation restrictions or requirements, including tax increases on remittances and other payments by our foreign subsidiaries;
• global sovereign fiscal uncertainty and hyperinflation in certain foreign countries;
• changes in laws and regulations, including laws or policies governing the terms of foreign trade, and in particular increased trade restrictions, tariffs,

or taxes or the imposition of embargoes on imports from countries where we manufacture products;
• exposure to possible expropriation or other government actions; and
• exposure to local political or social unrest including resultant acts of war, terrorism, or similar events.
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Expanding our sales and manufacturing operations in the Asia Pacific region, particularly in China, is an integral part of our strategy, and, as a result,
our exposure to the risks described above is substantial. The occurrence of any of these risks may adversely affect the results of operations and financial
condition of our international operations and our business as a whole.

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations could materially impact our operating results.
Our sales and manufacturing operations outside the United States expose us to currency risks. For our consolidated financial statements, our sales and

earnings denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars. This translation is calculated based on average exchange rates during the
reporting period. Accordingly, our reported international sales and earnings could be adversely impacted in periods of a strengthening U.S. dollar.

Although we generally produce in the same geographic region as our products are sold, we also produce in countries that predominately sell in
another currency. Further, some of our commodities are purchased in or tied to the U.S. dollar; therefore our earnings could be adversely impacted during the
periods of a strengthening U.S. dollar relative to other foreign currencies. While we employ financial instruments to hedge certain portions of our foreign
currency exposures, our efforts to manage these risks may not be successful and may not completely insulate us from the effects of currency fluctuation.

A portion of our operations are conducted by joint ventures which have unique risks.
Certain of our operations are carried out by joint ventures. In joint ventures, we share the management of the company with one or more partners who

may not have the same goals, resources or priorities as we do. The operations of our joint ventures are subject to agreements with our partners, which typically
include additional organizational formalities as well as requirements to share information and decision making, and may also limit our ability to sell our
interest. Additional risks include one or more partners failing to satisfy contractual obligations, a change in ownership of any of our partners and our limited
ability to control our partners’ compliance with applicable laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Any such occurrences could adversely affect
our financial condition, operating results, cash flow or reputation.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and our ability to obtain financing in
the future and to react to changes in our business.

For discussion of our debt and financing arrangements, including our senior term loan facility (“Term Loan Facility”), 5.625% Senior Notes due 2026
(“Senior Notes”), our senior asset-based revolving credit facility (“ABL Facility”) and debt of certain foreign subsidiaries, see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources - Financing Arrangements” in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

Our significant amount of debt and our debt service obligations could limit our ability to satisfy our obligations, limit our ability to operate our
business and impair our competitive position. For example, it could:

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and general industry conditions, including interest rate fluctuations, because a portion of our
borrowings are at variable rates of interest;

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our debt, which would reduce the availability of cash to
fund working capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate purposes;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;
• place us at a disadvantage compared to competitors that may have proportionately less debt;
• limit our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing due to applicable financial and restrictive covenants in our debt agreements; and
• increase our cost of borrowing.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt or to refinance these obligations depends on our financial condition, operating performance and
our ability to generate cash in the future. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to
reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, sell material assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may not be able to effect any of these
actions, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our ability to restructure or refinance our indebtedness will depend on the condition of the
capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more
onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of existing or future debt instruments, including the credit agreements
governing the Term Loan Facility and the ABL Facility and the indenture governing the Senior Notes, may limit or prevent us from taking any of these
actions. In addition, any failure to make scheduled payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness would likely result in a reduction of
our credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our inability to generate
sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations, or to refinance or restructure our obligations on
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commercially reasonable terms or at all, would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our business, financial condition and results of operations,
as well as on our ability to satisfy our obligations in respect of the Term Loan Facility, the Senior Notes or the ABL Facility.

Although the credit agreements governing the Term Loan Facility and the ABL Facility contain certain limitations on our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, they do not prohibit us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness as defined therein. To the extent that we incur additional
indebtedness or such other obligations, the risk associated with our substantial indebtedness described above, including our potential inability to service our
debt, will increase.

Our debt instruments impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries.
The credit agreements governing the Term Loan Facility and the ABL Facility impose significant operating and financial restrictions and limit our

ability, among other things, to:
• incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness (including guarantees thereof);
• pay dividends or certain other distributions on our capital stock or repurchase our capital stock or prepay subordinated indebtedness;
• incur liens on assets;
• make certain investments or other restricted payments;
• allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to us;
• engage in transactions with affiliates;
• alter the business that we conduct; and
• sell certain assets or merge or consolidate with or into other companies.

Moreover, our ABL Facility provides the agent considerable discretion to impose reserves, which could materially reduce the amount of borrowings
that would otherwise be available to us.

The indenture governing the Senior Notes also imposes restrictions and limits our ability, among other things, to:
• incur liens on assets;
• make certain restricted payments;
• sell certain assets or merge or consolidate with or into other companies; and
• enter into certain sale-leaseback transactions.

As a result of these covenants and restrictions (including borrowing base availability), we are limited in how we conduct our business, and we may be
unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities or acquisitions. The terms of
any future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure that we will be able to maintain compliance with these
covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lenders and/or amend the covenants in such agreements. Our
failure to comply with the restrictive covenants described above as well as others contained in our future debt instruments from time to time could result in an
event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could result in our being required to repay these borrowings before their due date. If we are forced to refinance
these borrowings on less favorable terms, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

If there were an event of default under any of the agreements relating to our outstanding indebtedness, the holders of the defaulted debt could cause
all amounts outstanding with respect to that debt to be due and payable immediately. Our assets or cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings
under our outstanding debt instruments if accelerated upon an event of default. Further, if we are unable to repay, refinance or restructure our indebtedness
under our secured debt, the holders of such debt could proceed against the collateral securing that indebtedness. In addition, any event of default or
declaration of acceleration under one debt instrument could also result in an event of default under one or more of our other debt instruments. As a result, any
default by us on our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

Our pension plans are currently underfunded, and we may have to make cash contributions to the plans, reducing the cash available for our business.
We sponsor various pension plans worldwide that are underfunded and will require cash contributions. Additionally, if the performance of the assets

in our pension plans does not meet our expectations, or if other actuarial assumptions are modified, our required contributions may be higher than we expect.
As of December 31, 2017, our pension plans were underfunded by $185.1 million. If our cash flow from operations is insufficient to fund our worldwide
pension liabilities, it could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Significant changes in discount rates, the actual return on pension assets and other factors could adversely affect our liquidity, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impacted by the amount of income or expense recorded related to our pension plans. Generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) require that income or expense related to the pension plans be calculated at the annual
measurement date using actuarial calculations, which reflect certain assumptions. Because these assumptions have fluctuated and will continue to fluctuate
in response to changing market conditions, the amount of gains or losses that will be recognized in subsequent periods, the impact on the funded status of the
pension plans and the future minimum required contributions, if any, could adversely affect our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition.

The benefits of our continuous improvement program and other cost savings plans may not be fully realized.
Our operations strategy includes continuous improvement programs and implementation of lean manufacturing tools across all facilities to achieve

cost savings and increased performance. Further, we have and may continue to initiate restructuring actions designed to improve future profitability and
competitiveness. The cost savings that we anticipate from these initiatives may not be achieved on schedule or at the level we anticipate. If we are unable to
realize these anticipated savings, our operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We may incur significant costs related to manufacturing facility closings or consolidation which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.
If we must close or consolidate manufacturing locations, the exit costs associated with such closures or consolidation, including employee

termination costs, may be significant. Such costs could negatively affect our cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

Our inability to effectively manage the timing, quality and costs of new program launches could adversely affect our financial performance.
In connection with the award of new business, we may obligate ourselves to deliver new products that are subject to our customers’ timing,

performance and quality standards. Given the number and complexity of new program launches, we may experience difficulties managing product quality,
timeliness and associated costs. In addition, new program launches require a significant ramp up of costs. However, our sales related to these new programs
generally are dependent upon the timing and success of our customers’ introduction of new vehicles. Our inability to effectively manage the timing, quality
and costs of these new program launches could adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Our success depends in part on our development of improved products, and our efforts may fail to meet the needs of customers on a timely or cost-effective
basis.

Our continued success depends on our ability to maintain advanced technological capabilities and knowledge necessary to adapt to changing market
demands, as well as to develop and commercialize innovative products. We may be unable to develop new products successfully or to keep pace with
technological developments by our competitors and the industry in general. In addition, we may develop specific technologies and capabilities in
anticipation of customers’ demands for new innovations and technologies. If such demand does not materialize, we may be unable to recover the costs
incurred in such programs. If we are unable to recover these costs or if any such programs do not progress as expected, our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

Any acquisitions or divestitures we make may be unsuccessful, may take longer than anticipated or may negatively impact our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may pursue acquisitions or divestitures in the future as part of our strategy. Acquisitions and divestitures involve numerous risks, including
identifying attractive target acquisitions, undisclosed risks affecting the target, difficulties integrating acquired businesses, the assumption of unknown
liabilities, potential adverse effects on existing customer or supplier relationships, and the diversion of management’s attention from day-to-day business. We
may not have, or be able to raise on acceptable terms, sufficient financial resources to make acquisitions. Our ability to make investments may also be limited
by the terms of our existing or future financing arrangements. Any acquisitions or divestitures we pursue may not be successful or prove to be beneficial to
our operations and cash flow.

We may incur material losses and costs as a result of product liability and warranty and recall claims that may be brought against us.
We may be exposed to product liability and warranty claims in the event that our products actually or allegedly fail to perform as expected or the use

of our products results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or property damage.
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Accordingly, we could experience material warranty or product liability expenses in the future and incur significant costs to defend against these claims. In
addition, if any of our products are, or are alleged to be, defective, we may be required to participate in a recall of that product if the defect or the alleged
defect relates to automotive safety. Product recalls could cause us to incur material costs and could harm our reputation or cause us to lose customers,
particularly if any such recall causes customers to question the safety or reliability of our products. Also, while we possess considerable historical warranty
and recall data with respect to the products we currently produce, we do not have such data relating to new products, assembly programs or technologies,
including any new fuel and emissions technology and systems being brought into production, to allow us to accurately estimate future warranty or recall
costs. 

In addition, the increased focus on systems integration platforms utilizing fuel and emissions technology with more sophisticated components from
multiple sources could result in an increased risk of component warranty costs over which we have little or no control and for which we may be subject to an
increasing share of liability to the extent any of the other component suppliers are in financial distress or are otherwise incapable of fulfilling their warranty
or product recall obligations. Our costs associated with providing product warranties and responding to product recall claims could be material, and we do
not have insurance covering product recalls. Product liability, warranty and recall costs may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We may be adversely affected by laws and regulations, including environmental, health and safety laws and regulations.
We are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S. laws and regulations, including those related to environmental, health and safety,

financial, tax, customs and other matters. We cannot predict the substance or impact of pending or future legislation or regulations, or the application thereof.
The introduction of new laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations, or the interpretations thereof, could increase the costs of doing
business for us or our customers or suppliers or restrict our actions and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In particular, we are subject to a broad range of laws and regulations governing emissions to air; discharges to water; noise and odor emissions; the
generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment, reclamation and disposal of chemicals and waste materials; the cleanup of contaminated properties;
and health and safety. We may incur substantial costs in complying with these laws and regulations. Many of our current and former facilities have been
subject to certain environmental investigations and remediation activities, and we maintain environmental reserves for certain of these sites. Through various
acquisitions, we have acquired a number of manufacturing facilities, and we cannot assure that we will not incur material costs or liabilities relating to
activities that predate our ownership. Material future expenditures may be necessary if compliance standards change or material unknown conditions that
require remediation are discovered. Environmental laws could also restrict our ability to expand our facilities or could require us to acquire costly equipment
or to incur other significant expenses. If we fail to comply with present and future environmental laws and regulations, we could be subject to future
liabilities, which could adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We are involved from time to time in legal proceedings, claims or investigations which could have an adverse impact on our profitability and financial
condition.

We are involved in legal proceedings, claims or investigations that, from time to time, may be significant. These matters typically arise in the normal
course of business including, without limitation, commercial or contractual disputes, including warranty claims and other disputes with customers and
suppliers; intellectual property matters; personal injury claims; environmental issues; tax matters; employment matters; or allegations relating to legal
compliance by us or our employees.

For further information regarding our legal matters, see Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.” No assurance can be given that such proceedings, claims and
investigations will not have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition.

Work stoppages or similar difficulties could disrupt our operations and negatively affect our operations and financial performance.
We may be subject to work stoppages and may be affected by other labor disputes. A number of our collective bargaining agreements expire in any

given year. There is no certainty that we will be successful in negotiating new agreements with these unions that extend beyond the current expiration dates
or that these new agreements will be on terms as favorable to us as past labor agreements. Failure to renew these agreements when they expire or to establish
new collective bargaining agreements on terms acceptable to us and the unions could result in work stoppages or other labor disruptions which may have an
adverse effect on our operations, customer relationships and financial results. Additionally, a work stoppage at one or more of our suppliers or our customers’
suppliers could adversely affect our operations if an alternative source of supply were not readily available. Work stoppages by our customers’ employees
could result in reduced demand for our products and could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, it is possible that our workforce will become
more unionized in the future. Unionization activities could increase our costs, which could negatively affect our profitability.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property or if a third party challenges our intellectual property rights, our business could be adversely affected.
We own or have rights to proprietary technology that is important to our business. We rely on intellectual property laws, patents, trademarks and trade

secrets to protect such technology. Such protections, however, vary among the countries in which we market and sell our products, and as a result, we may be
unable to prevent third parties from using our intellectual property without authorization. Any infringement or misappropriation of our technology could
have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. We also face exposure to claims by others for infringement of intellectual property rights and
could incur significant costs or losses related to such claims. In addition, many of our supply agreements require us to indemnify our customers from third-
party infringement claims. These claims, regardless of their merit or resolution, are frequently costly to prosecute, defend or settle and divert the efforts and
attention of our management and employees. If any such claim were to result in an adverse outcome, we could be required to take actions which may include:
ceasing the manufacture, use or sale of the infringing products; paying substantial damages to third parties, including to customers to compensate them for
the discontinued use of a product or to replace infringing technology with non-infringing technology; or expending significant resources to develop or
license non-infringing products, any of which could adversely affect our operations, business and financial condition.

A disruption in, or the inability to successfully implement upgrades to, our information technology systems, including disruptions relating to cybersecurity,
could adversely affect our business and financial performance.

We rely upon information technology networks, systems and processes to manage and support our business. We have implemented a number of
procedures and practices designed to protect against breaches or failures of our systems. Despite the security measures that we have implemented, including
those measures to prevent cyber-attacks, our systems could be breached or damaged by computer viruses or unauthorized physical or electronic access. A
breach of our information technology systems could result in theft of our intellectual property, disruption to business or unauthorized access to customer or
personal information. Such a breach could adversely impact our operations and/or our reputation and may cause us to incur significant time and expense to
cure or remediate the breach.

Further, we continually update and expand our information technology systems to enable us to more efficiently run our business. If these systems are
not implemented successfully, our operations and business could be disrupted and our ability to report accurate and timely financial results could be
adversely effected.

Our expected annual effective tax rate could be volatile and could materially change as a result of changes in many items including mix of earnings, debt
and capital structure and other factors.

Many items could impact our effective tax rate including changes in our debt and capital structure, mix of earnings and many other factors. Our
overall effective tax rate is based upon the consolidated tax expense as a percentage of consolidated earnings before tax. However, tax expenses and benefits
are not recognized on a consolidated or global basis, but rather on a jurisdictional, legal entity basis. Further, certain jurisdictions in which we operate
generate losses where no current financial statement tax benefit is realized. In addition, certain jurisdictions have statutory rates greater than or less than the
United States statutory rate. As such, changes in the mix and source of earnings between jurisdictions could have a significant impact on our overall effective
tax rate in future years. Changes in rules related to accounting for income taxes, changes in tax laws and rates or adverse outcomes from tax audits that occur
regularly in any of our jurisdictions could also have a significant impact on our overall effective tax rate in future periods.

Impairment charges relating to our goodwill, long-lived assets or intangible assets could adversely affect our results of operations.
We regularly monitor our goodwill, long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment indicators. In conducting our goodwill impairment testing,

we compare the fair value of each of our reporting units to the related net book value. In conducting our impairment analysis of long-lived and intangible
assets, we compare the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the long-lived or intangible assets to the related net book values. Changes in
economic or operating conditions impacting our estimates and assumptions could result in the impairment of our goodwill, long-lived assets or intangible
assets. In the event that we determine that our goodwill, long-lived assets or intangible assets are impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge
to earnings, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We operate as a holding company and depend on our subsidiaries for cash to satisfy the obligations of the holding company.
     Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. is a holding company. Our subsidiaries conduct all of our operations and own substantially all of our assets. Our cash flow
and our ability to meet our obligations depend on the cash flow of our subsidiaries. In addition, the payment of funds in the form of dividends, intercompany
payments, tax sharing payments and otherwise may be subject to restrictions under the laws of the countries of incorporation of our subsidiaries or their
governing documents.
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Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2.        Properties
As of December 31, 2017, our operations were conducted through 124 wholly-owned, leased and joint venture facilities in 20 countries (North

America: Canada, Mexico, United States; Asia Pacific: China, India, Japan, South Korea, Thailand; Europe: Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy,
Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom; South America: Brazil), of which 92 are predominantly manufacturing facilities and
32 have design, engineering, administrative or logistics designation(s). Our corporate headquarters are located in Novi, Michigan. Our manufacturing
facilities are located in North America, Europe, Asia and South America. We believe that substantially all of our properties are in generally good condition
and there is sufficient capacity to meet current and projected manufacturing, product development and logistics requirements. The following table
summarizes our key property holdings:

Segment  Type  Total Facilities*  Owned Facilities
North America  Manufacturing (a)  33  27
  Other (b)  14  —
Asia Pacific  Manufacturing (a)  31  10
  Other (b)  5  —
Europe  Manufacturing (a)  25  17
  Other (b)  12  2
South America  Manufacturing (a)  3  1
  Other (b)  1  —

(a) Includes multi-activity sites which are predominantly manufacturing.
(b) Includes design, engineering, administrative and logistics locations.
(*) Excludes 8 unutilized facilities: (3) Europe; (5) North America
(*) Includes 20 R&D facilities worldwide.

Item 3.        Legal Proceedings
The litigation process is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable with assurance. See Note 21.

“Contingent Liabilities” to the consolidated financial statements for discussion of loss contingencies.

On March 30, 2016, a putative class action complaint alleging conspiracy to fix the price of body sealing products used in automobiles and other
light-duty vehicles was filed in Ontario against numerous automotive suppliers, including Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., CSA U.S. and Cooper-Standard
Automotive Canada Limited (“CS Defendants”) and Nishikawa Cooper LLC, a joint venture in which the Company holds a 40% interest. Plaintiffs purport to
be indirect purchasers of body sealing products supplied by the CS Defendants and/or the other defendants during the relevant period. The plaintiffs seek
recovery of damages on behalf of direct and indirect purchasers against all defendants in an amount to be determined, punitive damages, as well as pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest and related costs and expenses of the litigation. The Company believes the claims asserted against the CS Defendants
are without merit and intends to vigorously defend against these claims. Further, the Company does not believe that there is a material loss that is probable
and reasonably estimable related to these claims.

Item 4.        Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
 
Item 5.        Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has been traded on the NYSE since October 17, 2013 under the symbol “CPS” and our warrants had been traded on the OTC
Bulletin Board since June 4, 2010, under the symbol “COSHW.” Our warrants expired on November 27, 2017.

The following chart lists the high and low sale prices for shares of our common stock and warrants for the fiscal quarters indicated for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016. With respect to our warrants, these prices are between dealers and do not include retail markups, markdowns or other fees and
commissions and may not represent actual transactions:

  Common Stock  Warrants  
2017  High       Low       High       Low       

March 31, 2017  $ 118.10  $ 102.66  $ 88.50  $ 77.00  
June 30, 2017  114.30  97.44  83.63  83.63  
September 30, 2017  116.98  98.42  80.00  73.00  
December 31, 2017  126.74  110.06  94.00 (1) 84.00 (1) 

(1) Warrants expired on November 27, 2017. Prices reflect the period October 1, 2017 through November 27, 2017.

  Common Stock  Warrants
2016  High       Low       High       Low      

March 31, 2016  $ 77.60  $ 64.31  $ 46.00  $ 36.25
June 30, 2016  85.99  71.46  62.29  50.50
September 30, 2016  107.41  77.04  76.75  58.25
December 31, 2016  105.54  86.33  77.50  65.00

Holders of Common Stock
As of February 9, 2018, there were approximately 10 holders of record of our common stock. This stockholder figure does not include a substantially

greater number of holders whose shares are held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividends
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. has never paid or declared a dividend on its common stock. The declaration of any prospective dividends is at the

discretion of the Board of Directors and would be dependent upon sufficient earnings, capital requirements, financial position, general economic conditions,
state law requirements and other relevant factors. Additionally, our credit agreements governing our ABL Facility, Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes
contain covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to pay certain dividends and distributions subject to certain qualifications and limitations. See
“Financing Arrangements” under Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Report. We do
not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Securities Repurchase Program
In March 2016, our Board of Directors approved a securities repurchase program (the “Program”) authorizing us to repurchase, in the aggregate, up to

$125 million of our outstanding common stock or warrants to purchase common stock. Under the Program, repurchases may be made on the open market or
through private transactions, as determined by our management and in accordance with prevailing market conditions and federal securities laws and
regulations. We expect to fund any future repurchases from cash on hand and future cash flows from operations. We are not obligated to acquire a particular
amount of securities, and the Program may be discontinued at any time at the Company’s discretion. As of December 31, 2017, we have approximately $45.3
million of repurchase authorization remaining under the Program.
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A summary of shares of our common stock repurchased during the three months ended December 31, 2017 is shown below:

Period  
Total Number of

Shares Purchased(1)  
Average Price Paid per

Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs  

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet be Purchased
Under the Program (in

millions)

October 1, 2017 through October 31, 2017  72,436  $ 113.73  72,429  $ 61.5
November 1, 2017 through November 30, 2017  70,278  $ 119.59  69,300  $ 53.2
December 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017  66,000  $ 120.57  66,000  $ 45.3
Total  208,714  $ 117.87  207,729  $ 45.3
(1) Includes 985 shares repurchased by the Company to satisfy employee tax withholding requirements due upon the vesting of restricted stock awards.

Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return for Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. to the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the

Standard & Poor’s Supercomposite Auto Parts & Equipment Index based on currently available data. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on
December 28, 2012 and reflects the cumulative total return on that investment, including the reinvestment of all dividends where applicable, through
December 31, 2017.

Comparison of Cumulative Return

  Ticker  12/28/2012*  12/31/2013  12/31/2014  12/31/2015  12/30/2016*  12/29/2017*

Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.  CPS  $ 100.00  $ 129.24  $ 152.32  $ 204.18  $ 272.05  $ 322.37
S&P 500  SPX  $ 100.00  $ 132.37  $ 150.04  $ 151.78  $ 169.72  $ 206.10
S&P Supercomposite Auto Parts &
Equipment Index  S15AUTP  $ 100.00  $ 167.87  $ 173.29  $ 161.68  $ 170.65  $ 224.00

* Represents last trading day of the year
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Item 6.        Selected Financial Data
The selected financial data for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our consolidated financial

statements, which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. You should read the following data in
conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013
 (Dollar amounts in millions except per share amounts)
Statement of operations data:          
Sales $ 3,618.1  $ 3,472.9  $ 3,342.8  $ 3,244.0  $ 3,090.5
Net income 138.6  140.4  111.8  45.5  45.2
Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 135.3  139.0  111.9  42.8  47.9
Earnings per share:          
Basic $ 7.61  $ 7.96  $ 6.50  $ 2.56  $ 2.39
Diluted $ 7.21  $ 7.42  $ 6.08  $ 2.39  $ 2.24

          
 As of December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

 (Dollar amounts in millions)
Balance sheet data (at end of period):          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 516.0  $ 480.1  $ 378.2  $ 267.3  $ 184.4

Net working capital (1) 118.8  90.2  175.3  294.3  269.1
Total assets 2,725.6  2,491.7  2,304.3  2,125.6  2,102.8
Total non-current liabilities 1,043.6  1,010.6  1,008.1  1,044.9  911.9

Total debt (2) 758.2  762.9  777.9  778.7  684.4
Total equity 855.1  721.8  614.8  548.7  615.6

          Statement of cash flows data:          
Net cash provided by (used in):          

   Operating activities $ 313.5  $ 363.7  $ 270.4  $ 171.0  $ 133.3
   Investing activities (200.6)  (198.3)  (166.4)  (157.4)  (191.1)
   Financing activities (75.5)  (62.9)  (11.6)  49.4  (23.0)

          Other financial data:          
Capital expenditures, including other intangible assets $ 186.8  $ 164.4  $ 166.3  $ 192.1  $ 183.3
(1) Net working capital is defined as current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) less current liabilities (excluding debt payable within one year).
(2) Includes $393.7 of our Senior Notes, $330.8 of Term Loan, $1.9 in capital leases, and $31.8 of other third-party debt as of December 31, 2017.
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Item 7.        Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist in understanding and assessing the

trends and significant changes in our results of operations and financial condition. Our historical results may not indicate, and should not be relied upon
as an indication of, our future performance. Our forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events, are based on assumptions and
are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by these statements.
See Item 1. “Business—Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of risks associated with reliance on forward-looking statements. Factors that may
cause differences between actual results and those contemplated by forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and in
Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Item 6.
“Selected Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report.

Executive Overview

Our Business

We design, manufacture and sell sealing, fuel and brake delivery, fluid transfer and anti-vibration systems for use in passenger vehicles and light
trucks manufactured by global OEMs. In 2017, approximately 85% of our sales consisted of original equipment sold directly to OEMs for installation on new
vehicles. The remaining 15% of our sales were primarily to Tier I and Tier II suppliers and non-automotive manufacturers. Accordingly, sales of our products
are directly affected by the annual vehicle production of OEMs and, in particular, the production levels of the vehicles for which we provide specific parts.
Most of our products are custom designed and engineered for a specific vehicle platform. Our sales and product development personnel frequently work
directly with the OEMs’ engineering departments in the design and development of our various products.

Although each OEM may emphasize different requirements as the primary criteria for judging its suppliers, we believe success as an automotive
supplier generally requires outstanding performance with respect to quality, price, service, performance, design and engineering capabilities, innovation,
timely delivery and an extensive global footprint. Also, we believe our continued commitment to invest in global common processes is an important factor in
servicing global customers with the same quality and consistency of product wherever we produce in the world. This is especially important when supplying
products for global platforms.

In addition, to remain competitive and offset continued customer pricing pressure, we must also consistently achieve and sustain cost savings. In an
ongoing effort to reduce our cost structure, we run a global continuous improvement program which includes training for our employees, as well as
implementation of lean tools, structured problem solving, best business practices, standardized processes and change management. We also evaluate
opportunities to consolidate facilities and to relocate certain operations to lower cost countries. We believe we will continue to be successful in our efforts to
improve our design and engineering capability and manufacturing processes while achieving cost savings, including through our continuous improvement
initiatives.

Our OEM sales are generally based upon purchase orders issued by the OEMs, with updated releases for volume adjustments. As such, we typically do
not have a backlog of orders at any point in time. Once selected to supply products for a particular platform, we typically supply those products for the
platform life, which is normally three to five years, although there is no guarantee that this will occur. In addition, when we are the incumbent supplier to a
given platform, we believe we have a competitive advantage in winning the redesign or replacement platform.

In 2017, approximately 52% of our sales were generated in North America. Because of our significant international operations, we are subject to the
risks associated with doing business in other countries, such as currency volatility, high interest and inflation rates, and the general political and economic
risk that are associated with some of these markets.

Recent Trends and Conditions

General Economic Conditions and Outlook

The global automotive industry is susceptible to uncertain economic conditions that could adversely impact new vehicle demand. Business conditions
may vary significantly from period to period or region to region.

In North America, the U.S. economy grew modestly in 2017. Recent tax reforms could provide incremental stimulus to drive economic growth even
higher in 2018. Modest economic growth is also expected to continue in Canada and Mexico in
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2018. The mix of vehicles produced and sold in the region continues to shift away from passenger cars in favor of crossover utility vehicles and light trucks.

In Europe, the continuing economic recovery is driving increased demand for light vehicles. Certain countries within the European region are faced
with an uncertain and potentially volatile geopolitical climate, which could impact consumer confidence and economic growth. Economic growth within
this region is expected to continue modestly in 2018.

The Chinese government continues to manage the nation’s economy with a goal of sustaining growth. The growth target for 2018 is approximately
6.5%. Overall economic growth, consumer preferences and an expanding middle class in China continue to drive crossover utility vehicle demand higher,
while demand for passenger cars is expected to decline slightly year-over-year following the discontinuation of tax incentives that favored smaller vehicles.

The Brazilian economy experienced a modest recovery in 2017, with even stronger growth forecasted in 2018. Based on this, our near-term outlook for
South America is positive. We remain cautious for the mid to long-term outlook, however, given the long history of political instability and economic
volatility in the region.

Production Levels

Our business is directly affected by the automotive vehicle production rates in North America, Europe, Asia Pacific and South America. New vehicle
demand is driven by macroeconomic and other factors, such as interest rates, manufacturer and dealer sales incentives, fuel prices, consumer confidence,
employment levels, income growth trends and government and tax incentives. The industry could face uncertainties that may adversely impact consumer
demand for vehicles as well as the future production environment.

According to the forecasting firm IHS Markit, global light vehicle production was approximately 95 million units in 2017. This reflects growth of
approximately 2% globally.

Details on light vehicle production in certain regions for 2017 and 2016, as well as projections for 2018, are provided in the following table:

(In millions of units) 2018(1)  2017(1)  2016(1)  
Projected % Change

2017-2018  % Change 2016-2017
North America 17.4  17.1  17.8  1.7%  (4.0)%
Europe 22.6  22.2  21.5  1.9%  3.2 %
Asia Pacific(2) 50.2  49.9  48.7  0.7%  2.4 %
South America 3.7  3.3  2.7  13.6%  20.0 %
(1) Production data based on IHS Automotive, January 2018.
(2) Includes Greater China units of 28.1, 27.9, and 27.4 for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

We expect vehicle production to surpass 100 million units by 2020, with the growth being driven primarily in Asia. We anticipate that light vehicle
production in North America and Europe will remain relatively stable over the next few years. In South America, we anticipate light vehicle production to be
relatively strong in the near-term, but we remain cautious due to potential geo-political instability in the region.

Industry Overview

Competition in the automotive supplier industry is intense and has increased in recent years as OEMs have demonstrated a preference for stronger
relationships with fewer suppliers. Because of a growing emphasis on global vehicle platforms, automotive suppliers with a global manufacturing footprint
capable of fully servicing customers around the world will typically have a competitive advantage over smaller, regional competitors. This dynamic is likely
to result in further consolidation of competing suppliers within our industry over time.

OEMs have shifted some research and development, design and testing responsibility to suppliers, while at the same time shortening new product cycle
times. To remain competitive, suppliers must have state-of-the-art engineering and design capabilities and must be able to continuously improve their
engineering, design and manufacturing processes to effectively service the customer. Suppliers are increasingly expected to collaborate on, or assume the
product design and development of, key automotive components and to provide innovative solutions to meet evolving technologies aimed at improved
emissions and fuel economy.

Increased competitiveness in the industry, as well as customer focus on costs, has resulted in continued pressure on suppliers for price reductions,
reducing the overall profitability of the industry. Consolidations and market share shifts among vehicle manufacturers continue to put additional pressures
on the supply chain. These pricing and market pressures will continue
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to drive our focus on reducing our overall cost structure through continuous improvement initiatives, capital redeployment, restructuring and other cost
management processes.

In addition to the above, other factors will present opportunities for automotive suppliers who are positioned for the changing environment, including
autonomous and connected vehicles, evolving government regulation, and consumer preference for environmentally friendly products and technology,
including hybrid and electric vehicle architectures.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2. “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report. Certain of our accounting policies require the application of
significant judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. These policies require the most difficult,
subjective or complex judgments that management makes in the preparation of the financial statements and accompanying notes. We consider an accounting
estimate to be critical if (i) it requires us to make assumptions about matters that were uncertain at the time we were making the estimate, and (ii) changes in
the estimate or different estimates that we could have selected could have had a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. Such
critical accounting estimates are discussed below. For these, materially different amounts could be reported under varied conditions and assumptions. Other
items in our consolidated financial statements require estimation, however, in our judgment, they are not as critical as those discussed below.

Goodwill. Our goodwill is tested for impairment as of October 1 of each year for all of our reporting units, and more frequently if events occur or
circumstances change that would warrant such a review. For our goodwill analysis, fair values are based on the cash flows projected in the reporting units’
strategic plans and long-range planning forecasts, discounted at a risk-adjusted rate of return. Our long-range planning forecasts are based on our assessment
of revenue growth rates generally based on industry specific data, external vehicle build assumptions published by widely used external sources, and
customer market share data based on known and targeted awards over a five-year period. The projected profit margin assumptions included in the plans are
based on the current cost structure and adjustments for anticipated cost reductions or increases. If different assumptions were used in these plans, the related
cash flows used in measuring fair value could be different and impairment of goodwill might be recorded. We assess the reasonableness of the estimated fair
values using market based multiples of comparable companies. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis resulted in no impairment for 2017 or 2016.

Long-Lived Assets. We monitor our long-lived assets for impairment indicators on an ongoing basis. If impairment indicators exist, we analyze the
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the long-lived assets compared to the related net book values. If the net book value exceeds the
undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is measured and recognized. An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the net book value and
the fair value of the long-lived assets. Fair value is estimated based upon either a discounted cash flow analysis or estimated salvage values. Cash flows are
estimated using internal budgets based on recent sales data, independent automotive production volume estimates and customer commitments, as well as
assumptions related to discount rates. Changes in economic or operating conditions impacting these estimates and assumptions could result in the
impairment of long-lived assets. See Note 6. “Property, Plant and Equipment” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report for additional information.

Restructuring. Specific accruals have been recorded in connection with restructuring initiatives. These accruals include estimates principally related
to employee separation costs, the closure and/or consolidation of facilities and contractual obligations. Actual amounts recognized could differ from the
original estimates. Restructuring-related reserves are reviewed on a quarterly basis, and changes to plans are appropriately recognized when identified.
Changes to plans associated with the restructuring of existing businesses are generally recognized as employee separation and plant phase-out costs in the
period the change occurs. See Note 5. “Restructuring” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” of this Report for additional information.

Revenue Recognition and Sales Commitments. We generally enter agreements with customers to produce products at the beginning of a vehicle’s life.
Although such contracts do not usually include minimum quantities, fulfillment of customers’ purchasing requirements can be our obligation for the entire
production life of the vehicle. These agreements generally may be terminated by our customer at any time, but such cancellations have historically been
minimal. In limited cases, we may be committed to supply products at selling prices that do not cover our costs. In such situations, we recognize losses as
they are incurred.
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We receive blanket purchase orders from many customers annually. Generally, such purchase orders and related documents establish the annual terms,
including pricing, related to a vehicle model. However, purchase orders generally do not specify quantities. We recognize revenue based on the purchase
order pricing terms as products are shipped or delivered to customers. As part of certain agreements, customers ask for cost reductions. We accrue for such
concessions by reducing revenue as products are shipped. We also generally have ongoing adjustments to customer pricing arrangements based on the
content and cost of our products. Such pricing accruals are adjusted as they are settled with customers.

Income Taxes. In determining the provision for income taxes for financial statement purposes, we make estimates and judgments which affect our
evaluation of the carrying value of our deferred tax assets as well as our calculation of certain tax liabilities. We evaluate the carrying value of our deferred
tax assets on a quarterly basis. In completing this evaluation, we consider all available positive and negative evidence. Such evidence includes historical
operating results, the existence of cumulative earnings and losses in the most recent fiscal years, expectations for future pretax operating income, the time
period over which our temporary differences will reverse, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Deferred tax assets are
reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of this evidence, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax assets
will not be realized in future periods.

Concluding that a valuation allowance is not required is difficult when there is significant negative evidence which is objective and verifiable, such
as cumulative losses in recent years. We utilize three years’ cumulative pre-tax book results adjusted for significant permanent book to tax differences as a
measure of cumulative results in recent years. In certain foreign jurisdictions, our analysis indicates that we have cumulative three year historical losses on
this basis. This is considered significant negative evidence which is difficult to overcome. However, the three-year loss position is not solely determinative,
and, accordingly, management considers all other available positive and negative evidence in its analysis. Based upon this analysis, we concluded that it is
more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictions may not be realized in the future. Accordingly, we continue to maintain a
valuation allowance related to those net deferred tax assets.

In addition, the calculation of our tax benefits and liabilities includes uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of
jurisdictions across our global operations. We recognize tax benefits and liabilities based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional
taxes will be due. We adjust these liabilities based on changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties and
the impact of any tax audits, the ultimate resolutions may be materially different from our estimated liabilities. See Note 14. “Income Taxes” to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Pensions and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. Included in our results of operations are significant pension and postretirement benefit
costs, which are measured using actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, including discount rates, expected returns on plan
assets and health care cost trend rates. These assumptions are determined as of the current year measurement date. We consider current market conditions,
including changes in interest rates, in making these assumptions. Changes in pension and postretirement benefit costs may occur in the future due to changes
in these assumptions. Our net pension and postretirement benefit costs were approximately $13.4 million and $0.8 million, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2017.

To develop the discount rate for each pension plan, the expected cash flows underlying the plan’s benefit obligations were discounted using a
December 31, 2017 pension index to determine a single equivalent rate. To develop our expected return on plan assets, we considered historical long-term
asset return experience, the expected investment portfolio mix of plan assets and an estimate of long-term investment returns. To develop our portfolio of
plan assets, we considered the duration of the plan liabilities and gave more weight to equity positions, including both public and private equity
investments, than to fixed-income securities.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligations as of December 31, 2017 were as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.55%  2.17%
Rate of compensation increase N/A  3.17%
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.99%  2.23%
Expected return on plan assets 6.60%  5.94%
Rate of compensation increase N/A  3.15%

The sensitivity of our pension cost and obligations to changes in key assumptions, holding all other assumptions constant, is as follows:

Change in assumption
Impact on 2018 net periodic

benefit cost  
Impact on PBO as of
December 31, 2017

1% increase in discount rate - $1.3 million  - $57.0 million
1% decrease in discount rate + $1.5 million  + $70.3 million
1% increase in expected return on plan assets - $3.2 million  —
1% decrease in expected return on plan assets + $3.2 million  —

Aggregate pension net periodic benefit cost is forecasted to be approximately $5.5 million in 2018.

Health care cost trend rates are assumed to reflect market trend, actual experience and future expectations. Health care cost trend rate assumptions
used to determine the postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 were as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.

Health care cost trend rate 5.50%  5.00%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.20%  5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2025  2018

The sensitivity of our postretirement benefit cost and obligations to changes in the health care cost trend rate is as follows:

 
Impact on service cost and

interest cost  
Impact on PBO as of
December 31, 2017

1% increase in health care cost trend rate + $0.2 million  + $4.4 million
1% decrease in health care cost trend rate - $0.2 million  - $3.5 million

Aggregate other postretirement net periodic benefit cost is forecasted to be approximately $1.5 million in 2018.

The Company’s policy is to fund pension plans such that sufficient assets will be available to meet future benefit requirements and contribute
amounts deductible for United States federal income tax purposes or amounts required by local statute. The Company estimates it will make funding cash
contributions to its U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans of approximately $8.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively in 2018.

The Company does not prefund its postretirement benefit obligations. Rather, payments are made as costs are incurred by covered retirees. We expect
net other postretirement benefit payments to be approximately $2.8 million in 2018.
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Results of Operations

 Year Ended December 31,  Change

 2017  2016  2015  

2017
vs.

2016  

2016
vs.

2015
 (dollar amounts in thousands)
Sales $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804  $ 145,235  $ 130,087
Cost of products sold 2,946,828  2,808,049  2,755,691  138,779  52,358

Gross profit 671,298  664,842  587,113  6,456  77,729
Selling, administration & engineering expenses 349,496  359,782  329,922  (10,286)  29,860
Amortization of intangibles 14,056  13,566  13,892  490  (326)
Impairment charges 14,763  1,273  21,611  13,490  (20,338)
Restructuring charges 35,137  46,031  53,844  (10,894)  (7,813)
Other operating loss (profit) —  155  (8,033)  (155)  8,188

Operating profit 257,846  244,035  175,877  13,811  68,158
Interest expense, net of interest income (42,112)  (41,389)  (38,331)  (723)  (3,058)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 5,519  7,877  5,683  (2,358)  2,194
Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt (1,020)  (5,104)  —  4,084  (5,104)
Other (expense) income, net (7,133)  (10,659)  9,759  3,526  (20,418)

Income before income taxes 213,100  194,760  152,988  18,340  41,772
Income tax expense 74,527  54,321  41,218  20,206  13,103

Net income 138,573  140,439  111,770  (1,866)  28,669
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,270)  (1,451)  110  (1,819)  (1,561)

Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings
Inc. $ 135,303  $ 138,988  $ 111,880  $ (3,685)  $ 27,108

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2016.
Sales. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $145.2 million, or 4.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. Sales were

favorably impacted by improved volume and mix in all segments, the net impact of acquisitions and divestitures and $26.3 million of favorable foreign
exchange, partially offset by customer price reductions.

Cost of Products Sold. Cost of products sold is primarily comprised of material, labor, manufacturing overhead, depreciation and amortization and
other direct operating expenses. Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31, 2017, increased $138.8 million, or 4.9%, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2016. Materials comprise the largest component of our cost of products sold and represented approximately 51% of total cost of products sold
for each of the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. Cost of sales was impacted by higher production volumes, commodity price and foreign exchange
pressures, as well as our acquisitions. These items were partially offset by continuous improvement, restructuring savings and material cost reductions.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $6.5 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. As a
percentage of sales, gross profit was 18.6% and 19.1% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The decrease in margin was driven by
net favorable operational performance more than offset by unfavorable vehicle production mix, commodity price pressures and foreign exchange.

Selling, Administration and Engineering. Selling, administration and engineering expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $349.5
million, or 9.7% of sales, compared to $359.8 million, or 10.4% of sales, for the year ended December 31, 2016. Selling, administration and engineering
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were favorable as a result of lower compensation related costs, partially offset by investment for growth and
innovation.

Impairment Charges. Non-cash asset impairment charges of $14.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 consisted of $4.3 million related to
our decision to divest two of our inactive European sites, and $10.5 million related to the deterioration of financial results at one of our Asia Pacific facilities,
two of our European locations, and one of our North
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American locations. Non-cash asset impairment charges of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 resulted from the deterioration of financial
results at one of our Asia Pacific facilities.

Restructuring. Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased $10.9 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2016.
The decrease was primarily driven by lower expenses of $16.1 million related to the substantial completion of our European initiatives, partially offset by
higher restructuring charges of $5.2 million in other regions.

Interest Expense, net. Net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $0.7 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2016, which resulted primarily from higher interest rates related to the Senior Notes.

Loss on Refinancing and Extinguishment of Debt. Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $1.0
million, which resulted from the partial write off of new and unamortized debt issuance costs and unamortized original issue discount related to the
amendment of the Term Loan Facility.

Other (Expense) Income, net. Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased $3.5 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2016. The decrease was primarily due to the nonrecurrence of underwriting fees related to the secondary offering of $5.9 million recorded in the year ended
December 31, 2016 and other miscellaneous income recorded in the year ended December 31, 2017, partially offset by increased foreign currency losses.

Income Tax Expense. Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $74.5 million on earnings before taxes of $213.1 million. This
compares to income tax expense of $54.3 million on earnings before taxes of $194.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Tax expense in 2017 and
2016 differed from the statutory rate due to a charge of $33.5 million as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in 2017, the mix of income between the
United States and foreign sources, tax incentives, incremental valuation allowance recorded on tax losses generated in certain foreign jurisdictions, other tax
credits, and other nonrecurring discrete items.

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015.
Sales. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $130.1 million, or 3.9% compared to the year ended December 31, 2015. Sales were

favorably impacted by improved volume and product mix in North America and Asia Pacific, as well as our recent acquisitions and consolidation of a
previously unconsolidated joint venture, partially offset by unfavorable foreign exchange of $56.5 million, lower volumes in South America, customer price
reductions and the divestiture of our hard coat plastic exterior trim business in 2015.

Cost of Products Sold. Cost of products sold is primarily comprised of material, labor, manufacturing overhead, depreciation and amortization and
other direct operating expenses. Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31, 2016, increased $52.4 million or 1.9% compared to the year ended
December 31, 2015. Materials comprise the largest component of our cost of products sold and represented approximately 50% of total cost of products sold
for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. Cost of sales was impacted by higher production volumes in North America, Europe and Asia Pacific, as
well as our recent acquisitions. These items were partially offset by continuous improvement and material cost savings and lower volumes in South America.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $77.7 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2015. As a
percentage of sales, gross profit was 19.1% and 17.6% of sales for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The increase in gross profit was
driven by continuous improvement, material costs savings, improved volume and product mix in North America and Asia Pacific. These items were partially
offset by unfavorable foreign exchange, inflation, customer price reductions, the divestiture of our hard coat plastic exterior trim business, and lower volumes
in South America.

Selling, Administration and Engineering. Selling, administration and engineering expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $359.8
million or 10.4% of sales compared to $329.9 million, or 9.9%, of sales for the year ended December 31, 2015. Selling, administration and engineering
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 were impacted primarily by incentive compensation due to favorable operating results, higher compensation
costs, innovation spending, and expansion in Asia Pacific, partially offset by favorable foreign exchange.

Impairment Charges. Due to the deterioration of financial results, the undiscounted cash flows did not exceed the book value at one of our Asia
Pacific facilities in 2016, and one of our European facilities and two of our South American facilities in 2015. This resulted in non-cash asset impairment
charges of $1.3 million and $13.6 million being recorded for the years ended December 2016 and 2015, respectively. Additionally, due to the deterioration
of the economic conditions in the region, customer relationships in South America were fully impaired in 2015, resulting in a non-cash impairment charge of
$8.0 million.
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Restructuring. Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased $7.8 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2015.
The decrease was primarily driven by reduced activity related to our European and North American initiatives, resulting in lower restructuring charges of $5.8
million and $3.6 million, respectively, partially offset by higher restructuring charges attributed to Asia Pacific initiatives of $1.6 million.

Other Operating Loss (Profit). Other operating loss was $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and other operating profit was $8.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The prior year profit resulted from the sale of our hard coat plastic exterior trim business.

Interest Expense, net. Net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $3.1 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2015, which resulted primarily from higher interest rates.

Loss on Refinancing and Extinguishment of Debt. Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $5.1
million which resulted primarily from expensing debt issuance costs associated with our amended Term Loan Facility.

Other (Expense) Income, net. Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $10.7 million, consisting of secondary offering underwriting
fees of $5.9 million, foreign currency losses of $4.0 million and losses on sale of receivables of $0.8 million. Other income for the year ended December 31,
2015 was $9.8 million, consisting of a gain from remeasurement of our previously held equity interest in Shenya of $14.2 million, which was partially offset
by $3.4 million of foreign currency losses and $1.0 million of losses on sale of receivables.

Income Tax Expense. Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2016 included an expense of $54.3 million on earnings before taxes of $194.8
million. This compares to an expense of $41.2 million on earnings before taxes of $153.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Tax expense in
2016 and 2015 differed from the statutory rate due to the mix of income between the United States and foreign sources, tax incentives recognized in Poland
resulting from increased current and future profitability, incremental valuation allowance recorded on tax losses generated in certain foreign jurisdictions,
other tax credits and incentives, and other nonrecurring discrete items.
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Segment Results of Operations
The Company has determined that it operates in four reportable segments: North America, Europe, Asia Pacific and South America. The Company

evaluates segment performance based on segment profit before tax. The results of each segment include certain allocations for general, administrative,
interest, and other shared costs. The accounting policies of the Company’s segments are consistent with those described in Note 2. “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

The following table presents sales and segment profit (loss) for each of the reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015:

   Year Ended December 31,  Change

 2017  2016  2015  

2017
vs.

2016  

2016
vs.

2015
 (dollar amounts in thousands)
Sales to external customers          

North America $ 1,882,670  $ 1,816,486  $ 1,778,621  $ 66,184  $ 37,865
Europe 1,043,738  1,031,538  1,033,635  12,200  (2,097)
Asia Pacific 585,161  540,684  435,127  44,477  105,557
South America 106,557  84,183  95,421  22,374  (11,238)
Consolidated $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804  $ 145,235  $ 130,087

Segment profit (loss)          
North America $ 236,165  $ 219,744  $ 215,487  $ 16,421  $ 4,257
Europe (18,872)  (15,989)  (22,435)  (2,883)  6,446
Asia Pacific 9,943  9,206  4,063  737  5,143
South America (14,136)  (18,201)  (44,127)  4,065  25,926
Income before income taxes $ 213,100  $ 194,760  $ 152,988  $ 18,340  $ 41,772

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2016.
North America. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $66.2 million, or 3.6%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016,

primarily due to improved volume and mix and the acquisition of AMI Industries’ fuel and brake business, partially offset by customer price reductions.
Segment profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $16.4 million primarily due to savings due to operational efficiencies, net material cost
savings, lower compensation related costs, favorable foreign exchange and acquisitions, partially offset by customer price reductions, continued investments
to support innovation, the impact of vehicle production mix, and non-cash asset impairment charges of $1.9 million. Included in segment profit for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were restructuring charges of $6.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Europe. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $12.2 million, or 1.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due
to improved volume and mix and $18.9 million of favorable foreign exchange, partially offset by customer price reductions. Segment loss increased by $2.9
million, primarily due to non-cash settlement charges relating to the wind-up of our U.K. pension plan of $5.7 million, impairment charges of $6.3 million,
customer price reductions, commodity price pressure and unfavorable foreign exchange, partially offset by operational efficiencies including restructuring
savings, lower compensation related costs and favorable volume and mix. Included in segment loss for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were
restructuring charges of $25.9 million and $42.0 million, respectively.

Asia Pacific. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $44.5 million, or 8.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily
due to the consolidation of a previously unconsolidated joint venture in August 2016 and improved volume and mix, partially offset by $3.6 million of
unfavorable foreign exchange and customer price reductions. Segment profit increased by $0.7 million, primarily driven by savings due to operational
efficiencies, material cost savings and lower compensation related costs, partially offset by increased non-cash asset impairment charges of $5.3 million,
customer price reductions, higher engineering costs to support growth in the region and wage inflation. Included in segment profit were restructuring charges
of $2.3 million for both years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

South America. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased $22.4 million, or 26.6%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016,
primarily due to improved volume and mix and favorable foreign exchange. Segment loss improved
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by $4.1 million, primarily due to savings due to operational efficiencies, net material cost savings and improved volume and mix, partially offset by a $4.6
million pre-tax charge for costs associated with a foreign tax amnesty program, of which $0.2 million was paid in cash.

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2015.
North America. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $37.9 million or 2.1%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2015,

primarily due to improved volume and product mix and our recent acquisition, partially offset by unfavorable foreign exchange of $23.8 million and
customer price reductions. Segment profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $4.3 million primarily due to the favorable impact of continuous
improvement and material cost savings, and improved volume and product mix, partially offset by customer price reductions, inflation and higher incentive
compensation due to favorable operating results. Included in segment profit (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were restructuring
charges of $1.7 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

Europe. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased $2.1 million, or 0.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due
to customer price reductions and unfavorable foreign exchange of $2.0 million, partially offset by improved volume. Segment loss improved by $6.4 million,
primarily due to continuous improvement and material cost savings, and lower restructuring costs, partially offset by the nonrecurrence of a prior year gain
related to the remeasurement of a previously held equity interest, customer price reductions, unfavorable foreign exchange, inflation and higher incentive
compensation due to improved operating results. Included in segment profit (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were restructuring
charges of $42.0 million and $47.9 million, respectively.

Asia Pacific. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $105.6 million, or 24.3%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2015,
primarily due to improved volume and our recent acquisitions and consolidation of a previously unconsolidated joint venture, partially offset by unfavorable
foreign exchange of $26.8 million. Segment profit increased by $5.1 million, primarily due to improved volume and product mix, our recent acquisitions and
consolidation of a previously unconsolidated joint venture, and the favorable impact of continuous improvement and material cost savings, partially offset
by higher engineering and administrative costs to support growth in the region as well as higher incentive compensation due to favorable operating results.
Included in segment profit (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were restructuring charges of $2.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

South America. Sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased $11.2 million or 11.8%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2015,
primarily due to a decrease in volumes and unfavorable foreign exchange of $3.8 million. Segment loss improved by $25.9 million, primarily due to the
nonrecurrence of impairment charges, material cost savings, partially offset by a decrease in volume and unfavorable foreign exchange.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Short and Long-Term Liquidity Considerations and Risks
We intend to fund our ongoing working capital, capital expenditures, debt service and other funding requirements through a combination of cash

flows from operations, cash on hand, borrowings under our ABL Facility, and receivables factoring. The Company utilizes intercompany loans and equity
contributions to fund its worldwide operations. There may be country specific regulations which may restrict or result in increased costs in the repatriation of
these funds. See Note 8. “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report for a
detailed discussion of terms and conditions related to our debt.

Based on our current and anticipated levels of operations and the condition in our markets and industry, we believe that our cash flows from
operations, cash on hand, borrowings under our ABL Facility and receivables factoring will enable us to meet our ongoing working capital, capital
expenditures, debt service and other funding requirements for the next twelve months. However, our ability to fund our working capital needs, debt payments
and other obligations, and to comply with the financial covenants, including borrowing base limitations under our ABL Facility, depend on our future
operating performance and cash flow and many factors outside of our control, including the costs of raw materials, the state of the overall automotive
industry, financial and economic conditions and other factors.

Cash Flows
Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $313.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $363.7

million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The change was primarily driven by an increase in receivables due to growth, increased inventory, higher
payments related to incentive compensation, increased liabilities related to our factoring arrangement and higher cash paid for interest, partially offset by
increased cash earnings and reduced cash paid for restructuring and taxes.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $270.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which included $36.6 million of cash used that
related to changes in operating assets and liabilities. Cash provided by operating activities was primarily the result of increased earnings, as well as changes
in accounts and tooling receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $63.9 million and pension contributions of $7.9 million.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $200.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $198.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was primarily due to higher capital spending and cash paid for a build-to-suit lease of $15.8 million,
partially offset by lower cash spent for acquisitions of business. We anticipate that we will spend approximately $195 million to $215 million on capital
expenditures in 2018.

Net cash used in investing activities was $198.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $166.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to the nonrecurrence of the divestiture of our hard coat plastic exterior trim business.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities totaled $75.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $62.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was primarily due to increased repurchase activity under our share repurchase program, certain paydowns of
foreign bank loans in 2017, partially offset by an increase in short-term debt.

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $62.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $11.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to increased repurchase activity under our share repurchase program, higher taxes withheld and paid on
employee share-based awards, decreased warrant exercises, and an increase in short-term debt.

Senior Notes

On November 2, 2016, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, CSA U.S. (the “Issuer”) completed a private offering of debt securities consisting of
the issuance of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 5.625% notes due 2026 (the “Senior Notes”). The proceeds from the sale of the Senior Notes
were used to repay the non-extended term loans outstanding under the Term Loan Facility and to pay fees and expenses related to the refinancing. The Senior
Notes are guaranteed by us, as well as each of CSA U.S.’s wholly-owned existing or subsequently organized U.S. subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions, to
the extent such subsidiary guarantees the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility. The Issuer may redeem all or part of the Senior Notes at various points in
time prior to maturity, as described in the indenture. The Senior Notes will mature on November 15, 2026. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-
annually in arrears in cash on May 15 and November 15 of each year.

If a Change of Control (as defined in the indenture) occurs, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all of the Senior Notes at a price equal
to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

ABL Facility

On November 2, 2016, CS Intermediate Holdco 1 LLC (“Parent”), CSA U.S. (the “U.S. Borrower”), Cooper-Standard Automotive Canada Limited (the
“Canadian Borrower”), Cooper-Standard Automotive International Holdings B.V. (the “Dutch Borrower”, and, together with the U.S. Borrower and the
Canadian Borrower, the “Borrowers”) and certain subsidiaries of the U.S. Borrower, entered into a third amendment of our ABL Facility. Pursuant to the ABL
Facility agreement, as amended, we have an aggregate revolving loan availability of up to $210.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability, including a
$100.0 million letter of credit sub-facility and a $25.0 million swing line sub-facility. In addition, our ABL Facility provides for an uncommitted $100.0
million incremental loan facility, for a potential total ABL Facility of $310.0 million. Any borrowings under our ABL Facility will mature, and the
commitments of the lenders under our ABL Facility will terminate, on November 2, 2021.

The ABL Facility includes affirmative and negative covenants that impose substantial restrictions on our financial and business operations, including
our ability to incur and secure debt, make investments, sell assets, pay dividends or make acquisitions. The agreement also includes a requirement to
maintain a monthly fixed charge coverage ratio of no less than 1.0 to 1.0 when availability under the agreement is less than specified levels. The ABL
Facility also contains various events of default that are customary for comparable facilities.

Loan and letter of credit availability under the agreement is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is limited to the lesser of: (A) the
maximum facility amount (subject to certain adjustments) and (B) (i) up to 85% of eligible accounts receivable; plus (ii) the lesser of 70% of eligible
inventory or 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory; plus (iii) up to the lesser of $30.0 million and 75% of eligible tooling
accounts receivable; minus reserves established
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by the agent. Loan availability under our ABL Facility is apportioned as follows: $170.0 million to the U.S. Borrower, which includes a $60.0 million
sublimit to the Dutch Borrower and $40.0 million to the Canadian Borrower. The obligations under the ABL Facility and the related guarantees are secured
by various assets, as detailed in Note 8. “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Report.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Borrowers’ option:
• in the case of borrowings by U.S. Borrower, LIBOR or the base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin; or
• in the case of borrowings by the Canadian Borrower, bankers’ acceptance (“BA”) rate, Canadian prime rate or Canadian base rate plus, in each case,

an applicable margin; or
• in the case of borrowings by the Dutch Borrower, LIBOR plus an applicable margin.

The initial applicable margin was 1.50% with respect to the LIBOR or Canadian BA rate-based borrowings and 0.50% with respect to U.S. base rate,
Canadian prime rate and Canadian base rate borrowings, until April 1, 2017. The applicable margin may vary between 1.25% and 1.75% with respect to the
LIBOR or Canadian BA rate-based borrowings and between 0.25% and 0.75% with respect to U.S. base rate, Canadian prime rate and Canadian base rate
borrowings. The applicable margin is subject, in each case, to quarterly pricing adjustments (based on average facility availability).

As of December 31, 2017, there were no borrowings under the ABL Facility, and subject to borrowing base availability, the Company had $206.9
million in availability, less outstanding letters of credit of $8.5 million. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had $1.4 million and $1.7 million,
respectively, in unamortized debt issuance costs.

Term Loan Facility – Amendments

On November 2, 2016, CSA U.S., as borrower, entered into the first amendment of our Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan Facility provides for loans
in an aggregate principal amount of $340.0 million. Subject to certain conditions, the Term Loan Facility, without the consent of the then existing lenders
(but subject to the receipt of commitments), may be expanded (or a new term loan or revolving facility added) by an amount that will not cause the
consolidated secured net debt ratio to exceed 2.25 to 1.00, plus $400 million, plus any voluntary prepayments (including revolving facility and ABL Facility
to the extent commitments are reduced) not funded from proceeds of long-term indebtedness. The Term Loan Facility matures on November 2, 2023, unless
earlier terminated.

The Term Loan Facility contains incurrence-based negative covenants customary for high yield senior secured debt securities. These negative
covenants are subject to exceptions, qualifications and certain carveouts.

On May 2, 2017, CSA U.S. entered into Amendment No. 2 to the Term Loan Facility to modify the interest rate. In accordance with this amendment,
borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either (1) with respect to Eurodollar rate loans, the greater of the
applicable Eurodollar rate and 0.75%, plus 2.25% per annum, or (2) with respect to base rate loans, the base rate (which is the highest of the then-current
federal funds rate plus 0.5%, the prime rate most recently announced by the administrative agent under the term loan, and the one-month Eurodollar rate plus
1.0%), plus 1.25% per annum. As a result of the amendment, the Company recognized a loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt of $1.0 million in the
second quarter of 2017, which was due to the partial write off of new and unamortized debt issuance costs and unamortized original issue discount.

All obligations of the borrower under the Term Loan Facility are guaranteed jointly and severally on a senior secured basis by us and the wholly-
owned U.S. restricted subsidiaries of CSA U.S.

As of December 31, 2017, the principal amount of $336.6 million was outstanding, and the Company had $3.5 million unamortized debt issuance
costs and $2.3 million of unamortized original issue discount.

Repayment of the Term Loan Facility 

On November 2, 2016, we repaid the non-extended term loan outstanding under the Term Loan Facility of $393.1 million. As a result of the
repayment, the Company recognized a loss on refinancing of $5.1 million, which was primarily due to the write off of unamortized original issue discount
and debt issuance costs. The Company used proceeds from the Senior Notes, together with cash on hand, to repay the non-extended term loan.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As a part of our working capital management, we sell certain accounts receivable through a third party financial institution in off-balance sheet

arrangements. The amount sold varies each month based on the amount of underlying receivables and cash flow needs. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
we had $96.6 million and $56.9 million, respectively, of receivables outstanding under receivable transfer agreements entered into by various locations. For
the years ended December 31, 2017 and
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2016, total accounts receivable factored were $544.1 million and $507.3 million, respectively. Costs incurred on the sale of receivables were $1.9 million,
$1.6 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These amounts are recorded in other (expense) income,
net and interest expense, net of interest income in the consolidated statements of net income. These are permitted transactions under the credit agreements
governing our ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility and the indenture governing the Senior Notes.

As of December 31, 2017, we had no other material off-balance sheet arrangements.

Other Capital Transactions Impacting Liquidity

Share Repurchase Program

In March 2016, our Board of Directors approved a securities repurchase program (the “Program”) authorizing us to repurchase, in the aggregate, up to
$125 million of our outstanding common stock or warrants to purchase common stock. Under the Program, repurchases may be made on the open market or
through private transactions, as determined by our management and in accordance with prevailing market conditions and federal securities laws and
regulations.

In March 2016, we purchased $23.8 million of our common stock (350,000 shares at $68.00 per share) from the Selling Stockholders (as described in
Note 17. “Equity” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report). In 2017, we
repurchased $55.9 million of our common stock (513,801 shares at an average purchase price of $108.87 per share, excluding commissions) in the open
market, of which $55.1 million was settled in cash during the year ended December 31, 2017. We expect to fund any future repurchases from cash on hand
and future cash flows from operations. We are not obligated to acquire a particular amount of securities, and the Program may be discontinued at any time at
our discretion. As of December 31, 2017, we have approximately $45.3 million of repurchase authorization remaining under the Program. See Item 5. “Market
for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity” and Note 17. “Equity.”

Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations consist of legal commitments requiring us to make fixed or determinable cash payments, regardless of the contractual

requirements of the vendor to provide future goods or services. Except as otherwise disclosed, this table does not include information on our recurring
purchase of materials for use in production because our raw materials purchase contracts typically do not require fixed or minimum quantities.

The following table summarizes the total amounts due as of December 31, 2017 under all debt agreements, commitments and other contractual
obligations.

 Payment due by period

 Total  
Less than

1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  
More than

5 years
 (dollar amounts in millions)
Debt obligations $ 768.5  $ 35.3  $ 6.8  $ 6.8  $ 719.6
Interest on debt obligations 286.4  36.1  73.6  74.3  102.4
Operating lease obligations 139.7  30.3  49.7  26.6  33.1
Capital lease obligations 1.9  0.7  1.0  0.2  —
Total $ 1,196.5  $ 102.4  $ 131.1  $ 107.9  $ 855.1

In addition to our contractual obligations and commitments set forth in the table above, we have employment arrangements with certain key
executives that provide for continuity of management. These arrangements include payments of multiples of annual salary, certain incentives and
continuation of benefits upon the occurrence of specified events in a manner believed to be consistent with comparable companies.

We also have funding requirements with respect to our pension obligations. We expect to make cash contributions to our U.S. and foreign pension
plans of approximately $8.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively, in 2018. Our minimum funding requirements after 2018 will depend on several factors,
including the investment performance of our retirement plans and prevailing interest rates. Our funding obligations may also be affected by changes in
applicable legal requirements. We also have payments due with respect to our postretirement benefit obligations. We do not prefund our postretirement
benefit obligations. Rather, payments are made as costs are incurred by covered retirees. We expect net other postretirement benefit payments to be
approximately $2.8 million in 2018.
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We may be required to make significant cash outlays due to our unrecognized tax benefits. However, due to the uncertainty of the timing of future
cash flows associated with our unrecognized tax benefits, we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of the period of cash settlement, if any, with the
respective taxing authorities. Accordingly, unrecognized tax benefits of $8.0 million as of December 31, 2017 have been excluded from the contractual
obligations table above. See Note 14. “Income Taxes” to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Excluded from the contractual obligations table above are open purchase orders as of December 31, 2017 for raw materials, supplies and capital
expenditures in the normal course of business, supply contracts with customers, distribution agreements, joint venture agreements and other contracts without
express funding requirements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In evaluating our business, management considers EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to be key indicators of our operating performance. Our

management also uses EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:
• because similar measures are utilized in the calculation of the financial covenants and ratios contained in our financing arrangements;
• in developing our internal budgets and forecasts;
• as a significant factor in evaluating our management for compensation purposes;
• in evaluating potential acquisitions;
• in comparing our current operating results with corresponding historical periods and with the operational performance of other companies in our

industry; and
• in presentations to the members of our board of directors to enable our board of directors to have the same measurement basis of operating

performance as is used by management in their assessments of performance and in forecasting and budgeting for our company.

In addition, we believe EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and similar measures are widely used by investors, securities analysts and other interested
parties in evaluating our performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus income tax expense (benefit), interest expense, net of interest
income, depreciation and amortization, (or “EBITDA”), as adjusted for items that management does not consider to be reflective of our core operating
performance. These adjustments include, but are not limited to, restructuring costs, impairment charges, non-cash fair value adjustments and acquisition
related costs.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not financial measurements recognized under U.S. GAAP, and when analyzing our operating performance,
investors should use EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as a supplement to, and not as alternatives for, net income (loss), operating income, or any other
performance measure derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP, nor as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of our liquidity.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools, and they should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results
of operations as reported under U.S. GAAP. These limitations include:

• they do not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditure or contractual commitments;
• they do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
• they do not reflect interest expense or cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments under our ABL Facility, Term Loan

Facility and Senior Notes;
• they do not reflect certain tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated or amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect cash requirements for such replacements; and
• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate these measures differently and, as the number of differences in the way

companies calculate these measures increases, the degree of their usefulness as a comparative measure correspondingly decreases.

In addition, in evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, it should be noted that in the future, we may incur expenses similar to the adjustments in the below
presentation. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by special items.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from net income, which is the most comparable financial measure in
accordance with U.S. GAAP:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
 (dollar amounts in thousands)
Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 135,303  $ 138,988  $ 111,880
Income tax expense 74,527  54,321  41,218
Interest expense, net of interest income 42,112  41,389  38,331
Depreciation and amortization 138,088  122,660  114,427

EBITDA $ 390,030  $ 357,358  $ 305,856
Restructuring charges (1) 35,137  46,031  53,844
Impairment charges (2) 14,763  1,273  21,611
Settlement charges (3) 6,427  281  —
Foreign tax amnesty program (4) 4,623  —  —
Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt (5) 1,020  5,104  —
Secondary offering underwriting fees and other expenses (6) —  6,500  —
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest (7) —  —  (14,199)
Gain on divestiture (8) —  —  (8,033)
Amortization of inventory write-up (9) —  —  1,419
Acquisition costs —  —  1,637
Other —  155  230

Adjusted EBITDA $ 452,000  $ 416,702  $ 362,365

(1) Includes non-cash impairment charges related to restructuring and is net of non-controlling interest.
(2) Impairment charges in 2017 and 2016 related to fixed assets of $14,763 and $1,273, respectively. Impairment charges in 2015 related to fixed assets

of $13,630 and intangible assets of $7,981.
(3) Non-cash settlement charges incurred related to certain of our non-U.S. pension plans.
(4) Relates to indirect taxes recorded in cost of products sold.
(5) Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt relating to the May 2017 amendment of the Term Loan Facility and the refinancing of our Term

Loan Facility in 2016.
(6) Fees and other expenses associated with the March 2016 secondary offering.
(7) Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest in Shenya.
(8) Gain on sale of hard coat plastic exterior trim business.
(9) Amortization of write-up of inventory to fair value for the Shenya acquisition.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 3. “New Accounting Pronouncements” to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data” of this Report.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. We actively manage our exposure to risk from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates through the use of derivative financial instruments in accordance with management’s
guidelines. We do not enter into derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,”
specifically Note 9. “Fair Value Measurements and Financial Instruments” to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. We use forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the effect of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates on a
portion of forecasted sales, material purchases and operating expenses. As of December 31, 2017, the notional amount of these contracts was $165.6 million.
As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the Company’s forward foreign exchange contracts was a liability of $1.6 million.
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In addition to transactional exposures, our operating results are impacted by the translation of our foreign operating income into U.S. dollars. In 2017,
net sales outside of the United States accounted for 76% of our consolidated net sales, although certain non-U.S. sales are U.S. dollar denominated. We do not
enter into foreign exchange contracts to mitigate this exposure.

Interest Rates. The Company uses interest rate swap transactions to manage cash flow variability associated with its variable rate Term Loan Facility.
The interest rate swap contracts, which fix the interest payments of variable rate debt instruments, are used to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates. As of December 31, 2017, the notional amount of these contracts was $150.0 million. As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the Company’s interest
rate swaps was a liability of $0.5 million. In addition, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, approximately 25% and 7%, respectively, of our total debt was at
variable interest rates, after considering the effect of the interest rate swap contracts.

Commodity Prices. We have commodity price risk with respect to purchases of certain raw materials, including natural gas and carbon black. Raw
material, energy and commodity costs have been extremely volatile over the past several years. Historically, we have used derivative instruments to reduce
our exposure to fluctuations in certain commodity prices. We did not enter into any commodity derivative instruments in 2017. We will continue to evaluate,
and may use, derivative financial instruments to manage our exposure to raw material, energy and commodity price fluctuations in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, the related consolidated statements of net income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2 (collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 16, 2018 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.
Detroit, Michigan
February 20, 2018

39



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2017, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of net income, comprehensive income
(loss), changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2 and our report dated February 16, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 20, 2018
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COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET INCOME
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Sales $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804
Cost of products sold 2,946,828  2,808,049  2,755,691

Gross profit 671,298  664,842  587,113
Selling, administration & engineering expenses 349,496  359,782  329,922
Amortization of intangibles 14,056  13,566  13,892
Impairment charges 14,763  1,273  21,611
Restructuring charges 35,137  46,031  53,844
Other operating loss (profit) —  155  (8,033)

Operating profit 257,846  244,035  175,877
Interest expense, net of interest income (42,112)  (41,389)  (38,331)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 5,519  7,877  5,683
Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt (1,020)  (5,104)  —
Other (expense) income, net (7,133)  (10,659)  9,759

Income before income taxes 213,100  194,760  152,988
Income tax expense 74,527  54,321  41,218

Net income 138,573  140,439  111,770
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (3,270)  (1,451)  110

Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 135,303  $ 138,988  $ 111,880

      

Earnings per share:      
Basic $ 7.61  $ 7.96  $ 6.50
Diluted $ 7.21  $ 7.42  $ 6.08

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Net income $ 138,573  $ 140,439  $ 111,770
Other comprehensive income (loss):      

Currency translation adjustment 49,600  (13,930)  (80,331)
Benefit plan liabilities adjustment, net of tax (3,137)  (13,488)  2,737
Fair value change of derivatives, net of tax 73  810  (269)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 46,536  (26,608)  (77,863)
Comprehensive income 185,109  113,831  33,907

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (4,874)  (341)  451
Comprehensive income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 180,235  $ 113,490  $ 34,358

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollar amounts in thousands except share amounts)

 December 31,

 2017  2016
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 515,952  $ 480,092
Accounts receivable, net 494,049  460,503
Tooling receivable 112,561  90,974
Inventories 170,196  146,449
Prepaid expenses 33,205  37,142
Other current assets 100,778  81,021

Total current assets 1,426,741  1,296,181
Property, plant and equipment, net 952,178  832,269
Goodwill 171,852  167,441
Intangible assets, net 69,091  81,363
Deferred tax assets 33,834  46,419
Other assets 71,952  68,029

Total assets $ 2,725,648  $ 2,491,702

    
Liabilities and Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Debt payable within one year $ 34,921  $ 33,439
Accounts payable 523,296  475,426
Payroll liabilities 123,090  144,812
Accrued liabilities 145,650  105,665

Total current liabilities 826,957  759,342
Long-term debt 723,325  729,480
Pension benefits 180,173  172,950
Postretirement benefits other than pensions 61,921  54,225
Deferred tax liabilities 9,511  9,241
Other liabilities 68,672  44,673

Total liabilities 1,870,559  1,769,911
7% Cumulative participating convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares
issued and outstanding —  —
Equity:    

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 190,000,000 shares authorized; 19,920,805 shares issued and 17,914,599
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 19,686,917 shares issued and 17,690,611 outstanding as of December
31, 2016 18  17
Additional paid-in capital 512,815  513,934
Retained earnings 511,367  425,972
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (197,631)  (242,563)

Total Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. equity 826,569  697,360
Noncontrolling interests 28,520  24,431

Total equity 855,089  721,791
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,725,648  $ 2,491,702

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollar amounts in thousands except share amounts)

  Total Equity

 

Redeemable
Noncontrolling

Interests
Common

Shares
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Cooper-
Standard

Holdings Inc.
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interest Total Equity

Balance as of December 31,
2014 $ 3,981 17,039,328 $ 17 $ 492,959 $ 195,233 $ (139,243) $ 548,966 $ (252) $ 548,714
Shares issued under stock
option plans — 20,960 — (289) — — (289) — (289)
Warrant exercise — 344,159 — 9,277 — — 9,277 — 9,277
Share-based compensation,
net — 54,498 — 8,635 (400) — 8,235 — 8,235
Excess tax benefit on stock
options — — — 320 — — 320 — 320
Acquisition — — — — — — — 11,836 11,836
Purchase of noncontrolling
interest (3,936) — — 2,862 — (300) 2,562 192 2,754
Net income (loss) for 2015 (45) — — — 111,880 — 111,880 (65) 111,815
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (77,522) (77,522) (341) (77,863)
Balance as of December 31,
2015 — 17,458,945 17 513,764 306,713 (217,065) 603,429 11,370 614,799
Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle — — — — (473) — (473) — (473)
Repurchase of common stock — (350,000) — (8,470) (15,330) — (23,800) — (23,800)
Warrant exercise — 332,873 — 2,810 — — 2,810 — 2,810
Share-based compensation,
net — 248,793 — 5,830 (3,926) — 1,904 — 1,904
Consolidation of joint venture — — — — — — — 13,300 13,300
Dividends paid to
noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — (580) (580)
Net income for 2016 — — — — 138,988 — 138,988 1,451 140,439
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (25,498) (25,498) (1,110) (26,608)
Balance as of December 31,
2016 — 17,690,611 17 513,934 425,972 (242,563) 697,360 24,431 721,791
Repurchase of common stock — (513,801) (1) (12,434) (43,512) — (55,947) — (55,947)
Warrant exercise  568,702 1 2,372 — — 2,373 — 2,373
Share-based compensation,
net — 169,087 1 8,943 (6,396) — 2,548 — 2,548
Dividends declared to
noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — (785) (785)
Net income for 2017 — — — — 135,303 — 135,303 3,270 138,573
Other comprehensive income — — — — — 44,932 44,932 1,604 46,536
Balance as of December 31,
2017 $ — 17,914,599 $ 18 $ 512,815 $ 511,367 $ (197,631) $ 826,569 $ 28,520 $ 855,089

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015
Operating Activities:      

Net income $ 138,573  $ 140,439  $ 111,770
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation 124,032  109,094  100,535
Amortization of intangibles 14,056  13,566  13,892
Impairment charges 14,763  1,273  21,611
Share-based compensation expense 24,963  24,032  13,955
Equity in earnings, net of dividends related to earnings (137)  (4,855)  (3,766)
Loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt 1,020  5,104  —
Gain on divestitures and sale of investment in affiliate —  —  (8,033)
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest —  —  (14,199)
Deferred income taxes 11,076  9,082  (2,698)
Other 1,286  1,591  725

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      
Accounts and tooling receivable (26,428)  (579)  (72,546)
Inventories (13,929)  6,651  12,848
Prepaid expenses 5,981  (7,010)  5,348
Accounts payable 11,415  70,066  61,063
Payroll and accrued liabilities 8,879  5,612  75,424
Other (2,066)  (10,369)  (45,544)
Net cash provided by operating activities 313,484  363,697  270,385

Investing activities:      
Capital expenditures (186,795)  (164,368)  (166,267)
Proceeds from divestitures and sale of investment in affiliate —  —  33,500
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (478)  (37,478)  (34,396)
Investment in joint ventures —  —  (4,300)
Cash from consolidation of joint venture —  3,395  —
Other (13,349)  185  5,069

Net cash used in investing activities (200,622)  (198,266)  (166,394)
Financing activities:      

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs —  393,060  —
Repayment and refinancing of term loan facility —  (397,196)  —
Principal payments on long-term debt (19,866)  (10,747)  (8,863)
Purchase of noncontrolling interest —  —  (1,262)
Repurchase of common stock (55,123)  (23,800)  —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 2,373  2,810  9,277
Increase (decrease) in short term debt, net 10,683  (12,223)  (9,008)
Borrowings on long-term debt —  —  151
Taxes withheld and paid on employees' share-based payment awards (13,297)  (12,624)  (2,028)
Other (297)  (2,196)  143

Net cash used in financing activities (75,527)  (62,916)  (11,590)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,475)  (666)  18,572
Changes in cash and cash equivalents

35,860  101,849  110,973
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 480,092  378,243  267,270
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 515,952  $ 480,092  $ 378,243
Supplemental Disclosure:      

Cash paid for interest $ 47,424  $ 38,550  $ 39,192
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds 36,883  38,334  55,547

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

1. Description of Business
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Cooper Standard”), through its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. (“CSA U.S.”), is a leading manufacturer of sealing, fuel and brake delivery, fluid transfer, and anti-vibration
systems. The Company’s products are primarily for use in passenger vehicles and light trucks that are manufactured by global automotive original equipment
manufacturers (“OEMs”) and replacement markets. The Company conducts substantially all of its activities through its subsidiaries.

The Company believes it is the largest global producer of sealing systems, the second largest global producer of the types of fuel and brake delivery
products that it manufactures, the third largest global producer of fluid transfer systems, and one of the largest North American producers of anti-vibration
systems. The Company designs and manufactures its products in each major region of the world through a disciplined and sustained approach to engineering
and operational excellence. The Company operates in 92 manufacturing locations and 32 design, engineering, administrative and logistics locations in
20 countries around the world.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the wholly-owned and less than

wholly-owned subsidiaries controlled by the Company. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Acquired businesses are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the dates of acquisition or when the Company gained control.

The equity method of accounting is followed for investments in which the Company does not have control, but does have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies. Generally, this occurs when ownership is between 20% to 50%. The cost method is followed in
those situations where the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, generally when
ownership is less than 20%.

Foreign Currency – The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at the end-of-period exchange rates for assets and
liabilities and at a weighted average exchange rate for each period for revenues and expenses. Translation adjustments for those subsidiaries whose local
currency is their functional currency are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Transaction
related gains and losses arising from fluctuations in currency exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are
recognized in earnings as incurred, except for those intercompany balances which are designated as long-term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – The Company considers highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2017 includes $36,248 of cash collected on behalf of a factoring provider in connection with
receivables sold under the Company’s accounts receivable factoring program. See Note 10. “Accounts Receivable Factoring.”

Accounts Receivable – The Company records trade accounts receivable when revenue is recorded in accordance with its revenue recognition policy
and relieves accounts receivable when payments are received from customers. Accounts receivable are written off when it is apparent such amounts are not
collectible. Generally, the Company does not require collateral for its accounts receivable, nor is interest charged on accounts receivable balances.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts – An allowance for doubtful accounts is established through charges to the provision for bad debts when it is
probable that the outstanding receivable will not be collected. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a periodic
basis, including historical trends in collections and write-offs, management’s judgment of the probability of collecting accounts and management’s
evaluation of business risk. This evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are susceptible to revision as more information becomes
available. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $4,199 and $7,124 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Advertising Expense – Expenses incurred for advertising are generally expensed when incurred. Advertising expense was $3,769, $3,553 and $3,418
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

Inventories – Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Finished goods and
work-in-process inventories include material, labor and manufacturing overhead costs. The Company records inventory reserves for inventory in excess of
production and/or forecasted requirements and for obsolete inventory.
 

 December 31,
 2017  2016
Finished goods $ 47,613  $ 43,511
Work in process 35,455  32,839
Raw materials and supplies 87,128  70,099
 $ 170,196  $ 146,449

Derivative Financial Instruments – Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company to reduce foreign currency exchange and interest
rate risks. The Company has established policies and procedures for risk assessment and the approval, reporting and monitoring of derivative financial
instrument activities. On the date the derivative is established, the Company designates the derivative as either a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge or a net
investment hedge in accordance with its established policy. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

Income Taxes – Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if the Company determines that it is more likely
than not that the asset will not be realized.

Long-lived Assets – Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using primarily the straight-line method over estimated useful
lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the expected life of the asset or term of the lease, whichever is shorter. Intangibles with finite lives, which
include technology and customer relationships, are amortized over estimated useful lives. The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets
when events and circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired and the undiscounted net cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are
less than their carrying value. If the net carrying value exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss exists and is calculated based on a discounted cash flow
analysis or estimated salvage value. Discounted cash flows are estimated using internal budgets and assumptions regarding discount rates and other factors.

Pre-production Costs Related to Long Term Supply Arrangements – Costs for molds, dies and other tools owned by the Company to produce products
under long-term supply arrangements are recorded at cost in property, plant and equipment and amortized over the lesser of three years or the term of the
related supply agreement. The amounts capitalized were $2,091 and $2,874 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company expenses all pre-
production tooling costs related to customer-owned tools for which reimbursement is not contractually guaranteed by the customer. Reimbursable tooling
costs are recorded in tooling receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets if considered to be receivable in the next twelve months, and in
other assets if considered to be receivable beyond twelve months. Tooling receivable for customer-owned tooling as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was
$112,561 and $90,974, respectively. Reimbursable tooling costs included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were $21,506 and
$16,393 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Goodwill – The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Goodwill impairment testing is performed at the reporting unit level. The impairment test
involves first qualitatively assessing goodwill for impairment. If the qualitative assessment is not met, a quantitative assessment is performed by comparing
the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then impairment may exist and further
evaluation is required.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company completed a qualitative goodwill impairment assessment for each of its reporting units, and after
evaluating the results, events and circumstances of the Company, the Company concluded that sufficient evidence existed to assert qualitatively that it was
more likely than not that the estimated fair value of each reporting unit remained in excess of its carrying value. Therefore, a quantitative assessment was not
necessary. In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company completed a quantitative assessment and the estimated fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its
respective carrying value. No goodwill impairments were recorded in 2017, 2016 or 2015.

Business Combinations – The purchase price of an acquired business is allocated to its identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair
values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair values of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management’s judgment, the utilization of independent appraisal firms and often involves the use of
significant estimates and assumptions with respect to the timing and amount of future cash flows, market rate assumptions, actuarial assumptions, and
appropriate discount rates, among other items.
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Revenue Recognition and Sales Commitments – Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of a sales agreement, the delivery of the
goods has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company generally enters into agreements with its
customers to produce products at the beginning of a vehicle’s life. Although such agreements do not generally provide for minimum quantities, once the
Company enters into such agreements, fulfillment of its customers’ purchasing requirements can be the Company’s obligation for an extended period or the
entire production life of the vehicle. These agreements generally may be terminated by the customer at any time. Historically, terminations of these
agreements have been minimal. In certain limited instances, the Company may be committed under existing agreements to supply products to its customers at
selling prices which are not sufficient to cover the direct cost to produce such products. In such situations, the Company recognizes losses as they are
incurred.

The Company receives blanket purchase orders from many of its customers on an annual basis. Generally, such purchase orders and related documents
set forth the annual terms, including pricing, related to a particular vehicle model. Such purchase orders generally do not specify quantities. The Company
recognizes revenue based on the pricing terms included in the annual purchase orders generally as products are shipped to the customers. As part of certain
agreements, the Company is asked to provide its customers with annual cost reductions. The Company recognizes such amounts as a reduction of revenue as
products are shipped to customers. In addition, the Company has ongoing adjustments to pricing arrangements with its customers based on the related
content and cost of the products. Such pricing adjustments are recorded when probable and estimable.

Shipping and Handling – Amounts billed to customers related to shipping and handling are included in sales in the Company’s consolidated
statements of net income. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of products sold in the Company’s consolidated statements of net income.

Research and Development – Costs are charged to selling, administration and engineering expenses as incurred and totaled $127,974, $117,791 and
$108,764 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Share-based Compensation – The Company measures share-based compensation expense at fair value and generally recognizes such expenses on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period of the share-based employee awards. See Note 18. “Share-Based Compensation” for additional information.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that
affect amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Considerable judgment is often
involved in making such estimates, and the use of different assumptions could result in different conclusions. Management believes its assumptions and
estimates are reasonable and appropriate. However, actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted the following accounting standard update (“ASU”) in 2017, which did not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements:

Standard Description Effective Date
ASU 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330):
Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory

This ASU amended the guidelines for the measurement of inventory from lower of cost
or market to the lower of cost and net realizable value.

January 1, 2017
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company considered the recently issued accounting pronouncements summarized as follows, which could have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements or disclosures:

Standard Description Impact Effective Date
ASU 2014-09,
Revenue from
Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606)

Replaces existing revenue recognition
guidance with a five-step model and
additional financial statement disclosures.

The Company’s implementation plan included analyzing
customer contracts and historical accounting policies, drafting
new accounting policies and making changes to business
processes and controls. Throughout the implementation process,
the Company closely monitored FASB activities and worked
with various non-authoritative groups to conclude on specific
interpretative issues. The Company has concluded that adopting
the new standard will not materially impact its consolidated
financial statements, but will require additional disclosures. The
Company will adopt the guidance using the modified
retrospective method.

January 1, 2018

ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842)

Requires lessees to recognize right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases
(except for short-term leases). The standard
also requires additional disclosures to help
financial statement users better understand
the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash
flows arising from lease transactions. A
modified retrospective transition approach is
required with certain practical expedients
available.

The Company continues to perform a comprehensive evaluation
on the impacts of adopting this standard and believes this
standard will primarily result in a material increase in assets and
liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet and will not have a
material impact on its consolidated income statement or
statement of cash flows. The Company is in the process of
implementing lease administration software and assessing the
impact to our systems, processes and internal controls.

January 1, 2019
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The Company considered the recently issued accounting pronouncements summarized as follows, none of which are expected to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements:

Standard Description Effective Date
ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to
Accounting for Hedging Activities

Eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and
generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be
presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item.

January 1, 2019

ASU 2017-09, Compensation - Stock
Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting

Clarifies that modification accounting is required only if there is a change in the fair value,
vesting conditions, or classification (as equity or liability) of a share-based payment award
due to changes in the terms or conditions.

January 1, 2018

ASU 2017-07, Compensation-Retirement
Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost
and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit
Cost

Requires the service cost component of net periodic benefit cost to be recorded in the same
income statement line item as other employee compensation costs arising from services
rendered during the period. Other components of the net periodic benefit cost must be
presented separately outside of operating income.

January 1, 2018

ASU 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and
Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test
for Goodwill Impairment

Eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a
goodwill impairment charge. Instead, entities will record an impairment charge based on the
excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value.

January 1, 2020

ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows
(Topic 230): Restricted Cash

Requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of
cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash
equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents should now be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the
beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows.

January 1, 2018

ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other
Than Inventory

Requires companies to recognize the income tax effects of intercompany sales and transfers
of assets other than inventory in the period in which the transfer occurs.

January 1, 2018

ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows
(Topic 230): Classification of Certain
Cash Receipts and Cash Payments

Provide guidance on eight specific cash flow issues, thereby reducing diversity in practice. January 1, 2018

4. Acquisitions and Divestitures

AMI Acquisition

In 2016, the Company acquired the North American fuel and brake business of AMI Industries (the “AMI Business”) for cash consideration of
$32,000 (the “AMI Acquisition”). This acquisition directly aligns with the Company’s growth strategy by expanding the Company’s fuel and brake business.
The results of operations of the AMI Business are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, August 15, 2016,
and reported within the North America segment. The pro forma effect of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any
periods presented, and as a result no pro forma information has been presented. This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, resulting in the
recognition of intangible assets of $19,410 and goodwill of $7,175. See Note 7. “Goodwill and Intangibles” for additional information. On January 31, 2018,
the Company finalized its purchase of the China fuel and brake business of AMI Industries for cash consideration of $4,124.

Shenya Acquisition

In the first quarter of 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of an additional 47.5% of Huayu-Cooper Standard Sealing Systems Co.
(“Shenya”), increasing its ownership to 95%, for cash consideration of $59,320, of which $41,474 was paid in 2015 and $17,846 was paid in 2014. The
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The business acquired in the transaction is included in the Company’s Asia Pacific segment and is
operated from Shenya’s manufacturing locations in China. Shenya primarily supplies sealing systems and components to the automotive industry. This
acquisition is directly aligned with the Company’s growth strategy by strengthening important customer relationships in the automotive sealing systems
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market. The results of operations of Shenya are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, February 27, 2015.
The pro forma effect of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any periods presented, and as a result no pro forma
information has been presented. Prior to the acquisition, the Company held a 47.5% unconsolidated equity interest in Shenya. The estimated fair value of the
equity interest at the date of acquisition was $41,378, resulting in a gain of $14,199 recorded in other (expense) income, net for the year ended December 31,
2015. The fair value of the Company’s previous 47.5% equity interest, 47.5% purchased and 5% noncontrolling interest in Shenya were estimated using
income and market approaches based on financial analysis methodologies (including the discounted cash flow analysis), projected financial information,
management’s estimates, available information, and reasonable and supportable assumptions. These fair value measurements are classified within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of Shenya assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition, updated as of
December 31, 2015:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,079
Accounts receivable 24,197
Inventories 12,708
Prepaid expenses 11,624
Other current assets 23,396
Property, plant, and equipment 70,082
Goodwill 19,812
Intangibles 15,340
Other assets 14,834

Total assets acquired 199,072
Debt payable within one year 19,164
Accounts payable 45,159
Other current liabilities 15,877
Other liabilities 9,005

Total liabilities assumed 89,205
Noncontrolling interest 9,386

Net assets acquired including noncontrolling interest $ 100,481

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, other current assets, accounts payable and other current liabilities were stated at
historical carrying values, which management believes approximates fair value given the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. Inventories were
recorded at fair value which is estimated for finished goods and work-in-process based upon the expected selling price less costs to complete, selling, and
disposal costs, and a normal profit margin. Raw material inventory was recorded at historical carrying value as such value approximates the replacement cost.
Deferred income taxes have been provided in the consolidated balance sheet based on the Company’s estimates of the tax versus book basis of the estimated
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company has estimated the fair value of property, plant and equipment, intangibles, certain
other assets, certain liabilities and noncontrolling interest based upon third party valuations, management’s estimates, available information and reasonable
and supportable assumptions. Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition price over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

In the second quarter of 2016, the Company acquired a business in furtherance of the Company’s Shenya operations. The total purchase price of the
acquisition was $5,478. The Company recognized $2,972 of goodwill as a result of this acquisition.

In the third quarter of 2016, the Company obtained control of its 51%-owned joint venture, Shenya Sealing (Guangzhou) Company Limited
(“Guangzhou”) through an amendment of the joint venture governing document. This joint venture was previously accounted for as an investment under the
equity method. The results of operations of Guangzhou are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of consolidation,
August 4, 2016, and reported within the Asia Pacific segment. Business combination accounting was completed, resulting in the recognition of intangible
assets of $6,605 and goodwill of $9,741. See Note 7. “Goodwill and Intangibles” for additional information. There was no gain or loss recognized on the
remeasurement of the Company’s equity method investment in Guangzhou.
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Divestitures

In 2015, the Company completed the sale of its hard coat plastic exterior trim business, a non-core operation, to allow the Company to focus
resources on its core product groups. The Company received proceeds of $33,500 and recognized a gain of $8,033, which is recorded in other operating loss
(profit) in the consolidated statement of net income for the year ended December 31, 2015. This divestiture did not meet the discontinued operations criteria.

Subsequent Event

On February 7, 2018, the Company agreed to purchase the remaining 49% equity interest of Cooper-Standard INOAC Pte. Ltd., a fluid transfer
systems joint venture, at a purchase price of $2,450.

5. Restructuring
On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its business and objectives to ensure that it is properly configured and sized based on changing market

conditions. Accordingly, the Company has implemented several restructuring initiatives, including closure or consolidation of facilities throughout the
world and the reorganization of its operating structure.

In January 2015, the Company announced its intention to further restructure its European manufacturing footprint based on anticipated market
demands. This initiative will be substantially complete by December 31, 2018. The estimated cost of this initiative is $119,000 to $124,000, of which
approximately $108,000 has been incurred to date. We expect to incur total employee separation costs of approximately $61,000 to $64,000, other related
exit costs of approximately $57,000 to $59,000 and non-cash asset impairments related to restructuring activities of approximately $500.

The Company’s restructuring charges consist of severance, retention and outplacement services, and severance-related postemployment benefits
(collectively, “employee separation costs”), other related exit costs and asset impairments related to restructuring activities.

Restructuring expense by segment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
North America $ 5,963  $ 1,680  $ 5,232
Europe 25,862  42,008  47,868
Asia Pacific 2,324  2,343  744
South America 988  —  —
Total $ 35,137  $ 46,031  $ 53,844

Restructuring activity for all restructuring initiatives for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

 
Employee Separation

Costs  Other Exit Costs  Total
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 32,707  $ 1,768  $ 34,475
Expense 18,017  28,014  46,031
Cash payments (28,665)  (27,434)  (56,099)
Foreign exchange translation and other (132)  (37)  (169)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 21,927  $ 2,311  $ 24,238
Expense 16,245  18,892  35,137
Cash payments (25,077)  (14,473)  (39,550)
Foreign exchange translation and other 1,996  514  2,510
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 15,091  $ 7,244  $ 22,335
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:
 

  December 31,   Estimated
 2017  2016   Useful Lives
Land and improvements $ 73,419  $ 71,002   10 to 25 years
Buildings and improvements 305,231  265,824   10 to 40 years
Machinery and equipment 1,022,279  864,337   5 to 10 years
Construction in progress 198,358  153,924   
 $ 1,599,287  $ 1,355,087   
Accumulated depreciation (647,109)  (522,818)   
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 952,178  $ 832,269   

    
Due to the deterioration of financial results and equipment no longer being utilized at certain locations, the Company impaired property, plant and

equipment of $10,493, $1,273, and $13,630, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Fair value of buildings and machinery and
equipment was determined using market value and estimated salvage value, respectively, which was deemed the highest and best use of the assets. Further,
due to the Company’s decision to divest two of its inactive European sites, the Company recorded impairment charges of $4,270 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Fair value was determined based on current real estate market conditions. A summary of these asset impairment charges is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
North America $ 1,895  $ —  $ —
Europe 6,327  —  2,285
Asia Pacific 6,541  1,273  —
South America —  —  11,345
Total $ 14,763  $ 1,273  $ 13,630

7. Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 

 North America  Europe  Asia Pacific  Total
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 114,109  $ 11,056  $ 24,054  $ 149,219
Acquisitions 7,175  —  2,972  10,147
Consolidation of joint venture —  —  9,741  9,741
Foreign exchange translation 712  (303)  (2,075)  (1,666)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 121,996  $ 10,753  $ 34,692  $ 167,441
Acquisitions 178  236  —  414
Foreign exchange translation 221  1,465  2,311  3,997
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 122,395  $ 12,454  $ 37,003  $ 171,852
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Intangible Assets
Intangible assets and accumulated amortization balances as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net Carrying Amount

Customer relationships $ 135,927  $ (86,342)  $ 49,585
Developed technology 2,893  (2,893)  —
Other 22,298  (2,792)  19,506
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 161,118  $ (92,027)  $ 69,091

      

Customer relationships $ 134,918  $ (73,088)  $ 61,830
Developed technology 8,762  (8,386)  376
Other 20,965  (1,808)  19,157
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 164,645  $ (83,282)  $ 81,363

In 2016, the Company acquired intangible assets of $19,410 in conjunction with the AMI Acquisition. These consisted of $19,000 related to
customer relationships and $410 related to patents with weighted average amortization periods of 12 and 15 years, respectively.

Also in 2016, the Company recorded intangible assets of $6,605 in conjunction with the consolidation of Guangzhou. These consisted of $1,313
related to customer relationships and $5,292 related to land-use right with weighted average amortization periods of approximately 7 and 45 years,
respectively.

In 2015, the Company acquired intangible assets of $15,340 as a result of the Shenya acquisition. These consisted of $5,110 of customer
relationships, $180 of patents and $10,050 of land-use rights with weighted average amortization periods of approximately 15, 3 and 30 years, respectively.

In 2015, the customer relationship intangible asset related to the Company’s South America segment was determined to be fully impaired as a result
of the deterioration of the economic conditions in the region, resulting in an impairment charge of $7,981. Fair value was determined using the excess
earnings method, based on the reporting unit’s cash flow expectations and consideration of the discount rate.

Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is shown in the table below:
                 

Year     Expense    
2018  $ 13,598
2019  13,572
2020  7,580
2021  3,316
2022  3,316

8. Debt
A summary of outstanding debt as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

 December 31,
 2017  2016
Senior Notes $ 393,684  $ 393,060
Term Loan 330,781  332,827
Other borrowings 33,781  37,032
Total debt $ 758,246  $ 762,919
Less current portion (34,921)  (33,439)
Total long-term debt $ 723,325  $ 729,480
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The principal maturities of debt, at nominal value, as of December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Year  
Debt and Capital Lease

Obligations
2018  $ 35,964
2019  3,997
2020  3,810
2021  3,596
2022  3,414
Thereafter  719,600
Total  $ 770,381

5.625% Senior Notes due 2026

On November 2, 2016, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, CSA U.S. (the “Issuer”), issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of its 5.625%
Senior Notes due 2026 (the “Senior Notes”), pursuant to the Indenture, dated November 2, 2016 (the “Indenture”), by and among the Issuer, the Company and
the other guarantors party thereto (collectively, the “Guarantors”) and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, in a transaction exempt from registration
under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933 (“the Securities Act”). The net proceeds from the Senior Notes were used to repay the non-
extended term loan outstanding under the Term Loan Facility, defined below, and to pay fees and expenses related to the refinancing.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company, CS Intermediate HoldCo 1 LLC, as well as each of the Issuer’s wholly-owned existing or
subsequently organized U.S. subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions, to the extent such subsidiary guarantees the senior asset-based revolving credit
facility (“ABL Facility”) and the senior term loan facility (“Term Loan Facility”).

The Issuer may redeem all or part of the Senior Notes at various points in time prior to maturity, as described in the Indenture. The Senior Notes
mature on November 15, 2026. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears in cash on May 15 and November 15 of each year.

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a Change of Control (as defined in the Indenture), the Issuer will be required to make an offer to
repurchase all of the Senior Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

The Indenture contains certain covenants that limit the Issuer’s and its subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, make restricted payments; sell
assets; create or incur liens; enter into sale and lease-back transactions; and merge or consolidate with other entities. These covenants are subject to a number
of important limitations and exceptions. The Indenture also provides for events of default, which, if any occur, would permit or require the principal,
premium, if any, interest and any other monetary obligations on all the then-outstanding Senior Notes to be due and payable immediately.

The Company paid approximately $7,055 of debt issuance costs in connection with the transaction. The debt issuance costs are being amortized into
interest expense over the term of the Senior Notes. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had $6,316 and $6,940, respectively, of unamortized
debt issuance costs related to the Senior Notes, which is classified as a discount in the consolidated balance sheet.

ABL Facility

On November 2, 2016, CS Intermediate Holdco 1 LLC (“Parent”), CSA U.S. (the “U.S. Borrower”), Cooper-Standard Automotive Canada Limited (the
“Canadian Borrower”), Cooper-Standard Automotive International Holdings B.V. (the “Dutch Borrower”, and, together with the U.S. Borrower and the
Canadian Borrower, the “Borrowers”) and certain subsidiaries of the U.S. Borrower, entered into a $210,000 Third Amended and Restated Loan Agreement
with certain lenders, which amended and restated the previous $180,000 senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility, dated as of April 4, 2014, among
the Company, the U.S. Borrower, the Canadian Borrower, the lenders and other parties thereto.

The ABL Facility provides for an aggregate revolving loan availability of up to $210,000, subject to borrowing base availability, including a
$100,000 letter of credit sub-facility and a $25,000 swing line sub-facility. The ABL Facility also provides for an uncommitted $100,000 incremental loan
facility, for a potential total ABL Facility of $310,000 (if requested by the Borrowers and the lenders agree to fund such increase). No consent of any lender
(other than those participating in the increase) is required to effect any such increase. On December 31, 2017, there were no borrowings under the ABL
Facility, and subject to borrowing base availability, the Company had $206,935 in availability, less outstanding letters of credit of $8,542.
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Maturity. Any borrowings under our ABL Facility will mature, and the commitments of the lenders under our ABL Facility will terminate, on
November 2, 2021.

Borrowing Base. Loan and letter of credit availability under the ABL Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is limited to the lesser
of: (A) the maximum facility amount (subject to certain adjustments) and (B) (i) up to 85% of eligible accounts receivable; plus (ii) the lesser of 70% of
eligible inventory or 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory; plus (iii) up to the lesser of $30.0 million and 75% of eligible
tooling accounts receivable; minus reserves established by the Agent. The accounts receivable portion of the borrowing base is subject to certain formulaic
limitations (including concentration limits). The inventory portion of the borrowing base is limited to eligible inventory, as determined by the Agent. The
borrowing base is also subject to certain reserves, which are established by the Agent (which may include changes to the advance rates indicated above).
Loan availability under the ABL Facility is apportioned as follows: $170,000 to the U.S. Borrower., which includes a $60,000 sublimit to the Dutch Borrower
and $40,000 to the Canadian Borrower.

Guarantees; Security. The obligations of the U.S. Borrower, the Canadian Borrower and the Dutch Borrower under the ABL Facility, as well as certain
cash management arrangements and interest rate, foreign currency or commodity swaps entered into by the such Borrowers and their subsidiaries, and certain
credit lines entered into by non-U.S. subsidiaries, in each case with the lenders and their affiliates (collectively, “Additional ABL Secured Obligations”) are
guaranteed on a senior secured basis by the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries (with certain exceptions), and the obligations of the Canadian Borrower under
the ABL Facility and Additional ABL Secured Obligations of the Canadian Borrower and its Canadian subsidiaries are, in addition, guaranteed on a senior
secured basis by the Canadian subsidiaries of the Canadian Borrower. The obligations under the ABL Facility and related guarantees are secured by (1) a first
priority lien on all of each Borrower’s and each guarantor’s existing and future personal property consisting of accounts receivable, payment intangibles,
inventory, documents, instruments, chattel paper and investment property, certain money, deposit accounts and securities accounts and certain related assets
and proceeds of the foregoing, with various enumerated exceptions, including that: (i) the collateral owned by Canadian Borrower or any of its Canadian
subsidiaries that are Guarantors only secure the obligations of Canadian Borrower and such subsidiaries arising under the ABL Facility and Additional ABL
Secured Obligations and (ii) no liens have been granted on any assets or properties of the Dutch Borrower or any other non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company
(other than the Canadian Borrower and Canadian Guarantors, as otherwise specified above) in connection with the ABL Facility and (2) a second priority lien
on all the capital stock in restricted subsidiaries directly held by the U.S. Borrower and each of the U.S. Guarantors, and equipment of the U.S. Borrower and
the U.S.-domiciled guarantors and all other material personal property of the U.S. Borrower and the U.S.-domiciled guarantors.

Interest. Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Borrowers’ option:
• in the case of borrowings by the U.S. Borrower, LIBOR or the base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin; or
• in the case of borrowings by the Canadian Borrower, bankers’ acceptance (“BA”) rate, Canadian prime rate or Canadian base rate plus, in each case,

an applicable margin; or
• in the case of borrowings by the Dutch Borrower, LIBOR plus an applicable margin.

The initial applicable margin was 1.50% with respect to the LIBOR or Canadian BA rate-based borrowings and 0.50% with respect to U.S. base rate,
Canadian prime rate and Canadian base rate borrowings, until April 1, 2017. The applicable margin may vary between 1.25% and 1.75% with respect to the
LIBOR or Canadian BA rate-based borrowings and between 0.25% and 0.75% with respect to U.S. base rate, Canadian prime rate and Canadian base rate
borrowings. The applicable margin is subject, in each case, to quarterly pricing adjustments (based on average facility availability).

Fees. The Borrowers are required to pay a fee in respect of committed but unutilized commitments. The ABL Facility also requires the payment of
customary agency and administrative fees.

Voluntary Prepayments. The Borrowers are able to voluntarily reduce the unutilized portion of the commitment amount and repay outstanding loans,
in each case, in whole or in part, at any time without premium or penalty (other than customary breakage and related reemployment costs with respect to
repayments of LIBOR-based borrowings).

Covenants; Events of Default. The ABL Facility includes affirmative and negative covenants that will impose substantial restrictions on the
Company’s financial and business operations, including its ability to incur and secure debt, make investments, sell assets, pay dividends or make
acquisitions. The ABL Facility also includes a requirement to maintain a monthly fixed charge coverage ratio of no less than 1.0 to 1.0 when availability
under the ABL Facility is less than specified levels. The ABL Facility also contains various events of default that are customary for comparable facilities.

Debt Issuance Costs. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had $1,373 and $1,706, respectively, of unamortized debt issuance costs
related to the ABL Facility.
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Term Loan Facility

On November 2, 2016, CSA U.S., as borrower, entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Term Loan Facility. On May 2, 2017, the Company entered into
Amendment No. 2 to the Term Loan Facility to modify the interest rate. In accordance with this amendment, borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear
interest, at the Company’s option, at either (1) with respect to Eurodollar rate loans, the greater of the applicable Eurodollar rate and 0.75%, plus 2.25% per
annum, or (2) with respect to base rate loans, the base rate (which is the highest of the then-current federal funds rate plus 0.5%, the prime rate most recently
announced by the administrative agent under the term loan, and the one-month Eurodollar rate plus 1.0%), plus 1.25% per annum. As a result of the
amendment, the Company recognized a loss on refinancing and extinguishment of debt of $1,020 in the second quarter of 2017, which was due to the partial
write off of new and unamortized debt issuance costs and unamortized original issue discount.

The Term Loan Facility provides for loans in an aggregate principal amount of $340,000. Subject to certain conditions, the Term Loan Facility,
without the consent of the then-existing lenders (but subject to the receipt of commitments), may be expanded (or a new term loan or revolving facility
added) by an amount that will not cause the consolidated secured net debt ratio to exceed 2.25 to 1.00 plus $400,000 plus any voluntary prepayments
(including revolving facility and ABL Facility to the extent commitments are reduced) not funded from proceeds of long-term indebtedness.

Maturity. The Term Loan Facility matures on November 2, 2023, unless earlier terminated.

Guarantees. All obligations of the borrower under the Term Loan Facility are guaranteed jointly and severally on a senior secured basis by the direct
parent company of the borrower and each existing and subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly owned U.S. restricted subsidiary of the
borrower.

Security. The obligations under the Term Loan Facility are secured by (a) a first priority security interest (subject to permitted liens and other
customary exceptions) on (i) all the capital stock in restricted subsidiaries directly held by the borrower and each of the guarantors, (ii) substantially all plant,
material owned real property located in the U.S. and equipment of the borrower and the guarantors and (iii) all other personal property of the borrower and the
guarantors, including, without limitation, accounts and investment property, contracts, patents, copyrights, trademarks, other general intangibles,
intercompany notes and proceeds of the foregoing, and (b) a second priority security interest (subject to permitted liens and other customary exceptions) in
accounts receivable of the borrowers and the guarantors arising from the sale of goods and services, inventory, tax refunds, cash, deposit accounts and books
and records related to the foregoing and, in each case, proceeds thereof, in each case, excluding certain collateral and subject to certain limitations.

Interest. Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either (1) with respect to Eurodollar rate loans, the
greater of the applicable Eurodollar rate and 0.75%, plus 2.25% per annum, or (2) with respect to base rate loans, the base rate (which is the highest of the
then-current federal funds rate plus 0.5%, the prime rate most recently announced by the administrative agent under the term loan, and the one-month
Eurodollar rate plus 1.0%), plus 1.25% per annum.

Voluntary Prepayments. The borrower may voluntarily prepay loans in whole or in part, with prior notice and without premium or penalty, subject to
the actual LIBOR breakage costs, payment of accrued and unpaid interest, and customary limitations as to minimum amounts of prepayments.

Covenants. The Term Loan Facility contains incurrence-based negative covenants customary for high yield senior secured debt securities, including,
but not limited to, restrictions on the ability of the borrower and its restricted subsidiaries to merge and consolidate with other companies, incur indebtedness,
grant liens or security interests on assets, pay dividends or make other restricted payments, sell or otherwise transfer assets, or enter into transactions with
affiliates. These negative covenants are subject to exceptions, qualifications and certain carveouts.

Events of Default. The Term Loan Facility provides that, upon the occurrence of certain events of default, obligations thereunder may be accelerated.
Such events of default include payment defaults to the lenders, material inaccuracies of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, cross-defaults to
other material indebtedness, voluntary and involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, material money judgments, material pension-plan events, certain change of
control events and other customary events of default.

Debt Issuance Costs. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had $3,537 and $4,352, respectively, of unamortized debt issuance costs and
$2,281 and $2,821, respectively, of unamortized original issue discount related to the Term Loan Facility. Both the debt issuance costs and the original issue
discount are amortized into interest expense over the term of the Term Loan Facility.
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Debt Covenants 

The Company was in compliance with all covenants of the ABL Facility, Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes, as of December 31, 2017.

Repayment of the Term Loan Facility 

On November 2, 2016, the Company repaid the non-extended term loan outstanding under the Term Loan Facility of $393,125. As a result of the
repayment, the Company recognized a loss on refinancing of $5,104, of which $4,071 was paid in cash, which was primarily due to the write off of
unamortized original issue discount and debt issuance costs.

Other

Other borrowings as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 reflect borrowings under capital leases, local bank lines and accounts receivable factoring sold
in on-balance sheet arrangements classified in debt payable within one year on the consolidated balance sheet.

9. Fair Value Measurements and Financial Instruments

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based upon assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, a three-tier fair value hierarchy is utilized, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Estimates of the fair value of foreign currency and interest rate derivative instruments are determined using exchange traded prices and rates. The
Company also considers the risk of non-performance in the estimation of fair value, and includes an adjustment for non-performance risk in the measure of
fair value of derivative instruments. In certain instances where market data is not available, the Company uses management judgment to develop assumptions
that are used to determine fair value. Fair value measurements and the fair value hierarchy level for the Company’s liabilities measured or disclosed at fair
value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, was as follows:

  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016  Input
Forward foreign exchange contracts - other current assets  $ 761  $ 764  Level 2
Forward foreign exchange contracts - accrued liabilities  (2,363)  (535)  Level 2
Interest rate swaps - accrued liabilities  (515)  (2,458)  Level 2
Interest rate swaps - other liabilities  —  (661)  Level 2

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
In addition to items that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a

nonrecurring basis, which are not included in the table above. As these nonrecurring fair value measurements are generally determined using unobservable
inputs, these fair value measurements are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. For further information on assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a nonrecurring basis see Note 2. “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” Note 4. “Acquisitions and Divestitures” and Note 6. “Property,
Plant and Equipment.”
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Items Not Carried At Fair Value

Fair values of the Company’s debt instruments were as follows:

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016

Aggregate fair value $ 749,463  $ 735,850
Aggregate carrying value (1) 736,600  740,000

(1) Excludes unamortized debt issuance costs and unamortized original issue discount.

Fair values were based on quoted market prices and are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. The Company enters into derivative
instruments primarily to hedge portions of its forecasted foreign currency denominated cash flows and designates these derivative instruments as cash flow
hedges in order to qualify for hedge accounting. Gains or losses on derivative instruments resulting from hedge ineffectiveness are reported in earnings.

The Company formally documents its hedge relationships, including the identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its
risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the cash flow hedges. The Company also formally assesses whether a cash flow hedge is highly
effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item. Derivatives are recorded at fair value in other current assets, other assets, accrued
liabilities and other long-term liabilities. For a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) in the consolidated balance sheet and reclassified into earnings when the underlying hedged transaction is
realized. The realized gains and losses are recorded on the same line as the hedged transaction in the consolidated statements of net income.

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by its counterparties on its derivative financial instruments. The Company
mitigates this credit risk exposure by entering into agreements directly with major financial institutions with high credit standards that are expected to fully
satisfy their obligations under the contracts.

Cash Flow Hedges
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts – The Company uses forward contracts to mitigate the potential volatility to earnings and cash flow arising

from changes in currency exchange rates that impact the Company’s foreign currency transactions. The principal currencies hedged by the Company include
various European currencies, the Canadian Dollar, the Mexican Peso, and the Brazilian Real. As of December 31, 2017, the notional amount of these
contracts was $165,559 and consisted of hedges of transactions up to December 2018.

Interest Rate Swaps – The Company uses interest rate swap transactions to manage cash flow variability associated with its variable rate Term Loan
Facility. The interest rate swap contracts, which fix the interest payments of variable rate debt instruments, are used to manage exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates. As of December 31, 2017, the notional amount of these contracts was $150,000 with maturities through September 2018. The fair market value
of all outstanding interest rate swap and other derivative contracts is subject to changes in value due to changes in interest rates.

Pretax amounts related to the Company’s cash flow hedges that were recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) were as follows:

 Gain (Loss) Recognized in OCI
 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016

Forward foreign exchange contracts $ 814  $ (3,295)
Interest rate swaps 198  (1,638)
Total $ 1,012  $ (4,933)
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Pretax amounts related to the Company’s cash flow hedges that were reclassified from AOCI were as follows:

   

Gain (Loss) Reclassified from
AOCI to Income (Effective

Portion)  

Gain (Loss) Reclassified from
AOCI to Income (Ineffective

Portion)
   Year Ended December 31,

 Classification  2017  2016  2017  2016

Forward foreign exchange contracts Cost of products sold  $ 2,687  $ (2,678)  $ —  $ —
Interest rate swaps Interest expense, net of interest income  (2,398)  (3,188)  353  (562)
Total   $ 289  $ (5,866)  $ 353  $ (562)

The amount of losses to be reclassified from AOCI into income in the next twelve months related to the interest rate swap is expected to be
approximately $515.

10. Accounts Receivable Factoring

As a part of its working capital management, the Company previously sold certain receivables through third party financial institutions in on- and off-
balance sheet arrangements. In December 2017, the Company completed the transition from multiple factoring providers to a pan-European program under a
single third party financial institution (the “Factor”). The amount sold varies each month based on the amount of underlying receivables and cash flow needs
of the Company. These are permitted transactions under the Company’s credit agreements governing the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility and the
indenture governing the Senior Notes. Costs incurred on the sale of receivables are recorded in other expense, net and interest expense, net of interest income
in the consolidated statements of net income. The sale of receivables under this contract is considered an off-balance sheet arrangement to the Company and
is accounted for as a true sale and is excluded from accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheet. Receivables sold prior to December 2017 that were
considered on-balance sheet arrangements were accounted for as secured borrowings and were recorded in debt payable within one year.

Amounts outstanding under receivable transfer agreements entered into by various locations as of the period end were as follows:

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
Off-balance sheet arrangements $ 96,588  $ 56,936
On-balance sheet arrangements $ —  $ 5,258

Accounts receivable factored and related costs throughout the period were as follows:

 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  On-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 Year Ended December 31,  Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2017  2016

Accounts receivable factored $ 544,060  $ 507,321  $ 23,794  $ 24,053

 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  On-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 Year Ended December 31,  Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2017  2016  2015

Costs $ 1,904  $ 1,575  $ 2,144  $ 99  $ 257  $ 179

The Company continues to service sold receivables and acts as collection agent for the Factor. As of December 31, 2017, cash collections on behalf of
the Factor that have yet to be remitted were $36,248 and are reflected in cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet.

11. Pension
The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans covering employees located in the United States as well as certain international locations. The

majority of these plans are frozen, and all are closed to new employees. Benefits generally are based
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on compensation, length of service and age for salaried employees and on length of service for hourly employees. The Company’s policy is to fund pension
plans such that sufficient assets will be available to meet future benefit requirements and contribute amounts deductible for United States federal income tax
purposes or amounts required by local statute.

The Company also sponsors voluntary defined contribution plans for certain salaried and hourly U.S. employees of the Company. The Company
matches contributions of participants, up to various limits in all plans. The Company also sponsors retirement plans that include Company non-elective
contributions. Non-elective and matching contributions under these plans totaled $16,747, $16,581 and $16,296 for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

Information related to the Company’s defined benefit pension plans was as follows:
 

  Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Change in projected benefit obligation:        

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of period $ 303,446  $ 191,184  $ 306,760  $ 179,896
Service cost 814  4,025  807  3,346
Interest cost 11,700  4,341  12,580  5,041
Actuarial loss 17,230  4,450  3,633  17,582
Benefits paid (17,492)  (7,048)  (20,334)  (7,735)
Foreign exchange translation —  20,809  —  (5,085)
Settlements —  (20,667)  —  (1,950)
Other —  75  —  89
Projected benefit obligations at end of period $ 315,698  $ 197,169  $ 303,446  $ 191,184

        

Change in plan assets:        
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 253,483  $ 63,220  $ 248,387  $ 64,940
Actual return on plan assets 35,233  5,039  18,109  2,560
Employer contributions 4,543  7,238  7,321  6,969
Benefits paid (17,492)  (7,048)  (20,334)  (7,735)
Foreign exchange translation —  4,008  —  (1,753)
Settlements —  (20,431)  —  (1,761)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period $ 275,767  $ 52,026  $ 253,483  $ 63,220

        

Funded status of the plans $ (39,931)  $ (145,143)  $ (49,963)  $ (127,964)

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:        

Other assets $ —  $ 405  $ —  $ —
Accrued liabilities (1,011)  (4,295)  (1,030)  (3,947)
Pension benefits (long term) (38,920)  (141,253)  (48,933)  (124,017)
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Pre-tax amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit (income) cost as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.

Prior service costs $ (136)  $ (1,206)  $ (156)  $ (1,273)
Actuarial losses $ (74,711)  $ (48,491)  $ (78,552)  $ (49,862)

Pre-tax amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that are expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the year
ended December 31, 2018 are as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.

Prior service costs $ (20)  $ (240)
Actuarial losses $ (2,383)  $ (2,553)

The Company uses the corridor approach when amortizing actuarial gains or losses. Under the corridor approach, net unrecognized actuarial losses in
excess of 10% of the greater of i) the projected benefit obligation or ii) the fair value of plan assets are amortized over future periods. 
 

The accumulated benefit obligation for all domestic and international defined benefit pension plans was $315,698 and $185,179 as of December 31,
2017 and $303,446 and $179,854 as of December 31, 2016, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of plan assets for one of the Company’s
defined benefit plans exceeded the projected benefit obligation of $21,993 by $405.

The components of net periodic benefit (income) cost for the Company’s defined benefit plans were as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Service cost $ 814  $ 4,025  $ 807  $ 3,346  $ 926  $ 3,489
Interest cost 11,700  4,341  12,580  5,041  12,334  5,084
Expected return on plan assets (16,012)  (2,617)  (15,835)  (3,133)  (17,685)  (3,373)
Amortization of prior service cost and
actuarial loss 1,871  2,898  1,714  2,186  1,110  2,666
Settlements —  6,427  —  538  —  132
Other —  —  —  —  —  221
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ (1,627)  $ 15,074  $ (734)  $ 7,978  $ (3,315)  $ 8,219

U.K. Pension Settlement

During 2016, the Company undertook an initiative to de-risk pension obligations in the U.K. by purchasing a bulk annuity policy designed to match
the liabilities of the plan, and subsequently entered into a wind-up process. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company completed the wind-up
process, resulting in a non-cash settlement charge of $5,717 and administrative expenses of $185, both of which are recorded in selling, administration &
engineering expenses in the consolidated statements of net income. As a result of the settlement, the Company’s overall projected benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2016 was reduced by $17,100.

Plan Assumptions

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 

 2017  2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.55%  2.17%  3.99%  2.23%
Rate of compensation increase N/A  3.17%  N/A  3.15%
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

 2017  2016  2015
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.99%  2.23%  4.24%  2.80%  3.94%  2.66%
Expected return on plan assets 6.60%  5.94%  6.60%  4.39%  6.70%  4.80%
Rate of compensation increase N/A  3.15%  N/A  3.15%  N/A  3.11%

To develop the expected return on assets assumption, the Company considered the historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each
asset class, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio. As the U.S. plans are frozen, the rate of compensation increase was not applicable in
determining net periodic benefit cost.

Plan Assets
The goals and investment objectives of the asset strategy are to ensure that there is an adequate level of assets to meet benefit obligations to

participants and retirees over the life of the participants and maintain liquidity in the plan assets sufficient to cover monthly benefit obligations. Risk is
managed by investing in a broad range of investment vehicles, e.g., equity mutual funds, bond mutual funds, real estate mutual funds, hedge funds, etc. There
are no equity securities of the Company in the equity asset category.

Investments in equity securities and debt securities are valued at fair value using a market approach and observable inputs, such as quoted market
prices in active markets (Level 1). Investments in balanced funds are valued at fair value using a market approach and inputs that are primarily directly or
indirectly observable (Level 2). Investments in equity securities and balanced funds in which the Company holds participation units in a fund, the net asset
value of which is based on the underlying assets and liabilities of the respective fund, are considered an unobservable input (Level 3). Investments in real
estate funds are primarily valued at net asset value depending on the investment.

The fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets by category using the three-level hierarchy (see Note 9. “Fair Value Measurements and Financial
Instruments”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

2017  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Equity funds  $ 41,080  $ 22,419  $ —  $ 63,499
Equity funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  76,405
Bond funds  34,997  29,607  —  64,604
Bond funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  69,823
Real estate measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  15,656
Hedge funds  3,603  —  110  3,713
Hedge funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  29,195
Insurance contracts  —  —  —  —
Cash and cash equivalents  4,898  —  —  4,898
Total  $ 84,578  $ 52,026  $ 110  $ 327,793
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2016  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Equity funds  $ 36,710  $ 18,531  $ —  $ 55,241
Equity funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  76,961
Bond funds  35,339  28,070  —  63,409
Bond funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  47,123
Real estate measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  14,472
Hedge funds  339  —  341  680
Hedge funds measured at net asset value (1)  —  —  —  30,676
Insurance contracts  —  —  16,113  16,113
Cash and cash equivalents  12,028  —  —  12,028
Total  $ 84,416  $ 46,601  $ 16,454  $ 316,703

(1) In accordance with ASC 820, investments measured at fair value using the net asset value (“NAV”) practical expedient are excluded from the fair value
hierarchy. These fair value amounts are presented in this table to allow for reconciliation to the fair value of plan assets presented within the statement of
financial position.

The reconciliation for which Level 3 inputs were used in determining fair value is as follows:

Beginning balance of assets classified as Level 3 as of January 1, 2016 $ 4,709
Purchases, sales and settlements, net (4,380)
Total gain 12
Transfers into (out of) Level 3 16,113
Ending balance of assets classified as Level 3 as of December 31, 2016 $ 16,454
Purchases, sales and settlements, net (16,348)
Total gain 4
Transfers into (out of) Level 3 —
Ending balance of assets classified as Level 3 as of December 31, 2017 $ 110

Expected Future Benefit Payments

The Company estimates its benefit payments for its domestic and foreign pension plans during the next ten years to be as follows: 

Years Ending December 31,  U.S   Non-U.S   Total
2018 $ 21,183  $ 6,337  $ 27,520
2019 18,893  8,168  27,061
2020 18,875  7,908  26,783
2021 19,035  8,737  27,772
2022 19,236  10,767  30,003
2023-2027 95,413  57,731  153,144

Contributions

The Company estimates it will make minimum funding cash contributions of approximately $8,500 to its U.S. pension plans and funding cash
contributions of approximately $6,210 to its non-U.S. pension plans in 2018.

12. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
The Company provides certain retiree health care and life insurance benefits covering certain U.S. salaried and hourly employees and employees in

Canada. Employees are generally eligible for benefits upon retirement and completion of a specified number of years of creditable service. The Company’s
policy is to fund the cost of these postretirement benefits as these benefits become payable.
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Information related to the Company’s postretirement benefit plans was as follows:
 

  Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Change in benefit obligation:        
Benefit obligations at beginning of year $ 33,877  $ 18,350  $ 33,955  $ 16,455

Service cost 314  423  361  372
Interest cost 1,297  693  1,383  678
Actuarial loss 1,021  4,002  112  926
Benefits paid (1,690)  (651)  (1,939)  (601)
Other 5  —  5  —
Foreign currency exchange rate effect —  1,425  —  520

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 34,824  $ 24,242  $ 33,877  $ 18,350

        

Funded status of the plan $ (34,824)  $ (24,242)  $ (33,877)  $ (18,350)
        

Net amount recognized as of December 31 $ (34,824)  $ (24,242)  $ (33,877)  $ (18,350)

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:        

Accrued liabilities $ (2,098)  $ (634)  $ (2,047)  $ (548)
Postretirement benefits other than pension (long term) (32,726)  (23,608)  (31,830)  (17,803)

Pre-tax amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit (income) cost as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.

Prior service credits $ 676  $ 714  $ 970  $ 940
Actuarial gains (losses) $ 13,930  $ (9,127)  $ 16,572  $ (4,926)

Pre-tax amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that are expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the year
ended December 31, 2018 are as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.

Prior service credits $ 294  $ 292
Actuarial gains (losses) $ 1,378  $ (609)
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The components of net periodic benefit (income) costs for the Company’s other postretirement benefit plans were as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Service cost $ 314  $ 423  $ 361  $ 372  $ 434  $ 380
Interest cost 1,297  693  1,383  678  1,411  678
Amortization of prior service credit and recognized actuarial
gain (1,915)  (15)  (2,026)  (62)  (1,584)  (20)
Other 5  —  5  —  25  —
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ (299)  $ 1,101  $ (277)  $ 988  $ 286  $ 1,038

Plan Assumptions

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 2017  2016
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.55%  3.40%  3.95%  3.70%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:
 

 2017  2016  2015
  U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.
Discount rate 3.95%  3.70%  4.20%  4.00%  3.85%  3.90%

These assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 were as follows:

  U.S.   Non-U.S.

Health care cost trend rate 5.50%  5.00%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.20%  5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2025  2018

The sensitivity to changes in the assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows:

 
Impact on service cost and

interest cost  
Impact on PBO as of
December 31, 2017

1% increase in health care cost trend rate $ 225  $ 4,417
1% decrease in health care cost trend rate $ (178)  $ (3,538)
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Expected Future Postretirement Benefit Payments

The Company estimates its benefit payments for its postretirement benefit plans during the next ten years to be as follows:

 U.S.     Non-U.S.     Total      
2018 $ 2,135  $ 644  $ 2,779
2019 2,220  717  2,937
2020 2,249  766  3,015
2021 2,279  816  3,095
2022 2,304  847  3,151
2023 - 2027 11,352  4,875  16,227

Other

Other postretirement benefits recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets include $5,587 and $4,592 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, for termination indemnity plans for two of the Company’s European locations.

13. Other (Expense) Income, net
The components of other (expense) income, net were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Foreign currency losses $ (7,913)  $ (3,958)  $ (3,379)
Secondary offering underwriting fees —  (5,900)  —
Losses on sales of receivables (931)  (801)  (1,017)
Miscellaneous income (expense) 1,711  —  (44)
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest —  —  14,199
Other (expense) income, net $ (7,133)  $ (10,659)  $ 9,759

14. Income Taxes
Components of the Company’s income before income taxes and adjustment for noncontrolling interests were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Domestic $ 138,477  $ 121,301  $ 117,388
Foreign 74,623  73,459  35,600
 $ 213,100  $ 194,760  $ 152,988

The Company’s income tax expense consists of the following:
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Current      

Federal $ 40,607  $ 22,109  $ 26,240
State 500  1,063  1,218
Foreign 22,344  22,067  16,458

      

Deferred      
Federal 17,594  1,828  6,410
State 419  904  281
Foreign (6,937)  6,350  (9,389)

 $ 74,527  $ 54,321  $ 41,218

67



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory federal rate to the income tax provision was as follows:
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Tax at U.S. statutory rate $ 74,585  $ 68,166  $ 53,546
State and local taxes 1,177  2,564  3,441
Tax credits (11,436)  (10,348)  (8,139)
Changes in tax law, other 7,279  8,813  3,630
U.S. tax reform 33,493  —  —
Effect of foreign tax rates (23,158)  (19,600)  (6,465)
Nonrecurring permanent items (13,947)  —  (11,300)
Capital loss (19,931)  —  —
Outside basis difference 9,562  —  —
Stock compensation (ASU 2016-09) (3,563)  (5,305)  —
Other change in tax reserves 730  116  (368)
Valuation allowance 25,761  9,112  11,638
Other, net (6,025)  803  (4,765)
Income tax provision $ 74,527  $ 54,321  $ 41,218
Effective income tax rate 35.0%  27.9%  26.9%

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted into law. The new tax legislation contains several key tax provisions including
the reduction of the corporate income tax rate to 21% effective January 1, 2018 as well as a variety of other changes including the limitation on the tax
deductibility of interest expense, acceleration of expensing of certain business assets, reductions in the amount of executive pay that could qualify as a tax
deduction, as well as certain foreign related provisions. The Company is currently assessing the overall impact of the enacted tax law on its business and its
consolidated financial statements and has recorded a discrete tax expense of $33,493 related to the transition tax on foreign earnings, the remeasurement of
its deferred tax assets and liabilities for the reduced federal tax rate, and changes to the deductibility of executive compensation in the period ended
December 31, 2017. The Company is required to recognize the effect of tax law changes in the period of enactment. However, on December 22, 2017, the
SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 118 which allows the Company to record provisional amounts and reflect changes to such amounts
through income tax expense during a one year measurement period following enactment. Amounts recorded for the above items are provisional amounts and
as such, the Company will continue to assess the impact of the recently enacted tax law on its business and consolidated financial statements over the
measurement period.

Nonrecurring permanent items in 2017 relate to a worthless security deduction and in 2015 relate to the impact of the gain on the Shenya acquisition
and realized exchange losses. The Company also generated a capital loss in the U.S. during 2017. Capital losses can only be realized to the extent they offset
realized capital gains.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the estimated tax effect of accumulated temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for
tax and financial reporting purposes, as well as net operating losses, tax credit and other carryforwards. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 2017  2016
Deferred tax assets:    

Pension, postretirement and other benefits $ 57,700  $ 78,194
Capitalized expenditures 1,471  1,001
Capital loss carryforward 13,780  —
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 145,528  132,057
All other items 38,205  29,826
Total deferred tax assets 256,684  241,078

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Property, plant and equipment (21,507)  (30,310)
Intangibles (9,665)  (16,210)
All other items (11,834)  (7,623)
Total deferred tax liabilities (43,006)  (54,143)

Valuation allowances (189,355)  (149,757)
Net deferred tax assets $ 24,323  $ 37,178

As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, primarily in France, Brazil, Italy and Germany, have operating loss carryforwards
aggregating $326,000, with indefinite expiration periods. Other foreign subsidiaries in China, Mexico, Netherlands, Spain, India and Korea have operating
losses aggregating $142,000, with expiration dates beginning in 2018. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have capital loss carryforwards totaling
$66,000 with expiration dates beginning in 2021. The Company has tax credit carryforwards totaling $11,700 in Poland with expiration dates beginning in
2024. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have anticipated tax benefits of state net operating losses and credit carryforwards of $11,400 with
expiration dates beginning in 2018.

The Company continues to maintain a valuation allowance related to our net deferred tax assets in several foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31,
2017, the Company had valuation allowances of $189,355 related to tax loss, capital loss, credit carryforwards, and other deferred tax assets in the U.S. and
several foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s valuation allowance increased in 2017 as a result of current year losses with no benefit in certain foreign
jurisdictions. The Company’s current and future provision for income taxes is significantly impacted by the initial recognition of and changes in valuation
allowances in certain countries. The Company intends to maintain these allowances until it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be
realized. The Company’s future provision for income taxes will include no tax benefit with respect to losses incurred and no tax expense with respect to
income generated in these countries until the respective valuation allowance is eliminated.

A liability for U.S. income tax has been recorded on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries in accordance with the enacted U.S. Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act. As a result, all undistributed earnings are now previously taxed income for U.S. tax purposes, although the undistributed earnings may be
subject to withholding taxes upon distribution. The Company has not recorded any deferred taxes for withholding taxes on approximately $608,000 of
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as such amounts are considered indefinitely reinvested. The Company expects to repatriate to the U.S.
approximately $50,000 of foreign earnings with no significant related tax costs in 2018.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had $8,029 ($9,242 including interest and penalties) of total unrecognized tax benefits, all of which
represented the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits was as follows:
 

  
 2017  2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 7,851  $ 7,753
Tax positions related to the current period    

Gross additions 720  516
Gross reductions —  —

Tax positions related to prior years    
Gross additions 92  31
Gross reductions (223)  (70)

Settlements (411)  (379)
Lapses on statutes of limitations —  —
Balance at end of period $ 8,029  $ 7,851

The Company, or one of its subsidiaries, files income tax returns in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service
completed an examination of the Company’s U.S. income tax returns through 2011. The statute of limitations for U.S. state and local jurisdictions is closed
for taxable years ending prior to 2014. The Company’s major foreign jurisdictions are Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, Italy, Mexico, and Poland.
The Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations in major foreign jurisdictions for years prior to 2013.

During the next twelve months, it is reasonably possible that, as a result of audit settlements and the conclusion of current examinations, the
Company may decrease the amount of its gross unrecognized tax benefits by approximately $5,196, all of which, if recognized, would impact the effective
tax rate.

The Company classifies all tax related interest and penalties as income tax expense. The Company has recorded in liabilities $1,213 and $1,042 as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, for tax related interest and penalties on its consolidated balance sheet.
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15. Net Income Per Share Attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.
Basic net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. was computed by dividing net income attributable to Cooper-Standard

Holdings Inc. by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share attributable to
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. was computed using the treasury stock method by dividing diluted net income available to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. by
the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding, including the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, using the average share
price during the period.

Information used to compute basic and diluted net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. was as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 135,303  $ 138,988  $ 111,880
Increase in fair value of share-based awards —  63  48
Diluted net income available to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. common stockholders $ 135,303  $ 139,051  $ 111,928

      

Basic weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 17,781,272  17,459,710  17,212,607
Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents 995,381  1,270,668  1,202,387
Diluted weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 18,776,653  18,730,378  18,414,994

      

Basic net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 7.61  $ 7.96  $ 6.50

      

Diluted net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 7.21  $ 7.42  $ 6.08

Approximately 2,000 securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2017, because the
inclusion of such securities in the calculation would have been anti-dilutive. There were no anti-dilutive securities during the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015.

16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, net of related tax, were as follows:

 

Cumulative
currency

translation
adjustment  

Benefit plan
liabilities  

Fair value change
of derivatives  Total

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ (130,661)  $ (84,124)  $ (2,280)  $ (217,065)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications (12,820) (1) (14,757) (2) (3,676) (3) (31,253)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) —  1,269 (4) 4,486 (5) 5,755

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ (143,481)  $ (97,612)  $ (1,470)  $ (242,563)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications 47,996 (1) (11,000) (6) 784 (7) 37,780
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) —  7,863 (8) (711) (9) 7,152

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ (95,485)  $ (100,749)  $ (1,397)  $ (197,631)

(1) Includes $11,844 and $2,180 of other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, that are related to intra-
entity foreign currency balances that are of a long-term investment nature.

(2) Net of tax benefit of $3,369.
(3) Net of tax benefit of $1,257. See Note 9.
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(4) Includes actuarial losses of $2,084, offset by prior service credits of $329, net of tax of $486. See Note 11. and Note 12.
(5) Net of tax benefit of $1,942. See Note 9.
(6) Net of tax benefit of $788.
(7) Net of tax expense of $228. See Note 9.
(8) Includes losses related to the U.K. pension settlement of $6,288, other settlements of $533, actuarial losses of $3,329, offset by prior service credits

of $326, net of tax of $1,961. See Note 11. and Note 12.
(9) Net of tax benefit of $69. See Note 9.

17. Equity
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 190,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share. As of December 31, 2017, an aggregate of
19,920,805 shares of its common stock were issued, and 17,914,599 shares were outstanding.

Holders of shares of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share on each matter on which holders of common stock are entitled to vote.
Holders of common stock are entitled to ratably receive dividends and other distributions when, as and if declared by the Company’s board of directors out of
assets or funds legally available therefore. The ABL Facility, the Term Loan Facility and the Senior Notes each contain covenants that restrict the Company’s
ability to pay dividends or make distributions on the common stock, subject to certain exceptions.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in the Company
assets, if any, remaining after the payment of all the Company’s debts and liabilities.

Secondary Offering and Share Repurchase

In March 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a securities repurchase program (the “Program”) authorizing the Company to repurchase,
in the aggregate, up to $125,000 of its outstanding common stock or warrants to purchase common stock. Under the Program, repurchases may be made on
the open market or through private transactions, as determined by the Company’s management and in accordance with prevailing market conditions and
federal securities laws and regulations. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company repurchased 513,801 shares at an average purchase price of
$108.87 per share, excluding commissions, for a total cost of $55,935, of which $55,123 was settled in cash as of December 31, 2017.

In March 2016, certain selling stockholders affiliated with Silver Point Capital, L.P., Oak Hill Advisors, L.P. and Capital World Investors (the “Selling
Stockholders”) sold 2,278,031 shares, including overallotments, of the Company’s common stock at a public offering price of $68.00 per share, in a
secondary public offering. Of the 2,278,031 shares sold in the offering, 350,000 shares were purchased by the Company for $23,800. The Company paid the
underwriting discounts and commissions payable on the shares sold by the Selling Stockholders, excluding the shares the Company repurchased, resulting in
$5,900 of fees incurred during 2016, which is included in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statement of net income. The Company also
incurred approximately $600 of other expenses related to legal and audit services which is included in selling, administration & engineering expenses in the
consolidated statement of net income. The Company did not sell or receive any proceeds from the sales of shares by the Selling Stockholders.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had approximately $45,300 of repurchase authorization remaining under the Program.

18. Share-Based Compensation
The Company’s long-term incentive plans allow for the grant of various types of share-based awards to key employees and directors of the Company

and its affiliates. The Company generally awards grants on an annual basis. There are 2,300,000 shares of common stock authorized for awards granted under
the current plan. Under previous plans, a total of 5,873,103 shares were authorized for awards. The plans provide for the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-vested restricted stock units (“PUs”), incentive
awards and certain other types of awards to key employees and directors of the Company and its affiliates.

The Company measures share-based compensation expense at fair value and recognizes such expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period
of the share-based employee awards. The compensation expense related to stock options, restricted stock and performance units granted to key employees
and directors of the Company, which is quantified below, does not represent payments actually made to these employees. Rather, the amounts represent the
non-cash compensation expense recognized by the Company in connection with these awards for financial reporting purposes. The actual value of these
awards

72



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

to the recipients will depend on the trading price of the Company’s stock when the awards vest. In accordance with the Company’s long-term incentive plans,
share-based compensation awards that settle in shares of Company stock may be delivered on a gross settlement basis or a net settlement basis, as determined
by the recipient.

In the second quarter of 2016, the Company early adopted ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting, in which the provisions related to forfeitures were adopted on a modified retrospective basis to record actual
forfeitures as they occur in the consolidated financial statements.

Share-based compensation expense was as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
PUs $ 12,145  $ 12,485  $ 4,899
RSUs 9,183  7,846  6,032
Stock options 3,635  3,701  3,024
Total $ 24,963  $ 24,032  $ 13,955

Stock Options

Stock option awards are granted at the fair market value of the Company’s stock price at the date of the grant and have a 7 or 10 year term. The stock
option grants vest over three, four or five years from the date of grant.

Stock option transactions and related information for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:

 Options     
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Life (Years)  Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Outstanding as of January 1, 2017 748,371  $ 53.24     
Granted 109,431  $ 107.49     
Exercised (273,026)  $ 46.46     
Forfeited (15,920)  $ 72.85     
Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 568,856  $ 67.14  7.6  $ 31,490
Exercisable as of December 31, 2017 316,295  $ 55.20  5.9  $ 21,287

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $33.33, $20.26
and $17.28, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $21,194,
$31,153 and $2,307, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation expense for stock options amounted to $3,702. Such cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of approximately 1.4 years.

The fair value of the options was estimated at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expected volatility was based on
the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The expected option life was calculated using the simplified method. The risk-free rate is based on
the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equal to the expected option life on the date the stock options were granted. The fair value of each option
was estimated using the following assumptions:

 2017  2016  2015
Expected volatility 27.38% - 27.47%  27.58% - 27.70%  27.95% - 28.00%
Dividend yield 0.00%  0.00%  0.00%
Expected option life - years 6.0  6.0  6.0
Risk-free rate 1.9% - 2.1%  1.1% - 1.4%  1.5% - 1.7%
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Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of the restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the closing price of the common stock on the date of grant. The
restricted stock and restricted stock units vest over one, three or four years.

Restricted stock and restricted stock units transactions and related information for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:

 
Restricted Stock and

Restricted Units  
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value
Non-vested as of January 1, 2017 371,559  $ 63.98
Granted 118,562  $ 107.57
Vested (104,608)  $ 67.01
Forfeited (31,466)  $ 71.29
Non-vested as of December 31, 2017 354,047  $ 77.03

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 was $107.57, $70.09 and $56.85, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units vested during the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $7,112, $5,923 and $4,146, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation expense for restricted stock and restricted stock units amounted to $12,301. Such cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.

Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Units

The actual number of performance units that will vest depends on the Company’s achievement of target performance goals related to the Company’s
return on invested capital (“ROIC”) over a three-year period, which may range from 0% to 200% of the target award amount. PUs that are expected to be
settled in shares of the Company’s common stock are accounted for as equity awards, and the fair value is determined based on the closing price of the
common stock on the date of grant. PUs that are expected to be settled in cash are accounted for as liability awards.

A summary of activity for performance-vested restricted stock units transactions and related information for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as
follows:

 Performance Units  
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value
Non-vested as of January 1, 2017 247,967  $ 63.53
Granted 66,514  $ 107.49
Vested (60,286)  $ 66.32
Forfeited (24,302)  $ 69.44
Non-vested as of December 31, 2017 229,893  $ 74.90

The weighted-average grant date fair value of performance units granted during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $107.49,
$68.71 and $56.74, respectively. The total fair value of PUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2017 was $5,641. Cash paid to settle PUs during the
year ended December 31, 2017 was $4,296. No performance units vested during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

As of December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation expense for the performance units was $6,014. Such cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1.3 years.

TSR Awards
In 2016, the Company granted performance awards to certain of the Company’s executive officers. These grants are settled in shares of the Company’s

stock and vest over a three-year performance period. The payout of these awards is based on the Company’s relative total shareholder return (“TSR”)
compared to a pre-established comparator group during the performance period.

The fair value of the TSR-based performance units is estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation. Expected volatility was calculated based on a
rolling average of the daily stock closing prices of the comparator group at the beginning of the
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performance period. The risk-free rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve, generally represented by U.S. Treasury securities, with a term equal to the
expected life of the TSR-based performance units. The dividend yield was assumed to be zero based on Company’s historical patterns and future expectation.

Assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the TSR-based performance grant were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016
Expected volatility 26.00%  27.60%
Dividend yield 0.00%  0.00%
Expected life - years 1.57  3.00
Risk-free rate 1.83%  0.87%

As of December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation expense for the TSR awards was $1,357. There were no TSR-based performance units granted
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2015.

19. Lease Commitments
The Company leases certain manufacturing facilities and equipment under long-term leases expiring at various dates. Rental expense for operating

leases was $45,971, $46,756 and $42,129 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Future minimum payments for all non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Year  
Minimum Future Operating Lease

Commitments
2018  $ 30,301
2019  28,690
2020  20,965
2021  14,723
2022  11,858
Thereafter  33,113

20. Related Party Transactions

A summary of the material related party transactions with affiliates accounted for under the equity method was as follows:

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015
Sales(1) $ 33,949  $ 35,418  $ 35,843
Purchases(1) 953  548  545
Dividends received(2) 5,382  3,022  1,917

(1) Relates to transactions with Nishikawa Cooper LLC (“NISCO”)
(2) From NISCO and Nishikawa Tachaplalert Cooper Ltd.

Amounts receivable from NISCO and Sujan Cooper Standard AVS Private Limited as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were $3,109 and
$4,078, respectively.

In March 2016, as part of the secondary offering, the Company paid $5,900 of fees incurred on behalf of certain selling stockholders as defined in
Note 17. “Equity.”

21. Contingent Liabilities

Litigation and Claims

Various legal actions, proceedings, and claims (generally, “matters”) are pending or may be instituted or asserted against the Company. The Company
accrues for matters when losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable. Any resulting adjustments, which could be material, are recorded in the period
the adjustments are identified. As of December 31, 2017, the Company does not believe that there is a reasonable possibility that any material loss exceeding
the amounts already accrued for
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matters, if any, has been incurred. However, the ultimate resolutions of these matters are inherently unpredictable and could require payment substantially in
excess of the amounts that have been accrued or disclosed.

On March 30, 2016, a putative class action complaint alleging conspiracy to fix the price of body sealing products used in automobiles and other light-
duty vehicles was filed in Ontario against numerous automotive suppliers, including Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., CSA U.S. and Cooper-Standard
Automotive Canada Limited (“CS Defendants”) and Nishikawa Cooper LLC, a joint venture in which the Company holds a 40% interest. Plaintiffs purport to
be indirect purchasers of body sealing products supplied by the CS Defendants and/or the other defendants during the relevant period. The plaintiffs seek
recovery of damages on behalf of direct and indirect purchasers against all defendants in an amount to be determined, punitive damages, as well as pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest and related costs and expenses of the litigation. The Company believes the claims asserted against the CS Defendants
are without merit and intends to vigorously defend against these claims. Further, the Company does not believe that there is a material loss that is probable
and reasonably estimable related to these claims.

 Environmental

The Company is subject to a broad range of federal, state and local environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations in the United
States and other countries, including those governing: emissions to air, discharges to water, noise and odor emissions; the generation, handling, storage,
transportation, treatment, reclamation and disposal of chemicals and waste materials; the cleanup of contaminated properties; and human health and safety.
The Company may incur substantial costs associated with hazardous substance contamination or exposure, including cleanup costs, fines, and civil or
criminal sanctions, third party property or natural resource damage, personal injury claims or costs to upgrade or replace existing equipment as a result of
violations of or liabilities under environmental laws or the failure to maintain or comply with environmental permits required at their locations. In addition,
many of the Company’s current and former facilities are located on properties with long histories of industrial or commercial operations, and some of these
properties have been subject to certain environmental investigations and remediation activities. The Company maintains environmental reserves for certain
of these sites. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had $7,363 and $6,484, respectively, reserved in accrued liabilities and other liabilities on
the consolidated balance sheet on an undiscounted basis, which it believes are adequate. Because some environmental laws (such as the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and analogous state laws) can impose liability retroactively and regardless of fault on potentially
responsible parties for the entire cost of cleanup at currently or formerly owned or operated facilities, as well as sites at which such parties disposed or
arranged for disposal of hazardous waste, the Company could become liable for investigating or remediating contamination at their current or former
properties or other properties (including offsite waste disposal locations). The Company may not always be in complete compliance with all applicable
requirements of environmental laws or regulation, and the Company may receive notices of violation or become subject to enforcement actions or incur
material costs or liabilities in connection with such requirements. In addition, new environmental requirements or changes to interpretations of existing
requirements, or in their enforcement, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, and financial condition. The
Company has made and will continue to make expenditures to comply with environmental requirements. While the Company’s costs to defend and settle
known claims arising under environmental laws have not been material in the past and are not currently estimated to be material, such costs may be material
in the future.

Employment Contracts
The Company has employment arrangements with certain key executives that provide for continuity of management. These arrangements include

payments of multiples of annual salary, certain incentives, and continuation of benefits upon the occurrence of specified events in a manner that is believed
to be consistent with comparable companies.

Other
The Company is participating in a voluntary foreign tax amnesty program, which allows for the settlement of certain tax matters at reduced amounts.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred charges of $4,623, of which $4,388 was a non-cash charge offset by the utilization of tax
net operating loss carryforwards, resulting in a net $235 expense impact to net income. The Company does not expect to incur additional material losses
under this program, however the settlement of these tax matters is outstanding and the outcome of the program is uncertain.

22. Business Segments

The Company has determined that it operates in four reportable segments: North America, Europe, Asia Pacific and South America. The Company’s
principal products within each of these segments are sealing, fuel and brake delivery, fluid transfer, and anti-vibration systems. The Company evaluates
segment performance based on segment profit before tax. The results of each segment include certain allocations for general, administrative, interest, and
other shared costs. The accounting
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

policies of the Company’s segments are consistent with those described in Note 2. “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

Certain financial information on the Company’s reportable segments was as follows:

   Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Sales to external customers      

North America $ 1,882,670  $ 1,816,486  $ 1,778,621
Europe 1,043,738  1,031,538  1,033,635
Asia Pacific 585,161  540,684  435,127
South America 106,557  84,183  95,421
Consolidated $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804

      

Intersegment sales      
North America $ 13,760  $ 13,325  $ 14,058
Europe 15,985  13,524  11,693
Asia Pacific 5,256  4,770  6,166
South America 49  31  49
Eliminations and other (35,050)  (31,650)  (31,966)
Consolidated $ —  $ —  $ —

      

Segment profit (loss)      
North America $ 236,165  $ 219,744  $ 215,487
Europe (18,872)  (15,989)  (22,435)
Asia Pacific 9,943  9,206  4,063
South America (14,136)  (18,201)  (44,127)
Income before income taxes $ 213,100  $ 194,760  $ 152,988

      

Net interest expense included in segment profit (loss)      
North America $ 16,824  $ 13,013  $ 12,262
Europe 12,287  13,871  13,648
Asia Pacific 11,884  13,720  10,227
South America 1,117  785  2,194
Consolidated $ 42,112  $ 41,389  $ 38,331

      

Depreciation and amortization expense      
North America $ 66,734  $ 57,546  $ 54,160
Europe 40,899  37,992  36,845
Asia Pacific 27,085  24,635  18,856
South America 3,370  2,487  4,566
Consolidated $ 138,088  $ 122,660  $ 114,427
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   Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Capital expenditures      

North America $ 67,333  $ 61,321  $ 64,933
Europe 45,881  57,054  46,766
Asia Pacific 51,182  33,818  43,276
South America 4,919  2,064  2,783
Corporate 17,480  10,111  8,509
Consolidated $ 186,795  $ 164,368  $ 166,267

      

   December 31,
   2017  2016
Segment assets      

North America   $ 1,049,218  $ 985,809
Europe   644,586  582,385
Asia Pacific   686,329  611,849
South America   54,846  46,125
Eliminations and other   290,669  265,534
Consolidated   $ 2,725,648  $ 2,491,702

Product Line Information

Product line information for revenues was as follows:

   Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Revenues      

Sealing systems $ 1,908,852  $ 1,816,924  $ 1,783,068
Fuel and brake delivery systems 757,198  725,689  675,493
Fluid transfer systems 521,553  494,940  458,699
Anti-vibration systems 326,684  301,199  278,891
Other 103,839  134,139  146,653
Consolidated $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804
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Geographic Information

Geographic information for revenues, based on country of origin, and property, plant and equipment, net, is as follows:

   Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015
Revenues      

United States $ 872,025  $ 879,579  $ 901,089
Mexico 723,423  638,750  585,558
China 494,727  455,999  355,141
France 299,257  288,905  285,384
Canada 287,222  298,157  291,974
Poland 253,109  239,941  246,997
Germany 192,959  218,363  226,566
Other 495,404  453,197  450,095
Consolidated $ 3,618,126  $ 3,472,891  $ 3,342,804

      

   December 31,
   2017  2016
Property, plant and equipment, net      

United States   $ 193,132  $ 170,671
Mexico   114,762  108,585
China   199,271  163,171
France   72,285  61,226
Canada   43,347  49,509
Poland   73,282  67,686
Germany   86,297  85,026
Other   169,802  126,395
Consolidated   $ 952,178  $ 832,269

Customer Concentration

Sales to customers of the Company which contributed 10% or more of its total consolidated sales and the related percentage of consolidated
Company sales for 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

 

2017
Percentage of

Net Sales  

2016
Percentage of

Net Sales  

2015
Percentage of

Net Sales
Customer      

Ford 28%  27%  26%
General Motors 19%  17%  16%
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles 11%  12%  12%

23. Investments in Affiliates

The Company’s beneficial ownership in affiliates accounted for under the equity method was as follows:

Name December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016
Sujan Cooper Standard AVS Private Limited 50%  50%
Nishikawa Cooper LLC 40%  40%
Polyrub Cooper Standard FTS Private Limited 35%  35%
Nishikawa Tachaplalert Cooper Ltd. 20%  20%
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The Company’s aggregate investment in unconsolidated affiliates was $42,634 and $42,606 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The
Company received dividends from unconsolidated affiliates of $5,382, $3,022 and $1,917 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

24. Selected Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

2017
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter

Sales $ 902,051  $ 909,145  $ 869,016  $ 937,914
Gross profit 170,085  172,240  150,829  178,144
Net income 42,504  41,650  25,458  28,961
Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 41,706  40,456  24,640  28,501
Basic net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 2.35  $ 2.26  $ 1.39  $ 1.60
Diluted net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 2.20  $ 2.14  $ 1.32  $ 1.53

2016
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter

Sales $ 862,497  $ 879,304  $ 855,656  $ 875,434
Gross profit 159,824  171,961  164,672  168,385
Net income 31,537 (1) 40,240 (1) 36,646  32,016
Net income attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 31,323 (1) 40,189 (1) 36,362  31,114
Basic net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 1.80 (1) $ 2.33 (1) $ 2.08  $ 1.76
Diluted net income per share attributable to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. $ 1.67 (1) $ 2.16 (1) $ 1.94  $ 1.65

(1) Amounts were adjusted due to the adoption of ASU 2016-09 in the second quarter of 2016. See Note 18. “Share-Based Compensation.”
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SCHEDULE II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(dollars in millions)

 

Description  
Balance at

beginning of period  
Charged to
Expenses  

Charged (credited)
to other

accounts (1)  Deductions  
Balance at end of

period
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted
from accounts receivable           
Year ended December 31, 2017  $ 7.1  1.1  0.4  (4.4)  $ 4.2
Year ended December 31, 2016  $ 4.1  4.0  (0.4)  (0.6)  $ 7.1
Year ended December 31, 2015  $ 4.3  0.5  (0.3)  (0.4)  $ 4.1

(1) Primarily foreign currency translation.
 

Description  

Balance at
beginning of

period  

Additions    
Balance at end of

period
Charged to

Income  
Charged to Equity

(2)  Deductions  
Tax valuation allowance           
Year ended December 31, 2017  $ 149.8  25.8  13.8  —  $ 189.4
Year ended December 31, 2016  $ 137.0  9.1  3.7  —  $ 149.8
Year ended December 31, 2015  $ 144.1  11.6  (18.7)  —  $ 137.0

(2) Includes foreign currency translation.
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Item 9.        Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

 
Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2017. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. However,
based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer along with the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2017.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.
Based on the evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2017.

The attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting is set forth
in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report under the caption “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
Internal control over Financial Reporting” and incorporated herein by reference.

There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2017 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.    Other Information

None.
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PART III
 

Item 10.        Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors and Executive Officers

The information required by Item 10 regarding the Company’s directors is incorporated by reference from the information under the headings
“Proposals - Proposal 1: Election of Directors” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2018 Proxy
Statement”). The information required by Item 10 regarding the Company’s executive officers is incorporated by reference from the information under the
headings “Corporate Governance - Executive Officers” in the 2018 Proxy Statement.

Audit Committee
The information required by Item 10 regarding the Audit Committee, including the identification of the Audit Committee members and the “audit

committee financial expert,” is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate Governance - The
Board Committees and Their Functions - Audit Committee.”

Compliance with Section 16(a) of The Exchange Act
The information required by Item 10 regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference from the information

in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

Code of Conduct
The information required by Item 10 regarding our code of ethics is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement

under the heading “Corporate Governance.” The Company’s Code of Conduct applies to all of the Company’s officers, directors and employees and is
available on the Company’s website at www.cooperstandard.com. To access the Code of Conduct, first click on “Investors” and then click on “Corporate
Governance.”

Item 11.        Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 regarding executive and director compensation, Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,
and the Compensation Committee Report is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the headings “Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis - Compensation Committee Report” and
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis - Executive Compensation.”

Item 12.        Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the heading “Stock
Ownership and Related Stockholder Matters.”

Item 13.        Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 regarding transactions with related persons is incorporated by reference from the information in 2018 Proxy
Statement under the heading “Transactions with Related Persons.” The information required by Item 13 regarding the independence of the Company’s
directors is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate Governance - Board of Directors -
Independence of Directors.”
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Item 14.        Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required under Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2018 Proxy Statement under the heading “Fees and
Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
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PART IV
 
Item 15.        Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents Filed as Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

  

 

10-K
Report

page(s)    

1. Financial Statements  
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 39
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Internal Control over Financial Reporting 40
Consolidated statements of net income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 41
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 42
Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 43
Consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 44
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 45
Notes to consolidated financial statements 46
  

2. Financial Statement Schedules  
  

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 82
  

All other financial statement schedules are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.  
  

3. Exhibits listed on the “Index to Exhibits”  
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Index to Exhibits

Unless otherwise provided, the SEC File Number under which each document incorporated by reference herein was filed is 001-36127. 

   

Exhibit No.      Description of Exhibit

2.1*
  

Debtors’ Second Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization, dated March 26, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 24, 2010 (File No. 333-123708)).

  

3.1*
  

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., dated May 27, 2010 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168316)).

  

3.2*
  

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016). 

  

3.3*
  

Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Certificate of Designations 7% Cumulative Participating Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168316)).

  

4.3*

  

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2010, by and among Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., the Backstop Purchasers and
the other holders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed June 3, 2010 (File No. 333-123708)).

  

4.4*

  

Warrant Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2010, between Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. and Computershare Inc. and Computershare
Trust Company, N.A., collectively as Warrant Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 3, 2010 (File No. 333-123708)).

  

4.5*

  

Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2016, by and among Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 7, 2016).

   

10.1*

 

Third Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2016, among Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., Cooper-
Standard Automotive Canada Limited, Cooper-Standard Automotive International Holdings B.V., and certain subsidiaries of Cooper-
Standard Automotive Inc., as guarantors, CS Intermediate HoldCo 1 LLC, as Holdings, the lenders party thereto and Bank of America,
N.A. as agent for such lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed November 7, 2016).

  

10.2*

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of April 4, 2014, among CS Intermediate HoldCo 2 LLC, CS Intermediate HoldCo 1 LLC, Deutsche Bank
AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014).

   

10.3*

 

Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 2, 2016, to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, among Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., as the
borrower, certain subsidiaries of Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., as guarantors, CS Intermediate HoldCo 1 LLC, as Holdings,
Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent and other lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 7, 2016).
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Exhibit No.      Description of Exhibit

10.4*

 

Amendment No. 2, dated as of May 2, 2017 to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, among Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., as the
borrower, certain subsidiaries of Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., as guarantors, CS Intermediate Holdco 1 LL, as Holdings, Deutsche
Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017).

   

10.5*†

 

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2009, by and among Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. and Keith D. Stephenson
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008).

  

10.6*†
 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.7*†

 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2005 with Amendments through December 31,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008).

  

10.8*†
 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.9*†

 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Nonqualified Supplementary Benefit Plan, Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2011
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010).

  

10.10*†
 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Cooper-Standard Holdings
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.11*†
 

Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement, effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Cooper-
Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.12*†
 

2011 Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.13*†

 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, Amended and Restated effected as of January 1, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2013).

  

10.14**†
 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, Amended and Restated effective as of January 1, 2016.

  

10.15*†
 

2011 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Cooper-Standard Holdings
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

  

10.16*†
 

Amended and Restated 2011 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013).
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Exhibit No.      Description of Exhibit

10.17*†
 

Amended and Restated Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017).

   

10.18*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for key employees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010).

  

10.19*†

 

Form of 2012 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2012).

  

10.20*†
 

2010 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 3, 2010).

  

10.21*†
 

Form of 2010 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Management Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for key employees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 3, 2010).

  

10.22*†
 

Form of 2010 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Management Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement for key employees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 3, 2010).

  

10.23*†
 

Form of 2010 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Management Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 3, 2010).

  

10.24*†

 

Letter Agreement between Jeffrey S. Edwards, Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. dated October 1, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2012).

  

10.25*†

 

Letter Agreement between D. William Pumphrey, Jr., Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. and Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. dated
August 16, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012).

  

10.26*†

 

Service Contract between CSA Germany Verwaltungs GmbH and Juan Fernando de Miguel Posada dated March 1, 2013 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2013).

  

10.27*†

 

International Assignment Agreement between Song Min Lee and Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. dated December 31, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013).

   

10.28**†

 

Extension Addendum dated October 28, 2016, to the International Assignment Agreement between Song Min Lee and Cooper-Standard
Automotive Inc. dated December 31, 2012.

   

10.29*†
 

Offer Letter between Matthew W. Hardt and Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. dated January 26, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2015).

   

89

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000132046117000044/exhibit101q22017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312511072036/dex1024.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312513083884/d449808dex1021.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312510132242/dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312510132242/dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312510132242/dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312510132242/dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312512459148/d398757dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312513083884/d449808dex1030.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312514075430/d640810dex1026.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000119312514075430/d640810dex1027.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1320461/000132046115000010/a8-kexhibit101offerletterh.htm


   

Exhibit No.      Description of Exhibit

10.30*†

 

Transitional Services Agreement between Matthew W. Hardt and Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. dated June 5, 2017 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017).

   

10.31*†

 

Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan, Amended and Restated effective as of January 1, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2013).

   

10.32*†

 

Form of 2014 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 50% cash / 50% stock) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014).

   

10.33*†

 

Form of 2014 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2014).

   

10.34*†

 

Form of 2014 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 100% cash) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014).

   

10.35*†
 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.38 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014).

   

10.36*†

 

Form of 2015 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 50% cash / 50% stock) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014).

   

10.37*†

 

Form of 2015 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.40 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2014).

   

10.38*†

 

Form of 2015 Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 100% cash) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014).

   

10.39*†
 

Offer Letter between Jonathan P. Banas and Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. dated August 17, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 28, 2015).

   

10.40*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee
Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended June 30, 2015).

  

10.41*†
 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. Indemnification Agreement for officers and directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.44 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2016).
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10.42*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Special Retention Award Agreement (stock-settled award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2016).

   

10.43*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan 2016 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 50% cash / 50% stock) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016).

   

10.44*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan 2016 Restrictive Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance
Units, settled 100% cash)(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016).

   

10.45*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan 2017 Performance Award Agreement (stock-settled award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2017).

   

10.46*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan 2017 Performance Award Agreement (cash-settled award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2017).

   

10.47**†  Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan
   

10.48*†
 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017).

   

10.49*†
 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017).

   

10.50*†

 

Form of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan 2017 Performance Unit Award Agreement (stock-settled award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2017).

   

21.1**  List of Subsidiaries of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.
  

23.1**  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
  

31.1**
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002).

  

31.2**
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002).

  

32***  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

101.INS****  XBRL Instance Document
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101.SCH****  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
  

101.CAL****  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
  

101.DEF****  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
  

101.LAB****  XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
  

101.PRE****  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
 
*    Incorporated by reference as an exhibit to this Report.
**    Filed with this Report.
***    Furnished with this Report
****    Submitted electronically with this Report in accordance with the provisions of Regulation S-T.
†    Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than with respect
to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and
warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may
not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.
  

Date: February 20, 2018
 

/s/ Jeffrey S. Edwards

 
  Jeffrey S. Edwards
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below on February 20, 2018 by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated.
 

Signature   Title

  

/s/ Jeffrey S. Edwards
  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Jeffrey S. Edwards   
  

/s/ Jonathan P. Banas
  

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Jonathan P. Banas   
  

/s/ Peter C. Brusate
  

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Peter C. Brusate   
  

/s/ Sean O. Mahoney
  

Director

Sean O. Mahoney   
  

/s/ David J. Mastrocola
  

Director

David J. Mastrocola   
  

/s/ Justin E. Mirro
 

Director

Justin E. Mirro   
   

/s/ Robert J. Remenar
  

Director

Robert J. Remenar   
   

/s/ Sonya F. Sepahban  Director
Sonya F. Sepahban   

  

/s/ Thomas W. Sidlik
  

Director

Thomas W. Sidlik   
  

/s/ Stephen A. Van Oss
  

Director

Stephen A. Van Oss   
   

/s/ Peifang Zhang
  

Director

Peifang Zhang   
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Exhibit 10.14

COOPER-STANDARD AUTOMOTIVE INC.
ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN

(Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2016) 

ARTICLE 1.
PURPOSE AND DURATION

Section 1.1.     Purpose. This Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is intended to motivate key
employees of the Company and its Affiliates (collectively the “Company”) who have the prime responsibility for the operations of the
Company to achieve annual performance objectives that are aligned with the Company’s strategic goals and which are intended to
result in increased value to Company shareholders. Awards granted under Section 10 of the Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011
Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the “Omnibus Plan”), will be subject to the terms of this Plan and the Omnibus
Plan, although in the event of any discrepancy between the terms of this Plan and the Omnibus Plan, the terms of the Omnibus Plan
shall control. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as in the Omnibus Plan.

Section 1.2.     Duration. The Plan is effective for performance periods beginning as of January 1, 2011, and will remain in effect until
terminated pursuant to Article 9. This Plan is amended and restated effective January 1, 2016 and the amendments included herein
apply to performance periods beginning on and after January 1, 2016.

ARTICLE 2.
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

Section 2.1.     Definitions. Wherever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below and, when the
meaning is intended, the initial letter of the word is capitalized:

(a)    “Affiliate” means, with respect to an entity, any entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common
control with, such first entity.

(b)    “Administrator” means, with respect to Executive Officers, the Committee, and with respect to all other Executives, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(c)    “Base Salary” of a Participant means the annual rate of base pay in effect for such Participant as of the last day of the
Performance Period, or such other date as the Administrator specifies.

(d)    “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(e)    “Company” means Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc., and any successor thereto as provided in Article 12.



(f)    “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(g)    “Covered Employee” has the meaning given in Code Section 162(m).

(h)    “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Any reference to a particular provision of
the Exchange Act shall be deemed to include any successor provision thereto.

(i)    “Executive” means an employee of the Company designated by the Chief Executive Officer solely for purposes of
participation in this Plan.

(j)    “Executive Officer” means an employee of the Company who is an “officer” within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act or, if at any time the Company does not have a class of securities registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act, an employee of the Company who would be deemed an “officer” within the meaning of Rule 16a-
1(f) if the Company had a class of securities so registered, as determined by the Board in its discretion.

(k)    “Misconduct” means any act or omission that is not in the best interests of the Company , as determined by the
Administrator, including but not limited to: (1) violation of the Code of Conduct or any employment, noncompete, confidentiality or
other agreement or policy in effect with the Company , (2) taking any action or making statements that would damage or negatively
reflect on the reputation of the Company or its directors or employees , or (3) failure to comply with applicable laws relating to trade
secrets, confidential information or unfair competition.

(l)    “Participant” means an Executive Officer or Executive who has been granted a Performance Award by the
Administrator.

(m)    “Performance Award” means an opportunity granted to a Participant to receive a payment based in whole or part on
the extent to which one or more Performance Goals for one or more Performance Measures are achieved for the Performance
Period, subject to the conditions described in the Plan and that the Administrator otherwise imposes.

(n)    “Performance Measures” means the category or categories of performance that must be achieved as determined by the
Administrator at the time of grant of a Performance Award. Performance Measures may be measured (1) for the Company on a
consolidated basis, (2) for any one or more Affiliates or divisions of the Company and/or (3) for any other business unit or units of
the Company as defined by the Administrator. In addition, the Administrator may exercise discretion in determining eligibility for a
Performance Award based on the Participant’s individual performance evaluation as a condition to receiving all or any portion of an
award payment.

(o)    “Performance Goal” means the level(s) of performance for a Performance Measure that must be attained in order for a
payment to be made under a Performance Award, and/or for the amount of payment to be determined based on the Performance
Scale. With respect to
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Performance Awards granted pursuant to Section 10 of the Omnibus Plan, the Performance Goals must comply with the terms of
the Omnibus Plan.

(p)    “Performance Period” means a period of one fiscal year of the Company, as selected by the Administrator.

(q)    “Performance Scale” means, with respect to a Performance Measure, a scale from which the level of achievement may
be calculated for any given level of actual performance for such Performance Measure as determined by the Administrator.

(r)    “Retirement” means termination of employment with the Company (without Cause) on or after (1) attainment of age 65
or (2) attainment of age 60 with five (5) Years of Service.

(s)    “Years of Service” means the employee’s total years of employment with the Company, including years of employment
with an entity that is acquired by the Company prior to such acquisition.

ARTICLE 3.
ELIGIBILITY

Section 3.1.     Eligibility. All Executive Officers, and such Executives as designated by the Chief Executive Officer, shall be eligible to
participate in the Plan.

Section 3.2.     New Hires; Transfers In, Out and Between Eligible Positions.

(a)    Notwithstanding Section 3.1, for a key employee who is appointed or promoted into a position that is eligible for a
Performance Award, the Administrator may (1) select such key employee as a Participant at any time during the course of a
Performance Period, (2) take action as a result of which there is an additional Performance Award made to a key employee who, as
to a Performance Period that is in progress, is already a Participant and as to whom a Performance Award is already in effect where
the additional Performance Award relates to the same Performance Period, or (3) change the Performance Goals, Performance
Measures, Performance Scale or potential award amount under a Performance Award that is already in effect; provided that the
discretion described in clause (3) shall not be exercisable with respect to any Participant who is a Covered Employee unless the
exercise of such discretion results in a reduction in the amount that would have otherwise been payable to such individual. In such
event, the Administrator may, but is not required to, prorate the amount that would otherwise be payable under such Performance
Award if the Participant had been employed during the entire Performance Period to reflect the period of actual employment during
the Performance Period.

(b)    If a Participant is demoted during a Performance Period, the Administrator may decrease the potential award amount of
any Performance Award, or revise the Performance Goals, Performance Measures or Performance Scale, as determined by the
Administrator to reflect the demotion.
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(c)    If a Participant is transferred from employment by the Company to the employment of an Affiliate, or vice versa, the
Administrator may revise the Participant’s Performance Award to reflect the transfer, including but not limited to, changing the
potential award amount, Performance Measures, Performance Goals and Performance Scale; provided that the discretion described
in this subsection (c) shall not be exercisable with respect to any Participant who is a Covered Employee unless the exercise of such
discretion results in a reduction in the amount that would have otherwise payable to such individual.

Section 3.3.     Termination of Employment.

(a)    Except as otherwise provided under the terms of an employment or severance agreement between a Participant and the
Company, or under the Company’s Executive Severance Pay Plan, no Participant shall earn an incentive award for a Performance
Period unless the Participant is employed by the Company (or is on an approved leave of absence) on the last day of such
Performance Period, unless employment was terminated during the period as a result of Retirement, Disability or death, or unless
payment is approved by the Administrator after considering the cause of termination.

(b)    If a Participant’s employment is terminated as a result of death, Disability or Retirement, then unless the Administrator
decides to provide a greater amount, the Participant (or the Participant’s estate in the event of his death) shall be entitled to receive
an amount equal to the product of (x) the amount calculated under Section 5.1 and (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the
number of the Participant’s days of employment during the Performance Period for such award and the denominator of which is the
number of days in the Performance Period for such award. Payment shall be made as provided in Section 5.2.

ARTICLE 4. 
CONTINGENT PERFORMANCE AWARDS

At the time of grant of a Performance Award, the Administrator shall determine for each award the Performance
Measure(s), the Performance Goal(s) for each Performance Measure, the Performance Scale (which may vary for different
Performance Measures), and the amount payable to the Participant if and to the extent the Performance Goals are met (as measured
from the Performance Scale). The amount payable to a Participant may be designated as a flat dollar amount or as a percentage of the
Participant’s Base Salary, or may be determined by any other means as the Administrator may specify at the time the Performance
Award is granted. The amount payable to any Participant to whom a Performance Award is granted under Section 10 of the Omnibus
Plan shall be subject to the dollar limit imposed under such plan.

ARTICLE 5.
PAYMENT

Section 5.1.     Evaluating Performance and Computing Awards.

(a)    As soon as practicable following the close of a Performance Period, the Administrator shall determine whether and to
what extent the Performance Goals and other
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material terms of the Performance Award issued for such period were achieved, and shall determine whether any discretionary
adjustments under Subsection (b) shall be made. The Administrator (or its delegate) shall then determine the award amount payable
to a Participant under the Performance Award.

(b)    The Administrator may adjust each Participant’s potential award amount under any Performance Award, based upon
overall individual performance and attainment of goals up to a maximum of plus fifty percent (+50%) or down to a maximum of
minus one hundred percent (‑100%); provided that with respect to any Participant who is a Covered Employee, the Administrator
shall only be allowed to approve a downward adjustment.

Section 5.2.     Timing and Form of Payment. When the payment due to the Participant has been determined, payment shall be made in
a cash lump sum in the calendar year immediately following the close of the Performance Period, typically as soon as practicable after
the Administrator has determined the extent to which the Performance Goals have been achieved.

Section 5.3.     Misconduct. Notwithstanding the foregoing, after the end of the Performance Period for which the payment has accrued,
but before payment is made, if the Participant engages in Misconduct, or if the Company determines after a Participant’s termination of
employment that the Participant could have been terminated for Cause, the Performance Award shall be automatically cancelled and no
payment or deferral shall be made. The Administrator may suspend payment (without liability for interest thereon) pending the
Administrator’s determination of whether the Participant was or should have been terminated for Cause or whether the Participant has
engaged in Misconduct.

Section 5.4.     Recoupment. Compensation received by the Participant under the Plan shall be subject to the terms of any recoupment
or clawback policy that may be adopted by the Company from time to time and to any requirement of applicable law, regulation or
listing standard that requires the Company to recoup or clawback compensation paid under this Plan.

ARTICLE 6.
ADJUSTMENTS

In the event of any change in the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock by reason of any stock dividend or
split, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or exchange of shares or other similar corporate change, then if the
Administrator shall determine that such change necessarily or equitably requires an adjustment in the Performance Goals established
under a Performance Award, such adjustments shall be made by the Administrator and shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes
of this Plan. No adjustment shall be made in connection with the issuance by the Company of any warrants, rights, or options to
acquire additional shares of Common Stock or of securities convertible into Common Stock, and no such adjustment shall be permitted
with respect to any Participant who is a Covered Employee to the extent such adjustment would cause the Participant’s Performance
Award to cease to be qualified performance-based compensation within the meaning of Code Section 162(m).
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ARTICLE 7.
RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS

Section 7.1.     No Funding. No Participant shall have any interest in any fund or in any specific asset or assets of the Company by
reason of any Performance Award under the Plan. It is intended that the Company has merely a contractual obligation to make
payments when due hereunder and it is not intended that the Company hold any funds in reserve or trust to secure payments hereunder.

Section 7.2.     No Transfer. No Participant may assign, pledge, or encumber his or her interest under the Plan, or any part thereof.

Section 7.3.     No Implied Rights; Employment. Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed to:

(a)    Give any employee or Participant any right to receive any award other than in the sole discretion of the Administrator;

(b)    Limit in any way the right of the Company to terminate a Participant’s employment at any time; or

(c)    Be evidence of any agreement or understanding, express or implied, that a Participant will be retained in any particular
position or at any particular rate of remuneration.

ARTICLE 8.
ADMINISTRATION

Section 8.1.     General. The Plan shall be administered by the Administrator.

Section 8.2.     Authority. In addition to the authority specifically provided herein, the Administrator shall have full power and
discretionary authority to: (a) administer the Plan, including but not limited to the power and authority to construe and interpret the
Plan; (b) correct errors, supply omissions or reconcile inconsistencies in the terms of the Plan or any Performance Award; (c) establish,
amend or waive rules and regulations, and appoint such agents, as it deems appropriate for the Plan’s administration; and (d) make any
other determinations, including factual determinations, and take any other action as it determines is necessary or desirable for the Plan’s
administration.

Section 8.3.     Decision Binding. The Administrator’s determinations and decisions made pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and all
related orders or resolutions of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding on all persons who have an interest in the Plan or an
award, and such determinations and decisions shall not be reviewable.

ARTICLE 9.
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
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Section 9.1.     Amendment. The Committee may modify or amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the Plan or any
Performance Award, and may suspend the Plan, at any time; provided, however, that no such modification, amendment, or suspension
may, without the consent of the Participant or his legal representative in the case of his death, adversely affect the amount of any
payment earned and due under the Plan with respect to any Performance Award in effect prior to the date of such modification,
amendment or suspension.

Section 9.2.     Termination. The Committee may terminate the Plan at any time; provided, however, that no such termination may,
without the consent of the Participant or his legal representative in the case of his death, adversely affect the amount of any payment
earned and due under the Plan with respect to any Performance Award in effect prior to the date of such termination.

ARTICLE 10.
TAX WITHHOLDING

The Company shall have the right to deduct from all cash payments made hereunder (or from any other payments due a
Participant) any foreign, federal, state, or local taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to such cash payments.

ARTICLE 11.
OFFSET

The Company shall have the right to offset from any amount payable hereunder any amount that the Participant owes to
the Company without the consent of the Participant (or his estate, in the event of the Participant’s death).

ARTICLE 12.
SUCCESSORS

All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Performance Awards granted hereunder shall be binding
on any successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger,
consolidation or otherwise, of all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company. The Plan shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Participants and their heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives.

ARTICLE 13.
DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Unless prohibited by law, any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Plan or any Performance Award, or for
recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect to this Plan or any Performance Award, may only be heard in a “bench” trial,
and any party to such action or proceeding shall agree to waive its right to a jury trial. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to
this Plan or any Performance Award must be brought within one year (365 days)
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after the day the complaining party first knew or should have known of the events giving rise to the complaint.
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Exhibit 10.28

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL

October 28, 2016

Song Lee
Seo-Cheon, Korea

Re: Extension Addendum to International Assignment Agreement

Dear Song,

This addendum will serve as notification that your International Assignment is hereby extended for three (3) years. We look forward to the
continued positive impact you will have as SVP & President, Asia Pacific, in our Seo-Cheon Cooper Standard facility. You will continue to report
directly to me. This extension will remain in place until December 31, 2019, at which time your assignment will be reviewed by Management and
may be renewed and extended for a further period based upon business conditions and/or management discretion.

All benefits and details outlined in your original International Assignment Agreement will remain in place during the terms of this extension.

ASSIGNMENT EXTENSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This agreement is made in the United States, and shall be subject to the city, state and federal laws thereof. In the event any provision of this
letter shall be held invalid or unenforceable by reason of law, such invalidity shall not affect or render invalid or unenforceable any other provision
of this letter. Futhermore, no agreement or portion of this letter is deemed to supersede the employment at will provisions in effect. This agreement
shall only become effective and operable when fully executed by the parties.

   

/s/ Jeffrey Edwards  10/31/2016
Jeffrey Edwards
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  Date
Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc.   

I, the undersigned, hereby agree and accept this assignment as outlined above.

   

/s/ Song Lee  11/3/2016
Song Lee  Date



Exhibit 10.47

Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Executive Summary of Proposal and Selected Plan Information

Introduction: On March 23, 2017, upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board approved the Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), subject to stockholder approval at the 2017 Annual Meeting.
The Plan will supersede the Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), which is the
only plan under which equity-based compensation may currently be awarded to our executives, non-employee directors,
and other employees. Equity awards are also currently outstanding under the 2011 Plan and the Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc. 2010 Management Incentive Plan (together with the 2011 Plan, the “Prior Plans”). Awards currently
outstanding under the Prior Plans will remain outstanding under the applicable Prior Plan in accordance with their terms.

We believe that the adoption of the Plan is necessary in order to allow us to continue to use equity awards, including
performance awards. We believe that granting equity-based compensation to officers, other key employees and non-
employee directors is an effective means to promote the future growth and development of the Company. Equity awards,
among other things, further align the interests of award recipients with Company stockholders and enable the Company to
attract and retain qualified personnel.
We also are requesting stockholder approval of the material terms of the Plan, including performance measures and
individual award limits, to allow awards granted under the Plan that are intended to be “performance-based
compensation” under Section 162(m) ("Section 162(m)") of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"),
to be exempt from the tax deduction limits of Section 162(m) if they meet the other requirements of Section 162(m).
If the Plan is approved by our stockholders, the Plan will become effective on May 18, 2017 (the “Effective Date”), and no
further awards will be made under the 2011 Plan. If our stockholders do not approve the Plan, the 2011 Plan will remain in
effect in its current form, subject to its expiration date. However, there will be insufficient shares available under the 2011
Plan to make annual awards and to provide grants to new hires in the coming years. In this event, the Compensation
Committee would be required to revise its compensation philosophy and devise other programs to attract, retain, and
compensate its officers, non-employee directors, and key employees.

Proposed Share Reserve: A total of 2,300,000 shares of common stock are reserved for awards granted under the Plan. The Plan’s reserve will be
reduced by one (1) share for every one (1) share that is subject to an option or stock appreciation right granted under the
2011 Plan after March 31, 2017, and 2.50 shares for every one (1) share that is subject to an award other than an option or
stock appreciation right (such award, a “full-value award”) granted under the 2011 Plan after March 31, 2017. In addition,
to the extent that after March 31, 2017, outstanding awards under the Prior Plans expire or are terminated without the
issuance of shares, or if such awards are settled in cash, or if shares are tendered or withheld for payment of taxes on full-
value awards, then the shares subject to such awards will be added to the Plan’s reserve.

The Plan’s reserve will be reduced by one (1) share for every one (1) share that is subject to an option or stock
appreciation right and 2.50 shares for every one (1) share that is subject to a full-value award.

Impact on Dilution and Fully-
Diluted Overhang:

Our Board recognizes the impact of dilution on our stockholders and has evaluated this share request carefully in the
context of the need to motivate, retain and ensure that our leadership team is focused on our strategic and long-term
growth priorities.

The total fully-diluted overhang as of March 31, 2017, assuming that the entire share reserve is granted in stock options,
would be 16.3% and the total fully-diluted overhang, assuming the share reserve is granted in full-value awards only,
would be 10.5%. The Company’s historical practice, which is not currently expected to change, has been to grant a
combination of stock options and full-value awards, resulting in overhang between these two levels. In this context, fully-
diluted overhang is calculated as the sum of grants outstanding and shares available for future awards (numerator) divided
by the sum of the numerator and basic common shares outstanding, with all data effective as of March 31, 2017.

Our Board believes that the increase in shares of common stock available for issuance represents a reasonable amount of
potential equity dilution given our strategic and long-term growth priorities.



Expected Duration of the Share
Reserve:

We expect that the share reserve under the Plan, if this proposal is approved by our shareholders, will be sufficient for
awards for approximately three years. Expectations regarding future share usage could be impacted by a number of factors
such as award type mix; hiring and promotion activity at the executive level; the rate at which shares are returned to the
Plan's reserve upon the awards' expiration, forfeiture or cash settlement; the future performance of our stock price; the
consequences of acquiring other companies; and other factors. While we believe that the assumptions we used are
reasonable, future share usage may differ from current expectations.

Governance Highlights of Plan: Our Plan incorporates certain governance best practices, including:

þ Minimum vesting period of one year from the date of grant for all equity-based awards granted under the Plan, with
permitted exceptions up to 5% of the share reserve.
þ No “liberal share recycling” of options or stock appreciation rights (“SARs”).
þ No dividends or dividend equivalents on options or SARs.
þ Dividends and dividend equivalent rights on all other awards are deferred until the restrictions imposed on such
awards lapse.
þ Minimum 100% fair market value exercise price for options and SARs.
þ No “liberal” change of control definition and no automatic single-trigger acceleration on a change of control
transaction.
þ No repricing of options or SARs and no cash buyout of underwater options and SARs without stockholder
approval, except for adjustments with respect to a change of control or an equitable adjustment in connection with
certain corporate transactions.

Date of Plan Expiration: The Plan will terminate on May 18, 2027, unless terminated earlier by the Board, but awards granted prior to such date
may be extended beyond that date.

Burn Rate

The following table sets forth information regarding stock-settled, time-vested equity awards granted and performance-based, stock-settled equity awards
earned over each of the last three fiscal years:

 2016 2015 2014
Stock Options/SARs Granted 155,100 202,100 167,200
Stock-Settled Time-Vested Restricted Shares/Units Granted* 148,418 174,389 130,956
Stock-Settled Performance-Based Stock Units Earned* 20,339 0 0
Weighted-Average Basic Common Shares Outstanding 17,459,710 17,212,607 16,695,356

 * The burn rate figures in the table above are different from disclosure in the Company’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the fiscal years ending December
31, 2014, 2015, and 2016 because this table excludes all cash-settled awards and includes performance-based equity awards in the year in which they are
earned rather than the year in which they are granted. Per 10-K filings, the cash-settled time-vested restricted stock units granted in 2016, 2015, and 2014
were 5,400, 4,200, and 1,600, respectively, and performance stock units granted at target in 2014, 2015, and 2016 were 93,000, 111,200, and 86,150,
respectively.

Overhang as of March 31, 2017

The following table sets forth certain information as of March 31, 2017, unless otherwise noted, with respect to the Company’s existing equity compensation
plans:

Stock Options Outstanding 639,625
Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Stock Options $66.64
Weighted-Average Remaining Term of Outstanding Stock Options 8.4 Years
Total Stock-Settled Full-Value Awards Outstanding* 533,536

Basic common shares outstanding as of the record date (3/24/2017) 17,827,042

 
* Includes time-vested restricted stock units (367,818), stock-settled performance share units outstanding at target (120,214), vested and unvested deferred
stock units (16,233) and unvested cash-denominated and stock-settled performance awards (29,271).



Summary of the Plan

The following is a summary of certain material features of the Plan, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete terms of the Plan attached to
this proxy statement as Appendix A. The closing price of a share of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on March 24, 2017, was $109.43.

Purpose

The purpose of the Plan is to aid the Company and its affiliates in recruiting and retaining key employees and non-employee directors of outstanding ability
and to motivate such individuals to exert their best efforts on behalf of the Company and its affiliates by providing incentives through the granting of awards.
The Company expects that it will benefit from the added interest which such key employees and non-employee directors will have in the welfare of the
Company as a result of their proprietary interest in the Company’s success.

Eligible Participants

The Compensation Committee, including its delegates, may grant awards to key employees of the Company or its affiliates and non-employee directors of
the Company’s Board. Currently, approximately 275 employees and 8 non-employee directors would be eligible to participate in the Plan, although the
number of individuals who are selected to participate in the Plan may vary from year to year.

Available Shares

Subject to the adjustment provisions included in the Plan, a total of 2,300,000 shares (plus the shares described in the paragraph below) will be authorized for
awards granted under the Plan as of the date of stockholder approval. This reserve will be reduced by a “fungible ratio” of one (1) share for every one (1) share
that is subject to an option or stock appreciation right granted under the Plan, and two and a half (2.50) shares for every one (1) share that is subject to an
award other than an option or stock appreciation right (such award, a “full-value award”) granted under the Plan. In addition, the share reserve will be reduced
on the same fungible ratio basis for awards granted after March 31, 2017, under the 2011 Plan.

To the extent that, after March 31, 2017, (a) shares of common stock subject to an outstanding award under a Prior Plan are not issued or delivered by reason
of forfeiture, expiration or settlement of such award in cash, or (b) shares are delivered to or withheld by the Company to pay the withholding taxes relating to
a full-value award under the Prior Plan, then such shares of common stock will be added to the Plan’s reserve and available for new awards granted under the
Plan.

Shares of common stock subject to an award granted under the Plan will be added back to the Plan’s reserve and be available for new awards if (a) such shares
are not issued or delivered by reason of forfeiture, expiration or settlement of such award in cash, or (b) shares are delivered to or withheld by the Company to
pay the withholding taxes relating to a full-value award.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the following shares will not again be available for awards under the Plan: (a) shares tendered by the participant or
withheld by the Company in payment of the purchase price of an option under the Plan or a Prior Plan, (b) shares delivered to or withheld by the Company to
pay the withholding taxes relating to an outstanding option or stock appreciation right under the Plan or a Prior Plan, (c) shares subject to a stock
appreciation right under the Plan or a Prior Plan that are not issued in connection with its stock settlement or exercise, or (d) shares repurchased by the
Company on the open market with the proceeds of the exercise of an option under the Plan or a Prior Plan.

Award Limits

Subject to adjustment in accordance with the adjustment provisions of the Plan, with respect to awards intended to be “qualified performance-based
compensation” under Code Section 162(m), no participant may be granted during any fiscal year of the Company:

• Options for, and/or SARs with respect to, more than 400,000 shares of common stock;

• Awards of restricted stock and/or restricted stock units relating to more than 200,000 shares of common stock;

• Annual incentive award(s) having a cash payment value of more than $10,000,000 (which limit shall be proportionally reduced with respect to any
performance period that is less than a whole year); and

• Long-term incentive award(s) granted in respect of any period greater than one year, having a cash payment value of more than $10,000,000.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the aggregate grant date fair value of equity awards that may be granted during any fiscal year to a non-employee
director, taken together with any cash fees paid during the fiscal year to the director in respect of the director’s service as a member of the Board during such
year (including service as a member or chair of any regular committees of the Board), shall not exceed $500,000. The Board may make exceptions to this
limit for a non-executive chair of the Board or, in extraordinary circumstances, for other individual directors, as the Board may determine in its discretion,



provided that the non-employee director receiving such additional compensation may not participate in the decision to award such compensation.

Plan Administration

The Compensation Committee is the administrator of the Plan. The Compensation Committee can delegate its duties and powers to any subcommittee
thereof, provided that no such delegation is permitted with respect to awards made to Section 16 participants at the time any such delegated authority or
responsibility is exercised unless the delegation is to another committee of the Board consisting entirely of two or more “non-employee directors” within the
meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act or does not relate to awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under
Code Section 162(m).

The Compensation Committee has broad powers to administer and interpret the Plan, including the authority to establish, amend or rescind any rules and
regulations relating to the Plan and to make any other determinations that it deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan. The
Compensation Committee may correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in the manner and to the extent that the
Compensation Committee deems necessary or desirable, and has the full power and authority to establish the terms and conditions of any award consistent
with the provisions of the Plan and to waive any such terms and conditions at any time (including, without limitation, accelerating or waiving any vesting
conditions).

Term

Awards may be granted under the Plan from time to time until the Plan is discontinued or terminated by the Board. No award may be granted under the Plan
after the tenth anniversary of the approval of the Plan by the stockholders at the annual meeting, but awards granted prior to such date may extend beyond
that date.

Adjustments

In the event of any change in our outstanding shares of common stock by reason of any share dividend or split, reorganization, recapitalization, merger,
consolidation, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares or any similar corporate transaction, or any distribution to stockholders other than regular cash
dividends, the Compensation Committee shall make appropriate adjustments to the Plan or any outstanding awards, which may include (1) the number or
kind of shares or other securities issued or reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding awards or to the Plan, (2) the maximum number of shares that may be
subject to awards granted to a single participant under the plan, (3) option price or grant price and/or (4) any other affected terms of such awards, including
one or more performance goals.

Minimum Vesting Requirement

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary and subject to the immediately following proviso, equity-based awards granted under the
Plan shall vest no earlier than the first anniversary of the date the award is granted; provided, however, that the Compensation Committee may grant awards
without regard to the foregoing minimum vesting requirement with respect to a maximum of five percent (5%) of the authorized share reserve. (For the
avoidance of doubt, this shall not be construed to limit the committee’s discretion to provide for accelerated exercisability or vesting of an award, including
in cases of death, disability or a change of control.)

Dividends and Dividend Equivalents

The payment of any dividends, dividend equivalents or distributions declared or paid on shares covered by an award shall be deferred until the lapsing of the
restrictions imposed upon such awards. The Compensation Committee shall determine if any such deferred dividends or distributions shall be reinvested in
additional shares or credited during the deferral period with interest at a rate per annum as the Compensation Committee, in its discretion, may determine.
Payment of any such deferred dividends or distributions, together with any interest accrued thereon, shall be made upon the lapsing of the restrictions
imposed on such awards and any such deferred dividends, dividend equivalents or distributions (together with any interest accrued thereon) shall be forfeited
upon the forfeiture of such awards.

Change of Control

For all outstanding awards, any acceleration of vesting or settlement of an award in connection with a change of control will be determined by the
Compensation Committee and set forth in each award agreement. If and to the extent determined by the Compensation Committee in the applicable
agreement or otherwise, any awards outstanding immediately prior to a change of control which are unexercisable or otherwise unvested or subject to lapse
restrictions may be deemed exercisable or otherwise vested or no longer subject to lapse restrictions, as the case may be. The Compensation Committee may,
but is not obligated to, with respect to some or all of the outstanding awards, (1) cancel such awards for fair value (as determined in the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee), (2) provide for the issuance of substitute awards that will substantially preserve the otherwise applicable terms of any affected
awards previously granted under the Plan as determined by the Compensation



Committee in its sole discretion, or (3) provide that for a period of at least 15 days prior to the change of control, any options or SARs (that are settled in
shares) will be exercisable as to all shares subject thereto and that upon the occurrence of the change of control, such options and SARs will terminate and be
of no further force and effect.

Under the Plan, a change of control generally occurs upon the following: (a) the sale or disposition, in one or a series of related transactions, of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company; (b) the date that any person or group becomes the “beneficial owner,” directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of
the total voting power of the voting stock of the Company; (c) a change in the majority composition of our Board of Directors; (d) consummation of a
reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar corporate transaction involving the Company (subject to certain exceptions); or
(e) the consummation of a plan of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Amendments and Termination

The Board may amend, alter or discontinue the Plan. However, the Board may not amend, alter or discontinue the Plan without stockholder consent if such
action would (except as is provided pursuant to the adjustment provisions set forth in the Plan) increase the total number of shares reserved for the purposes
of the Plan. Also, the Board may not amend, alter or discontinue the Plan without the consent of a participant if such action would diminish any of the rights
of the participant under any award previously granted to such participant under the Plan; provided, however, that this restriction would not apply to
amendments required by the Code or other applicable laws. Additionally, the Board may not amend the provisions of the Plan that restrict the repricing of
options and SARs as described in the last paragraph under “Types of Awards - Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”).”

Types of Awards

The Plan authorizes grants of a variety of awards described below. The Compensation Committee may grant options to any participant it selects, and
determines the terms and conditions of each award at the time of grant, subject to the limitations set forth in the Plan, including whether payment of awards
may be subject to the achievement of performance goals. The terms and conditions of each award will be set forth in a written agreement.

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)

• A stock option entitles a participant to purchase a specified number of shares of common stock at a specified exercise price, subject to such terms
and conditions as the Compensation Committee may determine. An SAR entitles a participant to receive a payment measured by the excess of the
fair market value of a specified number of shares of common stock on the date on which the participant exercises the SAR over a specified grant
price, subject to such terms and conditions as the Compensation Committee may determine.

• Except in the case of substitute awards granted in connection with a corporate transaction, the applicable exercise or grant price cannot be less than
100% of the fair market value of a share on the date of grant.

• All options and SARs must terminate no later than ten years after the date of grant; provided, however, that (other than as would otherwise result in
the violation of Section 409A of the Code), to the extent an option or SAR would expire at a time when the holder of such award is prohibited by
applicable law or by the Company's insider trading policy from exercising the option or SAR (the "Closed Window Period"), then such option or
SAR shall remain exercisable until the 30th day following the end of the Closed Window Period.

• Options and SARs do not include dividend equivalent rights.

• At the time of exercise, the option price must be paid in full in either cash, delivery of shares, by having the Company withhold a number of shares
otherwise deliverable, or in a cashless exercise through a broker or similar arrangement, depending on the terms of the specific award agreement.

• If an SAR is granted in relation to an option, then unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee, the SAR will be exercisable or will
mature at the same time and on the same conditions that the related option may be exercised or mature. Upon exercise of any number of SARs, the
number of shares subject to the related option will be reduced accordingly and such option may not be exercised with respect to that number of
shares. The exercise of any number of options that relate to an SAR will likewise result in an equivalent reduction in the number of shares covered
by the related SAR.

• Subject to the adjustment provisions set forth in the Plan, the Compensation Committee will not, other than in connection with a change of control,
take any of the following actions without the approval of the stockholders of the Company:

• Reduce the purchase price or base price of any previously granted option or SAR;



• Cancel any previously granted option or SAR in exchange for another option or SAR with a lower purchase price or base price; or

• Cancel any previously granted option or SAR in exchange for cash or another award if the purchase price of such option or the base price of
such SAR exceeds the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of such cancellation.

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

• Restricted stock awards are shares of common stock that are issued to a participant subject to transfer and other restrictions as the Compensation
Committee may determine, such as the continued employment of the participant. RSU awards entitle the participant to receive a payment in cash or
shares of common stock equal to the fair market value of one share of common stock, subject to certain restrictions as the committee may determine
(such as continued employment or meeting certain performance goals).

• Restricted stock and restricted stock units may not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of and may not be pledged or otherwise hypothecated
unless and until the applicable restrictions determined by the Compensation Committee and as set forth in the applicable award agreement have
lapsed.

Other Stock-Based Awards

• Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Compensation Committee may grant to participants other types of awards, which may be denominated or
payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, shares, either alone or in addition to or in conjunction with other
awards, and payable in shares or in cash.

• The Compensation Committee will determine all terms and conditions of the awards; provided that any award that provides for purchase rights will
be priced at no less than 100% of the fair market value of the underlying shares on the grant date of the award.

Annual Incentive Awards

• Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Compensation Committee will determine all terms and conditions of an annual incentive award, including but
not limited to the performance goals, performance period, the potential amount payable, the type of payment, and the timing of payment.

• However, the Compensation Committee must require that payment of all or any portion of the amount subject to the annual incentive award is
contingent on the achievement or partial achievement of one or more performance goals during the period the Compensation Committee specifies,
subject to qualifications as set forth in the Plan.

• The Compensation Committee may determine the payment method of these awards, including allowing for an election between payment methods
by the participant.

Long-Term Incentive Awards

• Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Compensation Committee will determine all terms and conditions of a long-term incentive award, including but
not limited to the performance goals, performance period, the potential amount payable, the type of payment, and the timing of payment.

• However, payment of any amount subject to long-term incentive award is contingent on the achievement or partial achievement of one or more
performance goals during the applicable period.

• The performance period must relate to a period of more than one fiscal year of the Company, with an exception for new employees.

• The Compensation Committee may determine the payment method of these awards, including allowing for an election between payment methods
by the participant.

Performance Goals

The performance goals available to the Compensation Committee under the Plan for performance-based awards under Section 162(m) of the Code consist of
one or more of the following with respect to the Company or any one or more affiliates or other business units: net income; operating income; income from
continuing operations; net sales; cost of sales; revenue; gross income; earnings (including before taxes and/or interest and/or depreciation and amortization);
net earnings per share (including diluted earnings per share); price per share; cash flow; net cash provided by operating activities; net cash provided by
operating activities less net cash used in investing activities; operating cash flow; free cash flow; net operating profit; pre-tax profit; ratio of debt to debt plus
equity; return on stockholder equity; return on invested capital; total stockholder return; relative total stockholder return; return on invested capital; return
on capital; return on assets; return on equity; return on investment; return on revenues; operating working capital; working capital as a percentage of net
sales; cost of capital; average



accounts receivable; economic value added; performance value added; customer satisfaction; customer loyalty and/or retention; employee safety; employee
engagement; market share; system reliability; cost structure reduction; regulatory outcomes; diversity; cost savings; operating margin; profit margin; sales
performance; and internal revenue growth. Any performance goals that are financial metrics may be determined in accordance with United States Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”) or may be adjusted when established (or to the extent permitted under Section 162(m) of the Code, at any
time thereafter) to include or exclude any items otherwise includable or excludable under U.S. GAAP.

Where applicable, the performance goals may be expressed, without limitation, in terms of attaining a specified level of the particular criterion or the
attainment of an increase or decrease (expressed as absolute numbers or as a percentage) in the particular criterion or achievement in relation to a peer group
or other index. The performance goals may include a threshold level of performance below which no payment will be made (or no vesting will occur), levels
of performance at which specified payments will be paid (or specified vesting will occur), and a maximum level of performance above which no additional
payment will be made (or at which full vesting will occur).

As to each performance goal, the Compensation Committee, in its discretion, may exclude or include the effects of the following: (i) charges for reorganizing
and restructuring; (ii) discontinued operations; (iii) asset write-downs; (iv) gains or losses on the disposition of a business or asset; (v) changes in tax or
accounting principles, regulations or laws; (vi) currency fluctuations; (vii) mergers, acquisitions or dispositions; (viii) unusual, infrequently occurring and/or
non-recurring items of gain or loss that the Company identifies in its audited financial statements, including notes to the financial statements, or
Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of the Company’s annual report; and (ix) any other excluded item that the committee designates either at the
time an award is made or thereafter to the extent permitted by Code Section 162(m).

Nontransferability of Awards

No award under the Plan may be transferable or assignable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, except that an award agreement may
provide that a participant may transfer an award to family members, a trust or entity established for estate planning purposes or a charitable organization.

Recoupment of Awards

All awards granted under the Plan, and any share of stock issued or cash paid pursuant to such awards, are subject to any recoupment, clawback, equity
holding, stock ownership, or similar policies adopted by the Company from time to time and any recoupment, clawback, equity holding, stock ownership, or
similar requirements made applicable by law, regulation or listing standards to the Company from time to time.

New Plan Benefits

All awards to directors, executive officers and other key employees are made at the discretion of the Compensation Committee as authorized by the Board
and the benefits and amounts that will be received or allocated under the amended Plan are not determinable at this time.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a brief summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences generally arising with respect to awards under the Plan. This
discussion does not address all aspects of the United States federal income tax consequences of participating in the Plan that may be relevant to participants
in light of their personal investment or tax circumstances and does not discuss any state, local or non-United States tax consequences of participating in the
Plan. Each participant is advised to consult his or her personal tax advisor concerning the application of the United States federal income tax laws to such
participant’s particular situation, as well as the applicability and effect of any state, local or non-United States tax laws before taking any actions with respect
to any awards.

Section 162(m) of the Code

Section 162(m) of the Code generally limits to $1 million the amount that a publicly held corporation is allowed each year to deduct for the compensation
paid to each of the corporation’s chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and the three most highly compensated executive officers other than the chief
executive officer and the chief financial officer. However, “qualified performance-based compensation” is not subject to the $1 million deduction limit. To
qualify as qualified performance-based compensation, the following requirements must be satisfied: (i) the performance goals are determined by a committee
consisting solely of two or more “outside directors”; (ii) the material terms under which the compensation is to be paid, including the performance goals, are
approved by the corporation’s stockholders; and (iii) the Compensation Committee certifies that the applicable performance goals are satisfied before
payment of any qualified performance-based compensation is made.



Sections 409A and 280G of the Code

Awards under the Plan may constitute, or provide for, a deferral of compensation under Section 409A of the Code. If the requirements of Section 409A are not
complied with, holders of such awards may be taxed earlier than would otherwise be the case (e.g., at the time of vesting instead of at the time of payment)
and may be subject to an additional 20% income tax and, potentially, interest and penalties. We have sought to structure the Plan, and we expect to seek to
structure awards under the Plan, to comply with Section 409A and the Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued pursuant to
Section 409A. To the extent that we determine that any award granted under the Plan is subject to Section 409A, the award agreement evidencing such award
will generally incorporate the terms and conditions required by Section 409A. The Plan and any applicable awards may be modified to exempt the awards
from Section 409A or comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

Awards that are granted, accelerated or enhanced upon the occurrence of a change of control may give rise, in whole or in part, to excess parachute payments
within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code to the extent that such payments, when aggregated with other payments subject to Section 280G, exceed the
limitations contained in that provision. Such excess parachute payments are not deductible by us and are subject to an excise tax of 20% payable by the
participant under Code Section 4999.

Stock Options

A participant will not recognize taxable income at the time an option is granted, and the Company will not be entitled to a tax deduction at that time. A
participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee) upon his or her
exercise of a non-qualified stock option equal to the excess of the fair market value of the share purchased over its purchase price, and the Company
generally will be entitled to a corresponding deduction.

SARs

A participant will not recognize taxable income at the time SARs are granted, and the Company will not be entitled to a tax deduction at that time. Upon
exercise, the participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee) in an
amount equal to the fair market value of any shares delivered and the amount of cash paid by the Company. This amount generally is deductible by the
Company as compensation expense.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

A participant will not recognize taxable income at the time restricted stock that is subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture is granted, and the Company will
not be entitled to a tax deduction at that time unless the participant makes an election to be taxed at that time. If such election is made, the participant will
recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee) at the time of the grant in an amount
equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares at such time over the amount, if any, paid for those shares. If such election is not made, the
participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee) at the time the
restrictions constituting a substantial risk of forfeiture lapse in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares at such time over the
amount, if any, paid for those shares. The amount of ordinary income recognized by making the above-described election or upon the lapse of such
restrictions generally is deductible by the Company as compensation expense, except to the extent the deduction limits of Section 162(m) of the Code apply.

A participant will not recognize taxable income at the time a restricted stock unit is granted, and the Company will not be entitled to a tax deduction at that
time. Upon settlement of restricted stock units, the participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax
withholding in respect of an employee) in an amount equal to the fair market value of any shares delivered and the amount of any cash paid by the Company.
The amount of ordinary income recognized generally is deductible by the Company as compensation expense, except to the extent the deduction limits of
Section 162(m) of the Code apply.

Unrestricted Stock

A participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee) at the time
unrestricted stock is granted. The Company generally is entitled to a corresponding deduction at the time ordinary income is recognized by the participant,
except to the extent the deduction limits of Section 162(m) of the Code apply.

Annual Incentive Awards and Long-Term Incentive Awards

A participant will not recognize taxable income at the time annual incentive awards and long-term incentive awards are granted, and the Company will not
be entitled to a tax deduction at that time. Upon settlement of such awards, the participant will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income (and
subject to income tax withholding in respect of an employee)



in an amount equal to the fair market value of any shares delivered and the amount of cash paid by the Company. This amount generally is deductible by the
Company as compensation expense, except to the extent the deduction limits of Section 162(m) of the Code apply.

Dividend Equivalent Rights

A participant who is paid a dividend equivalent with respect to an award will recognize ordinary income equal to the value of cash or common stock paid,
and the Company will be entitled to a corresponding deduction in the same amount and at the same time.



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (1)  

Subsidiary Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Cooper-Standard Automotive (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Australia
CSA (Barbados) Investment Co. Ltd. Barbados
Cooper Nishikawa Brasil Ltda. Brazil
Cooper-Standard Automotive Brasil Sealing Ltda. Brazil
Itatiaia Standard Industrial Ltda. Brazil
Cooper-Standard Automotive Canada Limited Canada
Cooper (Wuhu) Automotive Co., Ltd. China
Cooper Standard Chongqing Automotive Co., Ltd. China
Cooper Standard INOAC Automotive (Huai'an) Co Ltd China
Cooper Standard Sealing (Guangzou) Co. Ltd. (51%) China
Cooper Standard Sealing (Huai'an) Co. Ltd. (70%) China
Cooper Standard Sealing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (95%) China
Cooper-Standard Automotive (Changchun) Co., Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Automotive (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Automotive (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Fluid Systems (Kunshan) Co. Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Investment Co., Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Sealing (Shenyang) Co. Ltd. China
Shanghai Jyco Sealing Products Co., Ltd. China
Shanghai Shumi Automotive Parts Co., Ltd. China
Cooper-Standard Automotive Ceska Republika s.r.o. Czech Republic
Cooper-Standard Automotive FHS Ceska republika s.r.o. Czech Republic
Cooper-Standard Automotive France S.A.S. France
Cooper-Standard France SAS France
Cooper Standard GmbH Germany
Cooper Standard Service GmbH Germany
Cooper Standard Technical Rubber GmbH Germany
Cooper-Standard Automotive (Deutschland) GmbH Germany
CSA Germany GmbH & Co. KG Germany
CSA Germany Verwaltungs GmbH Germany
CSA Holding (Deutschland) GmbH Germany
Metzeler Kautschuk Unterstuetzungskasse GmbH Germany
Cooper-Standard Automotive India Private Limited India
Cooper-Standard India Private Limited India
Polyrub Cooper Standard FTS Private Ltd. (35%) India
Sujan Cooper Standard AVS Private Limited (50%) India
Cooper-Standard Automotive Italy S.p.A. Italy
Cooper-Standard Automotive Italy Service SRL Italy
Cooper-Standard Automotive Japan K.K. Japan
Cooper Standard Automotive Korea Inc. Korea
Cooper Standard Korea Inc. Korea
Coopermex, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard Automotive de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard Automotive FHS, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard Automotive Fluid Systems de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico



Subsidiary Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Cooper-Standard Automotive Sealing de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard Automotive Services, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard de México S de RL de CV Mexico
CS Mexico Holdings, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Manufacturera El Jarudo, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Cooper-Standard Automotive International Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Cooper-Standard Latin America B.V. Netherlands
CSA International Holdings C.V. Netherlands
CSA International Holdings Coöperatief U.A. Netherlands
Cooper Standard Polska Sp. z o.o. Poland
Cooper-Standard Automotive Piotrkow SP Zoo Poland
CSF Poland Sp. z o.o. Poland
S.C. Cooper-Standard Romania SRL Romania
Cooper Standard Srbija DOO Sremska Mitrovica Serbia
Cooper-Standard Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Cooper-Standard INOAC Pte. Ltd. (51%) Singapore
Cooper-Standard Automotive España, S.L. Spain
Cooper Standard Sweden(2) Sweden
Nishikawa Tachaplalert Cooper Ltd. (20%) Thailand
Cooper-Standard Automotive (UK) Pension Trust Limited United Kingdom
Cooper-Standard Automotive UK Limited United Kingdom
Cooper-Standard Automotive Fluid Systems Mexico Holding LLC United States (Delaware)
Cooper-Standard Canada Holdings LLC United States (Delaware)
Cooper-Standard FHS LLC United States (Delaware)
CS Intermediate HoldCo 1 LLC United States (Delaware)
NISCO Holding Company United States (Delaware)
Nishikawa Cooper LLC (40%) United States (Delaware)
Cooper-Standard Foundation Inc.(3) United States (Michigan)
Cooper-Standard Automotive NC L.L.C. United States (North Carolina)
Cooper-Standard Automotive Inc. United States (Ohio)
Cooper-Standard Automotive OH, LLC United States (Ohio)
CSA Services Inc. United States (Ohio)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
(1) Subsidiaries as of January 31, 2018; wholly-owned except as otherwise indicated  
(2) This is a branch office of Cooper-Standard Automotive International Holdings B.V.  
(3) This is a Michigan non-profit corporation  



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 File No. 333.175637) of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 File No. 333-188516) pertaining to the Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan,

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-3 File No. 333-189981) of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc., and

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 File No. 333-218127) pertaining to the Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan;

of our reports dated February 20, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Cooper-Standard
Holdings Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2017.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 20, 2018



Exhibit 31.1
COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Jeffrey S. Edwards, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably like to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

   

Dated: February 20, 2018  
/s/ Jeffrey S. Edwards

  Jeffrey S. Edwards
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
COOPER-STANDARD HOLDINGS INC.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Jonathan P. Banas, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

   

Dated: February 20, 2018  
/s/ Jonathan P. Banas

  

Jonathan P. Banas

  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT

TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K of Cooper-Standard Holdings Inc. (the "Company") for the
period ended December 31, 2017, with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the
undersigned officers certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that, to such officer's knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations

of the Company.

   

Dated: February 20, 2018  
/s/ Jeffrey S. Edwards

  Jeffrey S. Edwards
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
   
   
   

  
/s/ Jonathan P. Banas

  
Jonathan P. Banas

  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)
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